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NOTICE OF MOTION
(Motion for approval and vesting order with respect to 346 Jarvis St., Unit B)

Schonfeld Inc., in its capacity as manager (the “Manager”) of (i) certain companies
listed in Schedule “B” to the Order of Justice Newbould dated November 5, 2013 (the “Schedule
B Companies”), together with the real estate properties owned by the Companies (the Schedule
B Properties”), as amended by Order of Justice Newbould dated January 16, 2014, and (ii) the
properties listed at Schedule “C” to the Order of Justice Brown dated August 12, 2014 (the
“Schedule C Properties”, together with the Schedule B Properties, the “Properties™) will make
a motion to a judge presiding on the Commercial List on April 28, 2015 at 9:30 a.m. at 330

University Avenue, Toronto.

PROPOSED METHOD OF HEARING: The motion is to be heard orally.



THE MOTION IS FOR:
1. an Order:

(@) approving the sale transaction (the *“Transaction) contemplated by the
Agreement of Purchase and Sale between the Manager and Lee Weiss and
Andrew Maurizio Fata (collectively, the “Purchasers”) dated March 30, 2015
and accepted March 31, 2015, as extended by email dated April 8, 2015, and as
amended by waiver dated April 13, 2015 (collectively, the “Jarvis Unit B
Agreement”), in respect of the Property known municipally as 346 Jarvis Street,

Unit B, Toronto, Ontario (the “Jarvis Unit B Property”).

(b) permitting the confidential appendices (the “Confidential Appendices™) to the
Thirtieth Report of the Manager (the “Thirtieth Report”) to be filed under seal
without being served on the Service List.

THE GROUNDS FOR THE MOTION ARE:
l. Background

1. The Schedule B Companies are a group of real estate development corporations
incorporated as part of a series of joint ventures between Dr. Stanley Bernstein and companies
that he controls (the “Bernstein Group”) and Norma and Ronauld Walton and entities that they
control (the “Walton Group”). Most of the Schedule B Companies were incorporated to
purchase and develop a particular Schedule B Property.

2. In the summer and fall of 2013, the relationship between the Walton Group and the
Bernstein Group broke down amid allegations that the Walton Group had, among other things,
placed mortgages on jointly-held properties without the Bernstein Group’s consent and failed to
provide reporting required by the agreements that govern the joint venture.

3. Pursuant to the Order of Justice Newbould dated November 5, 2013 (the “November 5
Order”), the Manager was appointed to provide independent management of the Schedule B

Companies and the Schedule B Properties for the benefit of all stakeholders.
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4. The Manager’s mandate was further expanded to include certain other real estate
properties owned by the Walton Group, being the Schedule C Properties, pursuant to the Reasons
of Justice Brown dated August 12, 2014, and the Judgment and Order of Justice Brown dated
August 12, 2014.

I1. The Transaction
A. The Interested Parties

5. The Jarvis Unit B Property is one of the Schedule “C” Properties owned by the Waltons.

6. A mortgage in the amount of $592,000 (the “Mortgage”) in favour of The Bank of Nova
Scotia (the “Mortgagee”) is registered on title to the Jarvis Unit B Property. A Notice of
Assignment of Rents General is also registered on title to the Jarvis Unit B Property in favour of
the Mortgagee (as of November 14, 2011).

7. 781526 Ontario Inc. (“781”) has commenced proceedings against the Waltons seeking a
declaration that 781 owns a 50% beneficial interest title in the Jarvis Unit B Property, among
other relief. 781 obtained a registered Certificate of Pending Litigation in the Jarvis Unit B
Property.

8. The Manager has asked its counsel, Goodmans LLP (“Goodmans”), to conduct a security
review of the Mortgage and has been advised that the Mortgage is properly registered. However,
the Manager recently learned of potential Planning Act issues that may affect the validity of the
mortgage registered on 346 Jarvis, as well as the validity of mortgages registered against other
properties at 346 Jarvis. The Manager has instructed Goodmans to conduct a further review of

the Planning Act issues and their effect on, among other things, the validity of the Mortgage.

0. In the circumstances, it is unlikely that issues relating to the validity of the Mortgage will
be definitively resolved before the scheduled closing date of April 30, 2015. Accordingly, the
Manager respectfully recommends that the Transaction be approved and completed and that the
Manager hold the proceeds in trust pending further Order of the Court following resolution of

any issues relating to the validity of the Mortgage.



B. The Marketing Process

11. The Manager retained Chestnut Park Real Estate Limited (“Chestnut Park”) to market
the Jarvis Unit B Property, along with other Units at 346 Jarvis Street.

12.  The marketing process for the Jarvis Unit B Property initially commenced in July 2014,

when qualified purchasers were introduced through showings of other units listed on MLS.

13. Jarvis Unit B Property was first listed by Chestnut Park on MLS on March 10, 2015.
MLS Listings were advertised on www.Realtor.ca.  Listings were also advertised on
www.ChestnutPark.com. In addition to these advertisements, Chestnut Park sent mass emails to
its client database and featured the property on the website at www.346JarvisStreet.info. Sixteen

showings were booked to view the Jarvis Unit B Property.

14.  On March 30, 2015, as a result of the marketing program, the Jarvis Unit B Property
received an offer. On March 31, 2015, based on the sold data on the other units, the buyer
accepted the offer and was offered 10 days due diligence. The due diligence date was thereafter
extended until April 13, 2015. The due diligence condition was waived by the buyer's lawyer on
April 13, 2015. After negotiations between the parties, the Manager and the Purchaser firmed up
their agreement on April 13, 2015.

C. Timing of the Transaction

15. The Transaction is scheduled to close on April 30, 2015.

D. Stakeholder Approval

16.  The receiver of the Waltons in their personal capacity, Ira Smith Inc., the Applicants,
781, and the Mortgagee have all been advised of the Transaction. The Manager is not aware of
any opposition to the Transaction.

E. Proposed Distribution of Sale Proceeds

17. The Manager recommends that sale proceeds, net of closing costs and payment of the
Mortgage, be held in trust by the Manager or its counsel pending further Order of the Court on

notice to all affected stakeholders.
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18.  As set out above, the Transaction is the result of a transparent and competitive marketing
process. Accordingly, the Manager respectfully submits that it be granted the relief sought

herein.

I11.  Confidential Appendices

19. Disclosure of the information contained in the Confidential Appendices to the Thirtieth
Report included in confidential appendix briefs would negatively impact the Manager’s ability to
carry out its mandate by, among other things, interfering with the integrity of any subsequent
sales process in respect of the Jarvis Property Unit B if the Transaction is not completed. In
particular, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it would impair the Manager’s
ability to maximize realization of the Jarvis Unit B Property were any information to be made
public concerning any discussions of sale process or value of the Jarvis Unit B Property among
the Manager, the parties or any of their advisers and/or any possible bidders for the Weston

Property or any of the Properties.

20. Further, with respect to the Jarvis Unit B Property, any disclosure of the information
contained in the Confidential Appendix to the Thirtieth Report would interfere with the integrity
of any subsequent sales process in respect of the Jarvis Unit B Property, and may impair the
Mortgagee’s ability to maximize realization of the Jarvis Unit B Property were any information
to be made public concerning any past discussions of sales process or value of the Jarvis Unit B

Property.

V. Miscellaneous

21. Rules 2.03, 3.02, 16 and 37 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194.
22. Such further and other grounds as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court permit.

THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE WILL BE USED AT THE
HEARING OF THE MOTION:

23.  The Thirtieth Report of the Manager dated April 23, 2015; and

24.  Such further and other material as counsel may advise and this Honourable Court may

permit.



Date: April 27, 2015

GOODMANS LLP
333 Bay Street, Suite 3400
Toronto, Canada M5H 257

Brian Empey LSUC#: 30640G
Mark Dunn LSUC#: 55510L

Tel: (416) 979-2211
Fax: (416) 979-1234

Lawyers for the Manager
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SCHEDULE “A” COMPANIES

Dr. Bernstein Diet Clinics Ltd.
2272551 Ontario Limited

DBDC Investments Atlantic Ltd.
DBDC Investments Pape Ltd.
DBDC Investments Highway 7 Ltd.
DBDC Investments Trent Ltd.
DBDC Investments St. Clair Ltd.
DBDC Investments Tisdale Ltd.
DBDC Investments Leslie Ltd.
DBDC Investments Lesliebrook Ltd.
DBDC Fraser Properties Ltd.

DBDC Fraser Lands Ltd.

DBDC Queen’s Corner Ltd.

DBDC Queen’s Plate Holdings Inc.
DBDC Dupont Developments Ltd.
DBDC Red Door Developments Inc.
DBDC Red Door Lands Inc.

DBDC Global Mills Ltd.

DBDC Donalda Developments Ltd.
DBDC Salmon River Properties Ltd.
DBDC Cityview Lands Ltd.

DBDC Weston Lands Ltd.

DBDC Double Rose Developments Ltd.

DBDC Skyway Holdings Ltd.

DBDC West Mall Holdings Ltd.
DBDC Royal Gate Holdings Ltd.
DBDC Dewhurst Developments Ltd.
DBDC Eddystone Place Ltd.

DBDC Richmond Row Holdings Ltd.
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SCHEDULE “B” COMPANIES

Twin Dragons Corporation
Bannockburn Lands Inc. / Skyline — 1185 Eglinton Avenue Inc.
Wynford Professional Centre Ltd.
Liberty Village Properties Ltd.
Liberty Village Lands Inc.
Riverdale Mansion Ltd.

Royal Agincourt Corp.

Hidden Gem Development Inc.
Ascalon Lands Ltd.

Tisdale Mews Inc.

Lesliebrook Holdings Ltd.
Lesliebrook Lands Ltd.

Fraser Properties Corp.

Fraser Lands Ltd.

Queen’s Corner Corp.

Northern Dancer Lands Ltd.
Dupont Developments Ltd.

Red Door Developments Inc. and Red Door Lands Ltd.
Global Mills Inc.

Donalda Developments Ltd.
Salmon River Properties Ltd.
Cityview Industrial Ltd.

Weston Lands Ltd.

Double Rose Developments Ltd.
Skyway Holdings Ltd.

West Mall Holdings Ltd.

Royal Gate Holdings Ltd.

Royal Gate Nominee Inc.

Royal Gate (Land) Nominee Inc.
Dewhurst Development Ltd.
Eddystone Place Inc.



32. Richmond Row Holdings Ltd.
33. El-Ad (1500 Don Mills) Limited
34. 165 Bathurst Inc.
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L INTRODUCTION

1. This is the Thirticth Report of Schonfeld Inc. (the “Manager”) in its capacity as Manager
of (i) certain companies listed at Schedule “B” to the Order of Justice Newbould dated
November 5, 2013 (the “Schedule B Companies”),' together with the real estate properties
owned by those companies (the “Schedule B Properties”); and (ii) the properties listed at
Schedule “C” to the Judgment and Order of Justice Brown dated August 12, 2014 (the

“Schedule C Properties” and together with the Schedule B Properties, the “Properties”™).

A, Purpose of this Report

2. This Manager has brought a motion for, among other things:

(a) an approval and vesting order in respect of the sale transaction (the
“Transaction”) contemplated by the Agreement of Purchase and Sale between
the Manager and Lee Weiss and Andrew Maurizio Fata (collectively, the
“Purchasers’) dated March 30, 2015 and accepted March 31, 2015, as extended
by email dated April 8, 2015, and as amended by waiver dated April 13,
2015 (collectively, the “Jarvis Unit B Agreement”), in respect of the Property
known municipally as 346 Jarvis Street, Unit B, Toronto, Ontario (the “Jarvis

Unit B Property”). A copy of the Jarvis Agreement is attached as Confidential

Appendix “A”; and

(b) an Order permitting the confidential appendices to this Report (the “Confidential

Appendices”) to be filed under seal without being served on the Service List.

' Schedule “B” was amended by Order dated January 16, 2014.
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3. This Report provides a summary of the Transaction and a recommendation that this

Honourable Court grant the relief described in the Manager’s Notice of Motion.

B. Terms of reference

4, Based on its review and interaction with the parties to date, nothing has come to the
Manager’s attention that would cause it to question the reasonableness of the information
presented herein. However, the Manager has not audited, or otherwise attempted to
independently verify, the accuracy or completeness of any financial information of the Schedule
B Companies or of the companies that own the Schedule C Properties (collectively, the
“Companies”). The Manager therefore expresses no opinion or other form of assurance in

respect of any of the Companies’ financial information that may be in this Report.

C. Confidentiality

5. In the Manager’s judgment, disclosure of some of the documents appended to this Report
would negatively impact the Manager’s ability to carry out its mandate by, among other things,
interfering with the integrity of any subsequent sales process in respect of the Jarvis Unit B
Property if the Transaction is not completed. In particular, and without limiting the generality of
the foregoing, it is the Manager’s judgment that it would impair the Manager’s ability to
maximize realization of the Jarvis Unit B Property were any information to be made public
concerning any discussions of sale process or value of the Jarvis Unit B Property among the
Manager, the parties or any of the Properties. Accordingly, a number of appendices to this
Report have been identified as Confidential Appendices and will be filed in a separate
confidential appendix brief (the “Confidential Appendix Brief”). The Manager respectfully
requests an Order authorizing it to file the Confidential Appendices under seal without serving

the Confidential Appendix Brief on the Service List.



D. Background

6. The Schedule B Companies are a group of real estate development corporations
incorporated as part of a series of joint ventures between Dr. Stanley Bernstein and companies
that he controls (the “Bernstein Group”) and Norma and Ronauld Walton and entities that they
control (the “Walton Group”). Most of the Schedule B Companies were incorporated to

purchase and develop a particular Schedule B Property.

7. In the summer and fall of 2013, the relationship between the Walton Group and the
Bernstein Group broke down amid allegations that the Walton Group had, among other things,
placed mortgages on jointly-held properties without the Bernstein Group’s consent and failed to
provide reporting required by the agreements that govern the joint venture. The dispute between
the Walton Group and Bernstein Group is described in more detail in the Endorsement of Justice

Newbould dated November 5, 2013, which is attached as Appendix “A”.

8. Pursuant to the Order of Justice Newbould dated November 5, 2013 (the “November 5
‘Order”), which is attached as Appendix “B”, the Manager was appointed to provide

independent management of the Schedule B Companies and the Schedule B Properties for the

benefit of all stakeholders.

9. The Manager’s mandate was further expanded to include certain other real estate
properties owned by the Walton Group, being the Schedule C Properties, pursuant to the Reasons
of Justice Brown dated August 12, 2014, which are attached as Appendix “C”, and the

Judgment and Order of Justice Brown dated August 12, 2014, which is attached as Appendix

“D”
.



IL. THE TRANSACTION

A. Interested Parties

10. The Jarvis Unit B Property is one of the Schedule “C” Properties owned by the Waltons.

11. A mortgage in the amount of $592,000 (the “Mortgage™) in favour of The Bank of Nova

Scotia (the “Mortgagee™) is registered on title to the Jarvis Unit B Property.

12. A Notice of Assignment of Rents General is also registered on title to the Jarvis Unit B

Property in favour of the Mortgagee (as of November 14, 2011).

13. 781526 Ontario Inc. (“781”) has commenced proceedings against the Waltons secking a
declaration that 781 owns a 50% beneficial interest in title in the Jarvis Unit B Property, among
other relief. 781 obtained a registered Certificate of Pending Litigation in respect of the Jarvis
Unit B Property. A copy of the Certificate dated February 6, 2015 (and signed by the Registrar

on February 7, 2015) and the Statement of Claim dated January 28, 2014 are attached at

Appendix “E” and Appendix “F”, respectively.

14.  The Manager has asked its counsel, Goodmans LLP (“Goodmans”), to conduct a security
review of the Mortgage and has been advised that the Mortgage is properly registered. However,
the Manager recently learned of potential Planning Act issues that may affect the validity of the
mortgage registered on 346 Jarvis, as well as the validity of mortgages registered against other
properties at 346 Jarvis. The Manager has instructed Goodmans to conduct a further review of

the Planning Act issues and their effect on, among other things, the validity of the Mortgage.

15.  In the circumstances, it is unlikely that issues relating to the validity of the Mortgage will

be definitively resolved before the scheduled closing date of April 30, 2015. Accordingly, the
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Manager respectfully submits that the Transaction be approved and completed and that the

Manager hold the proceeds in trust pending further Order of the Court following resolution of

any issues relating to the validity of the Mortgage.

B. The Marketing Process

16. The Manager retained Chestnut Park Real Estate Limited (“Chestnut Park”) to market

the Jarvis Unit B Property, along with other Units at 346 Jarvis Street.

17. The marketing process for the Jarvis Unit B Property initially commenced in July 2014,

when qualified purchasers were introduced through showings of other units listed on MLS.

18.  Jarvis Unit B Property was first listed by Chestnut Park on MLS on March 10, 2015.
MLS Listings were advertised on www.Realtor.ca.  Listings were also advertised on
www,ChestnutPark.com. In addition to these advertisements, Chestnut Park sent mass emails to
its client database and featured the property on the website at www.346JarvisStreet.info. Sixteen

showings were booked to view the Jarvis Unit B Property.

19. On March 30, 2015, as a result of the marketing program, the Jarvis Unit B Property
received an offer. On March 31, 2015, based on the sold data on the other units, the buyer
accepted the offer and was offered 10 days due diligence. The due diligence date was thereafter
extended until April 13, 2015. The due diligence condition was waived by the buyer's lawyer on

April 13, 2015, After negotiations between the parties, the Manager and the Purchaser firmed up

their agreement on April 13, 2015.

20. A more detailed description of the marketing process is set out in the Chestnut Park’s
marking report (the “Chestnut Park Report”), which is attached as Confidential Appendix

“B”, Chestnut Park recommends proceeding with the Transaction,



C. Timing of the Transaction

21. The Transaction is scheduled to close on April 30, 2015.

D.  Stakeholder Approval

22. The receiver of the Waltons in their personal capacity, Ira Smith Inc., the Applicants and
781 have all been advised of the Transaction. The Manager is not aware of any opposition to the

Transaction. As noted above, there may be issues with the planning act as it relates to the

validity of the Mortgage.

E. Proposed Distribution of Sale Proceeds

23.  Numerous stakeholders, including 781, the creditors of the Vendor, the Applicants and
the Respondents, may assert an entitlement to the proceeds from the sale of the Jarvis Unit B
Property. The Manager recommends that sale proceeds, net of closing costs, be held in trust by

the Manager or its counsel pending further Order of the Court on notice to all affected

stakeholders.

III. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

24, As set out above, the Transaction is the result of a transparent and competitive marketing
process. Accordingly, for the reasons set out in the above report, the Manager respectfully

recommends that this Honourable Court grant the relief sought in the Manager’s Notice of

Motion.
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All of which is respectfully submitted this 23 day of April, 2015.

SCHONFELD INC.

Per:
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SCHEDULE “A” COMPANIES

Dr. Bernstein Diet Clinics Ltd,
2272551 Ontario Limited

DBDC Investments Atlantic Ltd.
DBDC Investments Pape Ltd.
DBDC Investments Highway 7 Ltd.
DBDC Investments Trent Ltd.
DBDC Investments St. Clair Ltd.
DBDC Investments Tisdale Ltd.
DBDC Investments Leslie Ltd.
DBDC Investments Lesliebrook Ltd.
DBDC Fraser Properties Ltd.

DBDC Fraser Lands Ltd.

DBDC Queen’s Corner Ltd.

DBDC Queen’s Plate Holdings Inc.
DBDC Dupont Developments Ltd.
DBDC Red Door Developments Inc.
DBDC Red Door Lands Inc.

DBDC Global Mills Ltd.

DBDC Donalda Developments Ltd.
DBDC Salmon River Properties Ltd.
DBDC Cityview Lands Ltd.

DBDC Weston Lands Ltd.

DBDC Double Rose Developments Ltd.
DBDC Skyway Holdings Ltd.
DBDC West Mall Holdings Ltd.
DBDC Royal Gate Holdings Ltd.
DBDC Dewhurst Developments Ltd.
DBDC Eddystone Place Ltd.

DBDC Richmond Row Holdings Ltd.
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11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22,
23.
24,
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31.

SCHEDULE “B” COMPANIES

Twin Dragons Corporation
Bannockburn Lands Inc. / Skyline — 1185 Eglinton Avenue Inc.
Wynford Professional Centre Ltd.
Liberty Village Properties Ltd.
Liberty Village Lands Inc.
Riverdale Mansion Ltd.

Royal Agincourt Corp.

Hidden Gem Development Inc.
Ascalon Lands Ltd.

Tisdale Mews Inc.

Lesliebrook Holdings Ltd.
Lesliebrook Lands Ltd.

Fraser Properties Corp.

Fraser Lands Ltd.

Queen’s Corner Corp.

Northern Dancer Lands Ltd.
Dupont Developments Ltd.

Red Door Developments Inc. and Red Door Lands Ltd.
Global Mills Inc.

Donalda Developments Ltd.
Salmon River Properties Ltd.
Cityview Industrial Ltd.

Weston Lands Ltd.

Double Rose Developments Ltd.
Skyway Holdings Ltd.

West Mall Holdings Ltd.

Royal Gate Holdings Ltd.

Royal Gate Nominee Inc.

Royal Gate (IL.and) Nominee Inc.
Dewhurst Development Ltd.
Eddystone Place Inc.



32.
33.
34.

6442361

Richmond Row Holdings Ltd.
El-Ad (1500 Don Mills) Limited
165 Bathurst Inc,
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CITATION: DBCD Spadina Ltd et al v, Notma Walton et al, 2013 ONSC 6833
COURT FILE NO,: CV~13-10280-00C,
DATE; 20131105

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE — ONTARIO
COMMERCIAL LIST

BETWEREN;

DBDC SPADINA LTD, and THOSE CORPORATIONS
LISTED ON SCHEDULE A HERETO,

Applicants
AND;

NORMA WALTON, RONAULD WALTON, THE ROSE & THISTLE GROUP
LTD. and BGLINTON CASTLE INC,

Respondents

AND

THOSE CORPORATIONS LISTED ON SCHEDULE B HERETO, TO BE
BOUND BY THE RESULT

BEFFORE:  Newbould J,
COUNSEL!  Peter H. Griffin and Shara N, Roy, for the Applicants
John A. Camplon, Emmeline Morse and Guillermo Schible, for the Respondents

Fred Myers and Mark S, Dunn, for the Tnspector

HEARD: November 1, 2013

ENDORSHMENT

[1] On October 4, 2013, Schonfeld Iho, was appointed as inspector of all of the companles In
schiedule B, Oun October 24, 2013 a motion by the applicants to have Schonfold Ine, appointed as
a manager of those corporations and related corporation was adjourned to November 1, 2013 and
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Interim relief was granted, including glving the applicants access to and joint control over all

bank, accounts,

[2]  The applicants now move for the appointment of the Ingpector as recelver/manager over
the sohecule B corporations and cettaln other properties that are mortgaged to Dy, Beinstein
under mortgages which have explred, It is tesisted by the respondents who maintain that the
appointment would be an inferim appointment pending a trial of the issues that should be ordered
and that the applicants have sufficient protection from the order of Qotober 24, 2013 that the

sespondents will not attack,

[3]  Tor the reasons that follow, Schonfeld Inc. Is appointed as recetverimanager of the 31

schedule B corporations,

Baclfground

[4] D Bernstein is the founder of very successtul diet and health olinlos, Norina Walton is a
lawyer and co-Toundet with her husband Ronguld Walton of Rose & Thistle, She Is a princlpal of
Walton Advocates, an {inhiouse law firn providing legal services to the Rose & Thistle group of
companies, Ronauld Walton is also a lawyer and co-founder of Rose & Thistle and a principal of

Walton Advocates

[5]  Beginning in 2008, Dr, Betnstein acted as the lendet/mortgagee of several commerolal
real estate properties owned by the Waltons elther throngh Rose & Thistle or through other

oorpotations of which they are the beneficial owners,

[6]  Following several finanoings, Dr, Bernstein and the Waltons agreed to lnvest jointly in 31
various commerclal teal estate projects, Each ls a 50% shareholder of each corporatlon set up to

hold each propetty,

[7]  The known facts and concetns of the applicants glving tise to the appoiniment of the
Ingpeotor are set out In my endorsement of October 7, 2013 and were contalned In affidavits of
James Reltan, divector of accounting and finance at Dr, Bernstein Diet and Health Clinios, Since
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theu, there has been further affidavit materlal from both sldes and the Inspector has delivered two
interim reports and a supplement {o the first, The most recent affidavit from the applicants’ side
{s an affidavit of Mr, Reltan sworn October 24, 2013, The most recent from the respondents’ side
is an affidavit of Norma Walton sworn October 31, 2013 on the day before this motion was
heard, There has beon no cross-examination on any affidavits, The first interlm report of the
Inspector is dated October 21, 2013, the supplement to it Is dated October 24, 2013 and the
second interlm yeport is dated October 31, 2013, T have not permitted any cross-examination of
the Inspector but the respondents have been fiee to make reasonable requests for information
* from the Inspector and they have availed themselves of that opporunity,

[8]  To date, Dr, Bernsteln through his corporations has advanced approximately $105 miilion
into the 31 projects (net of mortgages previously repald), structured as equity of $2.57 million,
debt of $78.5 million and mortgages of $23,34 milllon”,

[91  According to the ledgers provided to the Inspector, the Waltons have contributed
approximately $6 million, $352,900 {s recorded as equity, which I assume is cash, $1,78 million
s recorded as debt and $3.9 million is recorded In the Intercompany accounts said to be owing to
Rose & Thistle and is net of (i) amounts involced by Rose & Thistle but not yet pald; (1i)
amounts pald by Rose & Thistle on behalf of the companies such as down-payments; and (i)
less amounts paid by DBDC directly to Rose & Thistle on behalf of the compantes and (lv) other

accounting adjustments,
Concerns of the applicants
(1 $6 million mortgage

[10} This was a matter raised at the outset and was one of the basis for my finding of
oppression leading to the appolntment of the Inspector, Mr, Reitan Jearned as a result of a title
search on all properties obtalned by him that mortgages of $3 miilion each were placed on 1450
Don Mills Road and 1500 Don Mills Road on July 31, 2013 and August 1, 2013, Dr, Betnsteln
had no knowledge of them and did not approve them as required by the agreements for those
propetties, At a meeting on September 27, 2013, Ms, Walton informed Mr, Reltan and Mr,
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Schonfeld that the Waltons were in contro! of the $6 million of mortgage proceeds (rather than
the money being in the control of the owner companies), but refused to provide evidence of the
existence of the $6 million, Ms, Walton stated that she would only provide further information
regarding the two mortgages In a without prefudice mediation process, That statement alone
indloates that Ms. Walton knew there was something untoward about these mottgages.

[11}  In his first interlm report, Mr, Schonfeld reported that the proceeds of the Don Mills
mortgages were deposited into the Rose & Thistle account. Rose & Thistle transferred
$3,330,000 to 28 of the 31 companies, The balance of the proceeds of the Don Mills mortgages
totalling $2,161,172, were used for other purposes including the following;

1, $98,900 was paid to the Recelver General in respeot of payroll tax;
2. $460,000 was deposlted into Ms, Walton’s personal account;

3, $353,000 was appatently used to repay a loan owed by Rose & Thistle In relation to
Richmond Row Holdings Ltd,; and,

4, $154,600 was transferred electronically to an entity named Plexor Plastios Corp, and
$181,950 transferred electronically to Rose and Thistle Properties Ltd, Ms. Walton
advised the Inspector that she owns these entities with her husband,

[12]  In her affidavit of October 31, 2013, Ms, Walton admits that $2.1 million was “dlverted”
and used outside the 31 projects. She admlts it should not have been done without Dr,
Bemstein’s consent, She offers excuses that do not justify what she did, What happened here, not
to put too fine a point on I, was theft. It is little wonder that when first confronted with thls
situation, Ms, Walton said she would only talk about it-1n a without prejudice mediation.

[13]  In her aeffidavit of October 4, 2013, Ms, Walton sald she had made arrangements to
discharge the $3 million mortgage on 1500 Don Mills Rd on October 21, 2013 and to wire
money obtained from the mortgage on 1450 Don Mills Road into the Global Mills account (one
of the 31 companies) by the same date, Why the money would not be put into the 1450 Don
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Mills account was not explalned, In any event, no repayment of any of the diverted funds has

ocentred,
(i)  Tisdale Mews

[14]  Tlsdale Mews is a rezoning for 35 townhomes near Victorla Patk Avemue and Eglinton
Avenue Bast, Mr, Reltan states in his affidavit that Dy, Bernsteln made his equity contribution to
Tisdale Mews December 2011 in the amount of $1,480,000. The bank statements for Decembet
2011 for Tisdale Mews have not been made available, The forwarded balance on the bank
statements available for Tisdale Mews from Januwary 2012 is $96,989,91, Indicating that most if
not all of Dr, Bernsteln’s money went elsewhere, Ms, Walton states in her affidavit that the
project “was purchased by Dr, Bemsteln on January 11, 2012" and he {nvested $1.7 million in
equity, How it was that Dr, Bernsteln purchased the property Is not explained and seems contrary
to the affidavit of Mr, Reitan, The bank account statements for the property show no deposits of

any consequence in Janvary 2012 or later,

[15] In any event, Mr, Reitan was able to review bank records and other documents, Invoices
and cheques written from Tisdale Mews’ bank account show that a total of $268,104.57 from
Tisclale Mews has been used for work done at 44 Park Lane Clrcle, the personal residence of the

Waltons in the Bridle Path area of Toronto.

[16] Ms. Walton in her affidavit acknowledges that the money was used to pay tenovation
costs on her residence, She says, howevet, that Rose & Thistle funded 100% of the $268,104.57
puschages before any cheques were sent out of the Tisdale Mews acoount, How this was funded
was not disclosed, although she did say that overall, Rose & Thistle has a positlve nel transfer to
the Tisdale Mews account of $2,208,964 “as per Exhiblt G to the Inspector’s first tnterim
teport”, Bxlibit G to that report has nothing to do with Tisdale Mews, Bxhibit D to that teport,
being the property profile teport of the Inspector for the 31 propertles, contains no information
for Tisdale Mews because information had not yet been provided to the Inspector. The
Ingpector’s updated profile prepated after information was obtained from Rose & Thistle shows
 $1,274,487 owlng from Tisdale Mews to Rose & Thistle, but whether this is legitimate cannot be
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determined untll back-up documents sought by the Inspector ate provided, It {s no indication that
cash was put into Tisdale Mews by Rose & Thistle,

[17] The statement of Ms, Walton that Rose & Thistle funded 100% of the $268,104.57
purchases on her residence before any cheques were sent out of the Tisdale Mews account makes
little sense, There would be no reason for Rose & Thistle to transfer funds into the Tisdale Mews
account to pay personal expenses of Ms, Walton for her residence, Again, it has all the

appearances of another case of theft,
@)  Steps to impede a proper inspection

[18] 1t is quite evident that fiom the moment the order was made appointing the Inspector, Ms,
Walton took vatious steps to hinder the Inspector, That ordet was made on October 4, a Friday,
and permitted the Tnspector to go to the offices of Rose & Thistle during normal business hours
and on that evening and throughout the week-end, My, Reltan swears in his affidavit that when
he atrived at the Rose & Thistle offices at 3;33 p.m., on the direction of the Inspector, which was
shortly after the order was made, he saw Ms, Walton locking the door to the pemises and she
waved to him as she walked away from the doors, He was informed by Angela Romanova that
Mas, Walton had told all employees to leave the premises once the order was granted at
approximately 3 pm. He observed one employee who left with a server and one or more
computers, After a discussion with the employee and Steven Williams, VP of operations at Rose
& Thistle, these were taken back Into the building, I recelved an e-mail from Mr, Griffin eaily in
the evening alerting me to the problem and I was asked to be available If necessary, M, Reitan
states that after several howrs, and following Mr, Walton’s amtval, Mr, Schonfeld, My,

Moerryweather and he were allowed into the premises,

[19]  Ms, Walton in her affidavit states that a laptop “that was about to be removed” from the
Rc%se & Thistle offices was 13 years old and they were disposing of it, One of het occasional
workers asked if he could have it and they agreed, She states that the timing was unfortunate,
She states that there ave elght server towers permanently affixed to the premises, What she does
not answer is Mr, Reltan’s statement that she locked the doors and told her employees to leave,
that whatever was taken from the premises was returned afier discusstons with the employee and
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My, Willlams, the VP of operations, and that it took several hours before the Inspector and Mr,
Reltan were permitted on the premises, The order appointing the Inspector required Ms, Walton
to {ully co-operate with the Inspector,

[20] The order also permitted the Inspector to appoint persons as considered necessary,
inclading Mr, Reitan, Ms. Walton however took the position that Mr, Reltan should not be on the
prenises, which was contrary to the order, and that the Inspeotor should not discuss with the
applicants or thelr lawyers any information he obtained before making his fixst report to the
court, Mr, Reitan was the accounting person for Dr, Bernsteln most familiar with the investments
“and not having him available to the Inspector, either on the Rose & Thistle premises or not,
would not be helpful to the Inspector, On October 9, 2013 T made a further ordey, which should
not have been necessary, permitting Mr, Reltan to be on the premises when My, Schonfeld or his
staff wete present. I also ordered thet Mr, Schonfeld was entitled, but not requited, to discuss his
investigation with the parties or thelr representatives,

[21]  Ms Walton informed the Inspector that the books and record of the companles wete last
brought current in 2011, Since August or September, 2013, after Mr, Reltan became involved in
seoking Information, Rose & Thistle employees have been Inputting expense Information into
ledgers relating to the perlod January 2012 and August 2013, They have also 1ssued a number of
involices for services rendered or expenses Incurred by Rose & Thistle during the period January
2012 to Angust 2013, On October 17, 2013, Mr, Schonfeld convened a meeting with the parties
and thelr counsel to orally present his findings. Priot to that meeting, Ms, Walton would only
provide the Inspector with access to general ledgers for indlvidval companies once she and Rose
& Thistle had completed their exercise of updating the ledgers and lgsuing invoices from Rose &
Thistle to each company. At the meeting, Ms, Walton agreed to provide the Inspector with access
to ledgers for the remaining companies in theit cwrrent state. These were eventually provided,

[22]  Ms. Walton Instituted a procedure under which no information could be provided by
Rose & Thistle employees to the Inspestor only after Ms, Walton had vetted it, which was
causing considerable difficulties for the Inspector, On October 18, coumsel for the Inspector
wrote to counsel to the respondents and asked that the respondents provide immediate unfettered
access to the books and records and end the inststence that all informatlon be provided throwgh
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Ms, Walton, Duting the week of October 21, Ms, Walton sald she could not meet because she
was lnvolved in preparing responding material In the Htigation and that her staff was unavallable,
By October 24, 2013 no substantive response to the Ingpector’s request was made, and on that
date T made an order requiting Ms, Walton not to Interfere with Rogse & Thistle employees
providing information to the Inspector, This should not have been necessary in light of the terms
of the orlginal order of Qcfober 4, 2013 appointing the Inspector,

(iv)  Improper use of bank aceounts

[23] The agreements for cach project require that each project has a separate bank account,
The Inspector reposts, however, that there has been extensive co-mingling of bank accounts and
that fiunds were routinely transferred between the company accounts and the Rose & Thistle
account, From the date of each agreement to September 30, 2013, approximately $77 million
was transforred from the companies’ accounts to Rose & Thistle and Rose & Thistle transferred
approximately $53 million to the varlovs company accounts meaning that Rose & Thistle had
retained approximately $24 milllon transferred to it from the various companies,

[24] Ms, Walton confitmed to the Inspector that equity contributions to, and ingome recelved
by, the companies wete centralized and co-mingled in the Rose & Thistle account, which she
descrlbed as a “cleating house™, This practice continued in September 2013 and the Inspector
reported it was difficult to trace how (ransters from the companies were used because the fiunds
were also co-mingled with funds transferred to the Rose & Thistle account by. other Walton
compantes not making up the 31 companies in which Dr, Bemstoln has his 50% Intetest, It 1s
clear that the Waltons did not treat each company separately as was required in the agreements

for each company.

[25]  To alleviate the problem of the co-mingling of funds and the payments out to Rose &
Thistle, the order of October 25 provided for the payment of deposits to be made to the bank
accounts of the 31 companies and that no payment out couid be made without the written congent

of the applicants or someone they may nominate,
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(v)  Receivables of Rose & Thistle from the 31 compantes

[20] The agreements for the 31 properties state that Dr, Bensteln and the Walions are to
provide 80% of the equity requited. They do not provide that the Walton’s equity Is to be
provided in services, They state that each of Dr, Bernstein and the Waltons will put in amounts
of money, In her lengthy affidavit of October 31, 2013, Ms. Walton went to the {touble of
describing each of the 31 projects, Including stating how much equity Dr, Bermnstein had put into
each property, Tellingly, however, she made no stetement at all of how much equity she or her
husband had put into any of the properties, and gave no explanation for not doing so. This may
be an indication that Ms. Walton is not able to say what equlty has been put into each property,
hardly surprising as the books and records were two years out of date af the tline the Inspector

was appolinted,

[27] In his first interim report, Mr, Schonfeld reported that based on invoices and generel
ledger entiies provided to October 18, 2013, Rose & Thistle appeared to have charged the
companies approximately $27 millfon for varlous fees and HST on the fees. On October 17, the
date of his meeting with the parties, he had clrculated a verston of his chatt regarding this which
identified $2.68 miltion that had been transferresd to Rose & Thistle that could not be reconciled
to any invoice issued by Rose & Thistle. On the followlng day on October 18, Rose & Thistle
provided additional Invoices to the companies for $5.6 million so that the total amount involced
exceeded the amounts transferred by Rose & Thistle to the compantes by $2.9 million, In his
supplement to his first roport, Mr, Schonfeld reported that the respondents had produced farther
invoices front Rose & Thistle dated between January 2012 and September 2013 to the companies
for a total of $34,6 milllon, being $10.6 million more than it had recelved from the conipanies,
Mt, Schonfeld identified approximately $3,9 million recorded on the ledgers of Rose & Thistle
as owing from the companies to Rose & Thistle, This amount is patt of the $6 million recorded
in the books as belng the contribution by the Waltons to the companles,

(vi)  Documentation to support Rose & Thistle involees

[28]  The Inspector has songht unsuccessfully so far to obtaln documentation underlylng Rose
& Thistle’s fuvoices of some $34.6 million to the companies, including construction budgets for
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the various projects. This 1s of considerable jinportance in understanding the olaim for equity put
into the properties by the Waltons, because by far the largest amount of equity now clalmed to
have been put in by the Waltons are the fees for setvices sald to have been provided by the

Waltons to the varlous companies,

[29] The Information that has boon obtained regarding the involees issued to some of the
companies by Rose & Thistle is troubling and gives little confidence in what Ms, Walton and

Rose & Thistle have done,

[30] Riverdale Mansion Ine, is one of the 31 projects, It is the owner of a historle mansion on
Pape Avenue. Riverdale transferved $1,759,800 to Rose & Thistle and recelved from Rose &
Thistle $785,250. Thus Rose & Thistle retained $974,550 transforred to it by Riverdale,

[31] Rose & Thistle provided the Inspector with Invoices addressed to Riverdale for
construetion managerent fees totaling $1,183,981 plus HST and maintenance fees of $60,000,
Including $275,000 for “deposits for materials”, $103,863 for “project management services”,
$295,000 for “slte plan deposits and application” and $67,890 for “steel bar ordered and
installed”. At the October 17 meeting, the Inspector asked for documentation, ineluding third
party invoiges, to support the amounts involced to Riverdale. Ms, Walton sald that Rose &
Thistle did not have third patty involces for many of the involeed expenses becanse Rose &
Thistle performed much of the work itself (it has a construction company) and that some of the
expensos had not yet been incurred, In response, the Inspector requested documents such as
material involees and payroll records to validate the cost of work done by Rose & Thistle and
invoiced to Riverdale, None were provided,

[32] On the following day, October 18, the Inspector received a oredit note from Rose &
Thistle which showed that the involee form Rose & Thistle fo Riverdale had boen reversed
except for $257,065,62 for wotk performed in 2011, The eredit note is dated December 31, 2011,

[33] 1In her affidavit of October 31, 2013, Ms, Walton gave an explanation for the Riverdale
reversal, an explanation that has problems. She said that considerable work was done to prepare
the site for construction of townhouses and condominiums. As the work was proceeding, the
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project changed and the mansion will be rebuilt and become used for a woman’s shelter, Rose &
Thistle was owed “cestain monies” for its work and the invoice for $1,291,025 Inclusive of HST
was rendered by Rose & Thistle to Riverdale, She states that “the Inspector thought the amount
claimed was too high” and so she lssued a oredit note and submitted a lower involce for
$257,065.,62 *“that refleoted the value of the work done by Rose & Thistle”, She says she merely
forgot to re-do the Invoice after the plans changed.

[34] The applicants have had no chance to cross-examine Ms, Walton on her affidavit. I have
considerable doubts that the Inspector told Ms, Walton that the Involee was too ligh, as he hag
had no back-up documentation to consider the validity of the Invoice and was asking for It to be
produoed, However, even assuming that the Inspector told her the Involce was too high, which is
not what the Ingpector reported, one may ask why, if the new involee of some $257,000 refleoted
the work that was done, an eatlier involoe had been sent for some $1.2 million, That earlier

involce appears to have been highly improper,

[35] Dupont Developmenis Ltd, is one of the 31 projects. It is & contaminated industiial
bullding and the plan according to Ms, Walton is to “gut renovate” the bullding and remediate
the contaminated site, The Inspector requested the construction budget for it and it was provided
by M, Goldberg, who sald he was responsible for the construction project, Mr, Goldberg told
Mt, Schonfeld that the budget documents were out of date, They indicate that Dupont spent
$385,000 on construction and $20,000 on environmental renovation, The Inspector had
previously been provided with an {nvolce issued by Rose & Thistle to Dupont for $565, 339,34
which includes an entry for construction management services of $175,300.30, sald in the
Invoise to be *10% of hard costs”, implying that Rose & Thistle had supervised construction that
cost approximately $1.75 million. The updated genoral ledger for Dupont recetved by the
Inspector on QOctober 24 showed capitalized expenses of approximately $248,000, construction
in progress of $36,000 and various consulting fees of approximately $563,000, All of these
documents show different construction expenditures, none nowhere near the lmplied cost of
$1.75 million,

[36]  This Dupont budget was the only budget for any of the projects provided to the Inspector
by the time of his last report dated Ooctober 31, 2013, one day before this motion was heard, The




- Page 12

Inspector concludes that it appears that Rose & Thistle is not maintalning project budgets on an
ongoing basls to track expenses and measure construction costs against the pro forma statement

prepared when the propetty was purchased.

[37)  Fraser Propetties owns property at 30 Fraser Avenue and Fraser Lands owns abutting
property purchased in October 2012, Dr, Bernsteln made an equity contribution of approximately
$16 million, Fraser Properties transferred $10,281,050 to Rose & Thistle and recetved back
$1,215,100, Thus Rose & Thistle retained $9,065,950, In his flvst report, Mr, Schonfeld sald he
had inspected the property and saw no construction work ot evidence of recent construction
wotk, In bis supplement to his fitst report, after he had recelved the general ledger and invoices
from Rose & Thistle to Fraser Properties, he reported that the invoices to Fraser Propettics were
approximately $1.6 million. Assuming the invoices can be supported, that would mean that Rose
& Thistle has recetved approximately $7.4 million niore front Fraser Propetties than it involced
to Fraser Properties. It is to be noted that at the time of the Inspector’s first teport, the books
and records showed an intercompany recelvable due to Rose & Thistle from the companies of
approximately $9,9 million, By the time of the first supplement to the Inspector’s teport thres
days later, after the involees and general ledger had been xecetved and reviewed, this amount was
teduced to apptoximately $3.9 million, due to a new debit showlng as being owed by Rose &
Thistle to Fraser Properties of approximately $6,45 million,

[38] On October 31, 2013 Mz, Campion on behalf of the respondents wrote to counsel to the
applicants and to the Inspector and referred to the Inspector asking which filing cabinet he could
teview to obtaln the documents requested, such as third party invoices, contracts, payroll records
or other contemporaneous documents, Mr, Campion said that the information sought can only be
obtained through discussion with the staff ag all documentation 1s on computer and not in a filing
cablnet, This is troubling to the Inspector. It would mean that there is no paper of any kind in
existence for $35 million of costs said to have been incurred, or that it has all been scanned and
thrown out, It would be unusval to scan it and throw It out, and questlonable that it was all
seanned when Rose & Thistle was two years late in thelr bookkeeping and according to Ms.
Walton had an outdated soflware system,




- Page 13 -

[39]  Since the Inspector was appointed, Rose & Thistle has been prepating involeos for wotk
done going back to January 2012, and one may question where the Information is coming from
to do that, Mr, Campion was undoubtedly passing on what he was told by Ms, Walton, but what

he was told raises concerns,
(vil)  Other equity inyestors

[40] The agresments provided-that the only shares to be issued were to Dr Bernstein's
corporations or to the Walton's corporations and nelther could tiansfer shares to another party
without the consent of the other party, However, in his ptlor affidavit, Mr, Reltan provided
documentary evidence that disclosed that the Waltons have taken on new equity investors in at
least one project, without the agreement of Dr, Bernstein, This fssue was not answered by Ms,
Walton in her affidavit of Ooctober 31, 2013, the fallure of which is compounded in that Ms,
Walton did not dlsclose, as previously disoussed, what equity contributions have been made by
the Waltons for any of the propetties.

Legal principles and analysis

[41] Seotfon 101 of the Cowrts of Justice Act provides for the appointment of a
recelver/manager where It appears to a Judge to be just and convenient to do so, In Royal Bank of
Canada v, Chongsim Investment Ltd, (1997), 32 OR. (3d) 565, Epstein J, (as she then was)
discussed what should be considered in deciding whether o make such an order, She stated:

The jurisdiotion to order a receiver is found in s, 101 of the Courts of"Justice det,
R,8,0, 1990, o. 043, This section provides that a recelver may be appointed
where It appears to be Just and conventent, The appolntment of a receiver is
particularly intrusive, It s therefore relief that should only be granted spatingly,
The law Is clear that in the exerclse of lis discretion, the court should consider the
effect of such an order on the parties, As well, sihce it is an equitable remedy, the
conduct of the parties s a relevant factor,

[42] Sectlon 248 of the OBCA. also provides for the appointtnent of a recelver manager if

there has been oppression as contained in section 248(2), Under seotion 248(2) a conrt may make
an order to reotlfy the matters complalned of and section 248(3) provides:
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(3) In connection with an application under this section, the court may make any
interim ot final order it thinks fit including, without limiting the generality of the

foregoing,

(1]

(b) an ordet appolnting a recejver or recelver-manager;

[43]1 Vatlous cases other than the Chongsim Investment case have discussed the prinelples to
be taken into account. See Anderson v, Hunking, [2010] O.J, No, 3042 and Bank of Montreal v,
Carnival Leasing Limited (2011), 74 CBXR, (5th) 300 and the authotliles referred to in thoge

cases,

[44] In my view this is not a case in which the applicants are seeking an interim order
appointing a receiver/manager, They do not seek an interim order, They seek the appointment on
the basis of evidence that is latgely uncontested by Ms, Walton, T would agree with the
respondents that if the evidonce relied on by the applicants for tho order sovught was largely
contested, the selief should be considered on the basis that It is interlm relief, Tlowever, that is
not the case, In any event, even if the RJIR MacDondld tti-part test were applicable, that would
not be materially different In this case from the test artleulated by Epsteln J, in Chongsim
Investiment that tequires a congideration of the effect of the order sought on the parties and thefr

condnot,

[45] In iy reasons when the Inspector was appointed on October 4, 2013, I found opptession

had ocomred as follows;

271 In my view, on the record before me Dy Bernstein has met the test
roquired for an investigation to be ordered. To put on two mottgages for $6
million without the required agreement of Dr, Bernstein and then refuse to
disclose what happened to the money except in a without prejudice mediation
meets the higher test of oppression, let-alone the lesser test of unfairly
distegarding the inferests of D, Bernstein, The other examples of the evidence I
have referved, as well as the fatlure to provide monthly repotts on the projests to
D1, Bernstein, are oleatly instances of the Waltons unfairly being prejudicial to
and unfalrly disregarding the interests of Dr, Bernstein, a 50% shareholder of each’
of the ownet corporations.
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[46] I do not seeihe pleture as now being less clear, To the contrary, it seems much clearer, 1

have refetred to the concetns above in some detail, They include the following:

$2,1 million was Improperly taken from the proceeds of the $6 million mortgages
that never had Dy, Betnstoin’s approval, $400,000 of which was taken by Ms,
Walton Into het petsonal bank account, Ms, Walton was woll aware that this was
wrong, She is a lawyer and the agreements wote drawn in hor office, Her initial
reaction whett confronted about the morigages by M. Reltan, who at the time did
not know what had happened to the mortgage proceeds, that she would only
discuss it in a without prejudice mediation is a clear indication she knew what she
did was wrong and contrary to Dr, Betnstein's interests, '

$268,104,57 was impropetly paid from the Tisdale Mews account to pay for
renovations to the Waltons® residence, No reasonable explanation has been

provided,

The co-mingling of acoounts and the cash sweep nfo the Rose & Thistle accounts
was a breach of agreement and unfairly prejudicial to Dr. Beinsteln and a
disregard of his intevests, This is particularly the case in Hght of the lack of
cutrent books and records that should have been prepared and available rather
than tequiring an Inspector fo try to got to the bottom of what has ocourred, A
lack of records Is in itself wnfairly disregarding the Interests of Dt, Bernsteln,
particularly taken the size of his investment. Blaming it on outdated computer
software Is hardly an answer, That should have been taken care of long ago.

The fienzied attempts in the past month since the Inspector was appointed to
update Jedgers and manufacture Involoes should never have been necossaty and in
light of the evidence, obviously casts doubt on what is now being done to update
the records. Dr, Betnstein should never have had to face this prejudiclal situatlon,

The Waltons have not provided equal payments of money Into any of the 31
properties, The clalm that their equity was provided by way of set-off for fees and
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work, even if that were permissible under the agreements, Is unsupported by any
available documents to the Inspector, What little has been provided ralses serlous
issues, as disoussoed above. As well, taking in new equity partners s not at all
what Dr, Bernstein signed wp for, and indicatlve of a lack of ability of the Waltons
to fund thetr equity In accordance with the agreements,

6. Dr, Bemsteln was entltled to monthly reports, It Is now quite evident why that has

not oceurred,

[47] Mz, Camplon contended that a rocelver/manager could not be ordeted over any particular
property without a finding of oppressive conduot regarding that property, I am not at all sure that
sucl a proposition in this case is correot, but In any event there has been oppressive conduct
regarding each properly, The co-mingling of funds and the sweep of cash from each property’s
acoount into Rose & Thistle was oppressive in these circumstances in which there were no
contemporaneous books and records kept that would permit Dr, Bernsteln, or now the Inspector,
to fully understand what ocourred to the money from each property, The getting up of alleged
fees owing to Rose & Thistle for the propertles to substantiate the Waltons’ equity contributions,
oven if permissible, without readily avallable documentation to substantiate the valldity of the
fees, was oppressive, The lack of records and reports for each property was oppressive,

[48] 1t Is contended on behalf of the respondents that they have the contractual right to
manage the projects and thus no receiver/manager shovld be appointed, The difficulty with this
argument ls that the confracts have been breached and the Waltons have certainly not shown
themselves (o be capable managers, A basle lack of record keeping, compounded by co-mingling
of funds and transfertdng them to Rose & Thistle, belles any notion of proper professional
management, Ms, Walton acknowledges that accounting and other Issues “have plalnly caused
him [Dr, Betnstein] to lose confidence in my managemment”, That is a fundamental change to the

relatlonship,
{

[49] 1t is contended that the buslness will be harined if & recelver/manager is appointed, Ms,
Walton states In her affidavit that she believes that the dynamic nature of this portfolio will
suffer and in the end suffer unnecessary losses, What is meant by the dynamic nature is not clear,
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1 recognize that a recelvey/manager can ln certain oircumstances have negative implications in
the matketplace, particulatly if it means that unsold properties will have to be put up for sale at
less than market prices or be sold quickly, There is no indleation that is the plan here at all and

there is no court ordered sale belng requested,

[50] Itis also to be recognized that a recelver/manager can being stability to a situation, whioh
in this case appears to be a requirement to protect the interests of Dy, Bernsteln,

[51] Dt Bernstein with his $100 million plus investment has a luge financial interest in this
portfolio of properties, It is hardly in his Interest to have the properties dealt with In less than a
sound commercial way, He suffers the same tisk as the Waltons, and depending on what real
equity the Waltons have put in, pethaps far more. The Waltons contend that they hayve huge
financial risk in that they have guaranteed mortgages to the tune of some $206 million, They
have not offered any evidence that there is any likelihood of being called wpon on thelr
guarantees, and to the contrary Ms, Walton says that all of the projects except pethaps one ot two
of them are or expected to be profitable, There s no reason why an experlenced
recelver/manager with capable property managers cannot continue with the success of the

ventures,

[52] The respondents contend that with the controls over the bank accounts and the other
provisions of the two orders made to date, there is plenty of protection for Dr, Betnstein, There
may be something in this argument, but it ignores one of the basic problems caused by the way
the business has been run, There s no clear evidence yet what exactly has been put info the
properties by the Waltons, and that is cruoial to understanding what both Dr, Bernstein and the
Waltons are entitled to, In the month since the Inspector was appointed, Ms, Walton has cavsed
back dated Involoes to be prepated for past work said to have been done, What they have been
prepared from is not at all clear. With some of the troubling things about changlng records that
have become apparent as a result of digging by Mz, Reitan and the Tnspector, discussed above,
and the diversion of money that has taken place, there is reason to be concertied. exactly what
Ms. Walton Is doing to shore up her position, The Inspector Is not in a position to know what is
belng prepated on an ex post facto basis or from what, and Dr. Bernstein should not have to rely
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on a hope that something untoward will no longer be done, The present sitwation is causing

gonsiderable havim to Dy, Betnstein,

Congclusion

[53]  Schonfeld Inc, is appointed as managet/rocelver of all of the properties In schedule B,
effective Immediately, I was provided with a draft order that Is based on the model order in use
in ow Court and approved by the Users’ Commiitee, It appeats satisfactory but there wete no
-submissions as to its terms. If the respondents have any submissions with respect to the drafy
order, they are to be made in wilting within thiee days and the applicants or Schonfeld Inc. shall
have until Wednesday of next week to respond. In the meantime, the appointment of Schonfeld
Ing, as managet/recetver is not to be delayed and Schonfeld Inc, shall immediately have the
powets contained in the drafl order pending any objestion to it by the respondents.

[54] The applicants have applied to have Schonfeld Inc, appointed as recelver over four
properties mottgaged to Dy Bemstein with expired mortgages that are not schedule B
corporations. Ms, Walton has stated in her affidavit that funds are belng raised that will see these
mortgages paid in full by the end of November, 2013, In light of that statement, this application
is adjourned sine dfe, Tt can be brought on after the end of November in the event that the

mortgages have not been paid in full,

[55] The applicants have also requested a certificate of pending litigation over 44 Park. Lane
Circle, the residence of the Waltons in light of the evidence that money 'from one of the 31
schedule Dr, Bernstein corporatlons was used to pay for renovations to the residence, I was
advised by counsel for Ms, Walton during the hearing of the motion that the money would be
repald that day, Based on that staterment, the request for a certificate of pending litigation is
adjourned sine die and can be brought back on in the event that evidence of the payment s not

provided to the applicants and Schonfeld Tnc,

[56] The Inspector moved for approval of his interlm reports and the actions faken as
disolosed in the reports, and approval for his fees and disbursements and those of his counsel, No
one opposed the request although Mr, Campion said that the respondents were not consenting to




- Page 19 «

them, In my view, the actlons taken by the Inspector have been entirely proper in difficult
oltcumstances and in het affidavit Ms, Walton acknowledges that the Inspector was necessary
because of her issues, The fees and disbursements also appear reasonable, At the conclusion of

the hearing I granted the order sought,

[57] The applicants are entitled to their costs from the respondents, If costs cannot be agreed,
brief written submissions along with a proper cost outline may be made within 10 days and brief
written reply submissions may be made within a fusther 10 days.

PNV

Newbould J.

Date: November 5, 2013




Tab B



i3

Court File No,: CV-13-10280-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST
THE HONOURABLE MR, | g FRIDAY, THE 5" DAY
) .
JUSTICE NEWB OULD ) OF NOVEMBER, 2013
BETWEEN

DBDC SPADINA LD,

and THOSE CORPORATIONS LISTED ON'SCHEDULE A HERETO
Applicants

and

NORMA WALTON, RONAULD WALTON, THE ROSE & THISTLE GROUP

LTD, and EGLINTON CASTLE INC,
Regpondenty

and

THOSE CORPORATIONS LISTED ON SCHEDULE B HERETO, TO BE
BOUND BY THE RESULT

ORDER

- THIS MOTION made by the Applcants, DBDC Spadina Ltd, and those Corporations
Listed on Schedule “A” hetreto for an Order appointing Schonfeld Inc, Receivers + Trustees, ag
manager (1n such capacities, the "Manager") without security, of all of the assets, undertakings

and properties of the Schedule “B” Corporations, or for other relief, was heatd this day at 330
University Avenue, Toronto, Ontatio,
ON READING the Affidavits of Jim Reitan sworn October 1, October 3 and October 24,

2013 and the Exhibitg thereto, the Affidavit of Susan Lyons and the Exhibits hereto, the
Affidavit of Lorna Groves and the Exhibits thereto, the First Interim Report of the Inspector,



-

Schonfeld Inc,, the Supplemental Report to the First Interim Report of the Inspector and the
Exhibits thereto, the Second Intetim Report of the Inspector and the Exhibits thereto, the
Aflidavits of Norma Walton sworn October 3 and 31, 2013 and the Exhiblts thereto and on

hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicants, counsel for the Inspector and counsel for

the Respondents,

SERVICE

1, THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Motion and the Motlon
Record Is hereby abridged so that this motion is properly retumable today and hereby

dispenses with further service thereof,
CONTINUING ORDERS

2, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Orders of the Honourable Justice Newbould dated
October 4, 2013 and October 25, 2013 contlnue in full force and effect except as

modified by this Order,

APPOINTMENT

3, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager is hereby appointed Manager, without
secutity, of all of the real property owned by the Schedule “B” Companies hereto (the
“Real Tstate”) and all of the current and future assets, undertakings and property, real
and personal, of the Schedule “B” Corporations of every nature and kind whatsoever, and
wherever situate, including all proceeds thereof (collectively with the Real Estate, the

“Property”) effective upon the granting of this Order,

MANAGER’S POWERS

4 THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager shall have the powers of the Inspector granted
pursuant fo the Order of the Honourable Justice Newbould dated October 4, 2013,
including but not limited to access to the premises and books and records of the

Respondent The Rose & Thistle Group Ltd,

5, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager is hereby empoweted and authorized, but not
obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the Manager is hereby expressly empowered and authorized

" to do any of the following where the Manager considers it necessary or desirable;

()  to undertake sole and exclusive authority to manage and control the
Propetty and any and all proceeds, receipts and disbursements ardsing out



(b)

(c)

(&)

3.

of or from the Property, whetesoever located, and any and all proceeds,
receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the Propetty, and for
greater cettainty, the Manager shall have sole and exelusive right and
control of the Schedule “B” Corporations’ bank accounts whetever located

in accordance with this Ordety

to open bank accounts at any banking institution acceptable to the
Applicant to transfer funds ﬁom the current bank accounts of the Schedule

L
. “B” Companies, as necessarymﬁhgnmﬂm—w-ehe&lwm W 3

to receive, presetve, and protect and maintain control of the Property, or

any part or parts thereof, inchiding, but not limited to, the changing of

-locks and security codes, the telocating of Property to safeguard it, the

engaging of independent Se¢u1‘ity personnel, the taking of physical
inventories and the placement of such Insurance coverage as may be

necessaty or desirable;

to manage, opetate, and carry on the business of the Schedule “B”
Corporations, including the powers to enter into any agreements, incur any

obligations in the ordmaly course of business, cease to 0 catty on all or any

part of the business hpen—pﬁm*nvﬁeﬂe-%he—llm‘ﬁed oz‘ cease to perform
any conttacts of any of the Schedule “B” Corpotations kpen—pnez-aeﬁee—te
tho-Pastieg; ¥~ q

to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, experts, auditors, accountants,
managers, counsel ar{d such other persons frtom time to time and on
whatevet basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise
of the powers and dutles conferred by this order including but not limited
to a ptoperty manager, including but not limited to:

()  DMS Properties;

(i)  Briatlane Property Rental Management Inc.; and



®

(&

h)

)

(k)

A

.(iii) Stetling Karamar;

to purchase ot Jease such machinery, equipment, inventorles, supplies,
premises or other assets to continue the business of the Schedule “B"

Corporations or any part or parts thereof}

to roceive and collect all monles and accounts now owed or heteaftor
owing to the Schedule “B" Corporations and to exercise all remedies of
the Schedule “B” Cotporations In collecting such monies, including,
without ]imitatlon, to enforce any security held by any of the Schedule

“B” Corpot atiomppmxddad—@haﬁh&Maﬁage&ushangwe—pﬂamm
Partles of anyenforcement -of-soousity; MAT

subject to paragraph 4 below, to settle, extend ot compromise any
indebtedness owing to any of the Schedule “B” Corporationsy provided-

at-the-Mangget-5a-g )
any-matertalindobtediosks; P K
to execute, asslgn, Issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in
tespect of any of the Property, whether in the Managet's name or in the
name and on behalf of the Schedule “B” Cotporations, for any purpose
pursuant to this Order;

to undettake environmental investigations, assessments, engineering and

bullding condltion or other examinations of the Real Estate;

.subject to paragraph 12 below, to.lnitiate, prosecute and continue the

prosecution of any and all proceedings and to defend all proceedings now
pending or hereafter inst'xtutéd with respect to the Schedule “B”
Corporations, the Property or the Manager, and to settle or compromise
any such proceedings. The authority heteby conveyed shall extend to such
appeals or applications for judiclal review in tespect of any otdet or

judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;



)

(m)

®)

(0)

®)

(@
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subject to paragraph 13 below, to market the Property and in particular the
Real Estate, including advertising and soliciting offers in respect of the
Property and negotiating such terms and conditions of sale as the Manager

in its discretion may deem appropriate;

to enfer into agreements and to sell, convey, transfer, or assign' the
Property or any part or parts theteof of the Schedule “B" Corporations’
business, with the prior approval of this Court in respect of any
transaction, and in each such cage notice under subsection 63(4) of the
Ontario Personal Property Security Act, shall not be required, and in each
case the Ontario Bulk Sales Act shall not apply,

to have on-line and electronlc as well as hard copy access to the bank
accounts of the Rose & Thistle Group Ltd. to teview all receipts and
dishursements total from such accounts and to request and recelve on a
timely basls from the Respondents particulars of all receipts and
disbursements sufficient for the Inspector to identify such transfets, the

parties involved and the reasons therefore;

v

upon notice to all partles and affected registered encumbrances, to apply
for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey the Property or
any patt or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers theteof, free and

clear of any llens or encumbrances affecting such Property;

to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined
below) as the Manager considers approptiate on all matters relating to the
Propetty, and to shate information, subject to such ferms as to
confidentlality as the Manager decms advisable; '

to apply for any permits, licences, approvals or petmigsions as may be
required by any governmental authority and any renewals thereof for and
on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Manager, in the name of the

Schedule “B” Corporations,
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® to do all acts'and execute, in the name and on behalf of the Schedule “B”
Corporations, all documents, and for that purpose use the seal of the

corpotation, if any; and

(9  totake any steps teasonably incldental to the exercise of these powers,

and in each case whete the Manager takes any such actions or steps, it shall, subject to paragtaph
4 below, be exclusively authotlzed and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons
(as défined below), including the Schedule “B” Corporations, and without interference from any

other Person,

For greater certalnty, nothing in this Management Order or to the Manager’s

exercise of its powers hereunder shall cause the Manager to be, or deemed to be, a recelver

within the meaning of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act,

"

6,———The-Manager shall-take veasonable-steps—

e-pfeiéde—ﬂas—lla&kes—wﬁh-ammmﬁﬁm
manthly basis-of any collections veferredtodn subparagraphe-S(@)abovey ™ 20"\

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE MANAGER

7.

THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Schedule “B” Corporations and The Rose & Thistle
Group Inc, (i) all of thelr cutrent and former directors, officets, employees, agents,
accountants, legal counsel and shareholders, and all other persons acting on its
instructions or behalf, including but not limited to the Respondents and all others having
notice of this Ordet; (fit) all other individuals, firms, corporations, governmental bodies
ot agencies, or other entities having notice of this Ordet; and (lv) Meridian Credit Union;
and (v) without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Norma Walton, Ronauld Walton,
anyone acting under the Instructions of anyone listed in this paragraph; and (vi) anyone
with notice of this order (all of the foregoing, collectively, being "Pexrsons" and each
being a "Person") shall forthwith advise the Manager of the existence of any Propetty in
such Person's possession or control, shall grant immediate and continued access to the
Propetty to the Manager, and shall deliver all such Property to the Manager upon the
Managet's request, and in any event no later than 36 hours following the Managet’s

request,

THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Managet of the
existence of any books, documents, secutities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting
records, and any other papets, tecords and information of any kind related to the business
or affairs of the Schedule “B” Corporations, and any computer progtams, computer tapes,
computer disks, or other data storage media containing any such information (the
foregoing, collectively, the "Records") in that Person's possession or control, and shall
provide to the Manager or permit the Manager to make, retain and take away copies
thereof and grant to the Manager unfettered access to and use of accounting, computer,
software and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that nothing in this



.

paragtaph 9 ot in paragraph 11 of this Order shall require the delfvery of Records, or the
granting of access to Records, which may not boe disclosed or provided to the Managor
due to the privilege attaching to solieitor-olient communication ot litigation work produet
belong to a Shareholder or a director of a Schedule “B” Corporations personally ot dve to

statutoty provisions prohibiting such disclosure, \ :

9 THIS COURT ORDERS that the Recotds shall, upon reasonable notice to the Manager
and duting normal business hours of the Manager, be open to examination by each of the
patties and their respective legal counsel, and that a copy of these Revords be provided by
the Manager of the parties upon request, the reasonable costs assoolated with such acoess
and copies to be determined by the Manager, and invoiced to and pald by the requesting

patty to the Manager forthwith.

10, 'THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a
computet ot other electtonie system of information storage, whether by independent
sarvice ptovider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall
forthwith glve unfettered acoess to the Manager for the purpose of allowing the Managet -
to recover and fully copy all of the information contained therein whethet by way of ;
printing the information onto paper or making coples of computer disks or such other '
mannet of retrleving and copying the information as the Manager in its disoretion deems
expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy any Reocords without the prior wiitten
oonsent of the Manager, Further, for the purposes of this paragraph, all Persons shall
proyide the Manager with all such assistance in gaining immediate access to the
information in the Records as the Manager may in its discretion require including
providing the Manager with instructions on the use of any computer or othet system and
providing the Manager with any and all access codes, account names and account
numbets that may be required to gain access to the information,

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE MANAGER

11,  'THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as may be provided heteln, no proceeding ot
enforcement process in any court ot tribunal (each, a "Proceeding"), shall be commenced
or oontinyed against the Manager except with the wittten consent of the Manager or with

leave of this Court,

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE SCHEDULE “B” CORPORATIONS OR THE
PROPERTY

12,  THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against ot in respect of any of the Schedule
“B” Corporations ot the Property shall be commenced or continued except with the
wiitten consent of the Manager or with leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings
ourrently under way against or in respect of the Schedule “B” Corporations o the
Property, with the exception of the proceedings referred to in paragraph 7, are heteby
stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Cowt, Notwithstanding any other
provision In this Order, the parties shall not be precluded from taking any steps or from
sommeneing or continuing any proccedings in Ontario Superior Court of Justice, Court
File No, CV-13-10280-00CL (Commetoial List), and in such ciroumsiances the Managet
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shall not be obliged to defend or participate on behalf of the Schedule “B” Corporations
and the Manager shall not be liable for any costs, damages or awards related to any such

proceedings,

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

13,

THIS COURT ORDERS that, except as may be provided herein, all rights and remedies
against the Schedule “B” Corporations, the Manager, or affecting the Property, are
hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the Manager or leaye of
this Court, provided however that nothing in this paragraph shall () empower the
Manager or the Schedule “B” Corporations to carry on any business which the Schedule
“B” Corporations is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (i) exempt the Manager or the
Schedule “B” Corporations from compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions
relating to health, safety or the environment, (iil) prevent the filing of any registration to
preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien,

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE MANAGER

14n

THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere
with, 1epudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract,
agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Schedule “B” Corporations,
without wiltten consent of'the Manager or leave of this Court,

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

15,

16,

17’ ’

THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or wiitten agreesments with the
Schedule “B” Corporations or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods
and/or services, inoluding without limitation, all computer software, communication and
other data services, centralized banldng services, payroll services, insurance,
transportation services, utility or other services to the Schedule “B” Cotporations are
heteby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, alteting,
interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required
by the Managet, and that the Manager shall be entitled to the continued use of the
Schedule *“B” Corporations’ current telephone mumbers, facsimile numbers, intetnet
addresses and domain names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for
all such goods or services 1eceived after the date of this Order are paid by the Manager in
accordance with normal payment practices of the Schedule “B” Corporations or such
other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the

Manager, ot as may be ordered by this Coutt,

THIS COURT ORDERS that Respondents are enjolned from canceling or failing to
renew any insurance policies or othet coverage in respeot of to the Rose & Thistle Group
Ltd, and/or the Schedule B Companies or any propetty owned by them, exoept with the

express written approval of the Manager.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Inspector shall be added as a named insured to any
existing insurance policies or other coverage in respect of to the Rose & Thistle Group

Itd. and/or the Schedule B Companies or any property owned by them,



MANAGER TO HOLD FUNDS

18,

THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of
payments received or collected by the Manager from and after the making of this Order
from any source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the
Property and the collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in
existence on the date of this Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall be deposited
into either the existing bank accounts held by Schedule “B” Corporations’ or one or more
new accounts to be opened by the Manager, at the Manager’s discretion, as the Manager
may reasonably decide and the monies standing to the credit of such accounts from time
to time, net of any disbursements provided for herein, shall be held by the Manager to be
paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any further Order of this Coutt.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

19,

THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shell require the Manager to
occupy or to take control, cate, charge, possession or management (separately and/or
collectively, "Possession”) of any of the Property that might be environmentally
contaminated, might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a
spill, discharge, release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or
othet law respecting the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or
rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste or other
contamination including, without limitation, the Canadian Envirormental Protection Act,
the Ontavlo Environmental Protection Act, the Ontaric Water Resources Act, or the
Omntario Occupational Health and Safety Act and regulations thereunder (the
"Environmental Legislation"), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the
Manager from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable
Environmental Legislation. The Manager shall not, as a result of this Order or anything
done in pursuance of the Manager's duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be
in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental .

Legislation,

LIVIITATION ON THE MANAGER’S LIABILITY

20.

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager shall incur no liability or obligation as a result
of its appointment or the catrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for
any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part as so found by a court of competent
Jjurisdiction, The Manager shall further enjoy the protections from lability as would
otherwise be afforded to a trustee in bankruptey under seetion 14.06 of the Bankrupicy
and Insolvency Act or under any other similar legislation applicable to trustees and

receivers,

MANAGYR'S ACCOUNTS

21,

THIS COURT ORDERS that any expenditutes or liability which shall properly be made
or Incurred by the Manager including the fees and disbursements of the Manager and the
Jfees and disbursements of its legal counsel, incutred at the standard rates and charges of




22,

23,

-10.

the Manager and its counsel, shall be allowed to it in passing its accounts and shall form a
first charge on the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts, Hens, charges and
encumbrances, statutory or othetwise, In favour of any Person (the ‘“Manager’s

Charge”),
THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager and its legal counsel, if any, shall pass their

accounts from time to time, and for this putpose the accounts of the Manager and its legal
counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commereial List of the Ontatio Superior

Court of Justice,

THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Manager shall be at
liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands,
against its fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the
normal rates and charges of the Managet or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute
advances against its remuneration and disbursemonts when and as approved by this

Court,

FUNDING OF THE MANAGERSHIP

24,

25,

26,

27

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to
borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it
may consider necessary ot deslrable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does
not exceed $5 _milllon (or such greater amount as this Court may by further Order
authorize) at any tme, at such rate or rates of interest as it deems advisable for such
petiod ot periods of time as it may arrange, for the purpose of funding the exercise of the
powers and dutles conferred upon the Manager by this Order, including interim
expenditures. The whole of the Property shall be and is hereby charged by way of a fixed
and specific charge (the "Manager's Borrowings Charge") as secutity for the payment of
the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges thereon, in priority to all security
interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statytory or otherwise, in favour of any
Person, but subordinate in priority to the Manager’s Charge and the charges as set out in

sections 14,06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Manager's Borrowings Charge nor any other
secutity granted by the Manager in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall

be enforced without leave of this Court,

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates
substantially in the form annexed as Schedule " A" hereto (the "Manager’s Certificates”)

for any amount bortowed by 1t pursuant to this Order,

THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time bortowed by the Manager
putsuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Managet’s
Certificates evidencing the same or any patt thereof shall rank on a pari passu basls,
unless otherwise agreed to by the holders of any prior issued Manager's Certificates,
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GENERAL

28.

29,

30,

31

3%

33,

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Manager may from time to time apply to this
Honourable Court for advice and directions in the discharge of the Manager’s powers and

duties hereunder,

THIS COURT ORDERS, that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Manager from acting
as receiver, inferim receiver or trustee in bankruptoy of the Schedule “B” Companies,

THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS that aid and recognition of any court, tribunal,
regulatory ot administrative’ body having jurigdiction in Canada to give effect 1o this
Order and to assist the Manager and lts agents in carrylng out the terms of this Order. All
courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies ate heteby respectfully requested
to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Manager, as an officer of this
Court, as may be necessary of desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the

Manager and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order,

THIS COURT ORDERS that the Managet be at liberty and is hereby authotized and
empowered to apply to any court, tribunal regulatory or administrative body, whetever
located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of

this Order,
THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to seek the

 advice and ditection of the Comt in respect of this Order or the Managet's activities on

not less than soven (7) days’ notice to the Manager and to any other party likely to be
affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Coutt may order.

THIS COURT ORDERS that any court materials in these proceeds may be served by
emailing a PDF or other electronic copy of such materials to counsels’ email addresses as

recorded on the Setvice List from time to tHime,
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21,
22,
23,
24,
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SCHEDULE “A” COMPANIES

Dr, Bernstein Diet Clinles Lid,
2272551 Ontario Limited

DBDC Investments Atlantic Ltd.
DBDC Investment Pape Ltd, |
DBDC Investments Highway 7 Ltd,
DBDC Investments Trent Ltd,

DBDC Investments St. Clair Ltd.

DBDC Investments Tisdale Ltd.
DBDC Investments Leslie Ltd,
DBDC Investments Lesliebrook Ltd,
DBDC Fraser Properties Ltd, '
DBDC Fraser Lands Ltd,

DBDC Quegn’s Corner Inc,

DBDC Queen’s Plate Holdings Inc,
DBDC Dupont Developments Ltd.
DBDC Red Door Devvelopments Ing,

"DBDC Red Door Lands Ine,

DBDC Global Mills Ltd,

DBDC Donalda Developments Litd,
DBDC Salmon River Properties Lid.
DBDC Cityvi ew Industrial Litd,

DBDC Weston Lands Ltd,

DBDC Double Rése Developments Ltd,
DBDC Skyway Holdings Ltd,



25,
26,
27,
28.
29,

13-

DBDC West Mall Holdings Ltd,
DBDC Royal Gate Holdings Ltd,
DBDC Dewhurst Developments Ltd,
DBDC Eddystone Place Ltd,

DBDC Richmond Row Holdings Litd,




11,
12,
13,
14,
15,
16,
17.
18,
19,
20.
21,
22,
23,
24,

14~

SCHEDULE “B” COMPANIES

\

Twin Dragons Corporation

Bannockburn Lands Ine. / Skyline — 1185 Eglinton Avenue Inc,

Wynford Professional Centre Ltd,
Liberty Village Properties Inc, |
Liberty Village Lands Inc,
Riverdale Mansion Ltd,

Royal Agincourt Cotp,

Hidden Gem Development Inc,
Ascalon Lands Ltd,

Tisdale Mews Inc, °

Lesli\ebrook Holdings Litd,
Lesliebrook Lands Lid.

Fraser Properties Corp,

Fraser Lands Ltd,

Queen’s Corner Cotp,

Northern Dancer Lands Ltd,
Dupont Developments Litd,

Red Door Developments Inc, and Red Door Lands Lid,
Global Mills Ine,

Donalda Developments Lid,
Saimon River Properties Lid,
Cityview Industrial Ltd.

Weston Lands Lid,

Double Rose Developments Lid,



25,
26,
27,
28,
29.
30,
31,
32,

»]5-

Skyway Holdings Ltd,

West Mall Holdings Ltd,
Royal Gate Holdings Ltd,
Dewhutst Developments Ltd,
Eddystone Place Inc,
Richmond Row Holdings Ltd.
El-Ad Limited

165 Bathurst Ine,
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SCHEDULE "C"
MANAGER CERTIFICATE

CERTIFICATE NO.

AMOUNT $

1,

7.

DATED the

THIS IS TO CERTIFY that [MANAGER’S NAME], the Manager (the "Manager") of
the assets, undertakings and propertles [DEBTOR'S NAME] acquired for, or used in
relation to a business camfed on by the Debtor, including all proceeds thereof
(collectively, the “Property”) appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice
(Commercial List) (the "Court") dated the of MONTH, 20YR (the "Order”") made
In an action having Court file number ___ ~CL- , has received as such Manager
from the holder of this certificate (the "Lender") the principal sum of § , being part
of the total principal sum of $____ which the Manager is authorized to borrow under

and pursuant fo the Order,

The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with
interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance onthe
day of each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equal to the rate of

per cent above the prime commercial lending rate of Bank of from tfime fo

time,

Such princlpal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the
principal sums and interest thereon of all other certificates Issued by the Manager
pursuant to the Order or to any further order of the Coutt, a charge upon the whole of the
Property, in priority to the security interests of any other person, but subject to the
priority of the charges set out in the Order and in the Bankruptcy and Insolvency det, and
the right of the Manager to indemnify itself out of such Property in respect of its

remuneration and expenses.

All sums payable In respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at
the main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario,

Until all Hability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating

charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be {ssued by the
Manager to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior written

consent of the holder of this certificate.

The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Manager to deal with
the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorlzed by any further or other order of

the Court,

The Manager does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any
sum in respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order,

day of ,20
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[IMANAGER’S NAME], solely in its capacity
as Manager of the Property, and not in its
petsonal capacity

Pert

Name;
Title!
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CITATION:; DBDC Spadina Ltd, v, Walton, 2014 ONSC 4644
COURT FILE NO,; CV-13-10280-00CI,
DATE: 20140812

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE — ONTARIO

COMMERCIAL LIST

RI:

BEFORE:
COUNSEL:

HEARD:

DBDC Spadina Litd, and Those Corporations Listed on Scheduls A Hereto,
Applicants

AND;

Norma Walton, Ronauld Walton, The Rose & Thistle Group Ltd, and Eglinton
Castle Inc., Respondents
AND:

~

Those Corporations Listed on Schedule B Hereto, To Be Bound by the Result

D, M. Brown J,
P, Griffin and S, Roy, for the Applicants
N, Walton, Respondent in person

H, Cohen, for the remaining Respondents, Ronauld Walton, The Rose & Thistle
Group Ltd, and Eglinton Castle Inc,

M. Dunn and J, LaBine, for Schonfeld Inc., Manager and Inspector
J. Simpson, for Harbour Mortgage

D, Jackson and R, Fisher, for Christine DeJong, Michael DeJong, Chl;lstinc
DeJong Medical Professional Corporation, C2M2S Holding Corp. and DeJong

Homes Inc,

L. Wallach, for the Handelman/Sorga mortgagees

G. Benchetrit, for the Business Development Bank of Canada
D. Michaud, for Equitable Bank

A, Jackson, for Home Trust Company

J, Marshall, for Firm Capital Credit Corp,

July 16, 17 and 18, 2014, with subsequent written submissions filed July 30,2014
by the Apphcants, Respondents and Inspector.
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REASONS FOR DECISION

I Overview of the Motions and Return of Application

[1]  Between September, 2010 and June, 2013, Dr. Bernstein, through his Applicant
companies, invested in a portfolio of 31 properties in Toronto with the Respondents, Norma and
Ronauld Walton. Each property was held by a corporation ~ the “Schedule B Companies” —
jolntly owned by Dr, Bernstein and the Waltons, The Applicants contributed to the Schedule B
Companies $2,568,694 by way of equity, $78,490,801 by way of equity advances converted into
debt, largely shareholder loans, and they advanced $23,340,000 under mortgages.! Dr. Bernstein
advanced mortgage funds against both Schedule B Companies and what the parties have called
“Schedule C Properties”, which were owned by companies — Schedule C Companies — controlled
by the Waltons in which Dr. Bernstein did not haye an ownership Interest.?

[21  These motions by the Applicants and Respondents, and the return of the Applicants’
application, deal with further issves in the on-going litigation between Dr, Bernstein and the
Waltons concerning the need for the Respondents to account for funds, and to be held
accountable for funds, invested by Dr, Bernsteln and his companies with them,

[3]  As well, Christine DeJong Medical Professional Corporation, C2M28 Holding Corp, and
DeJong Homes Inc,, other investors with the Waltons, brought a cross-motion seeking relief in
respect of ohe Schedule C Property, 3270 American Drive, Mississauga,

[4]  Ina separate, handwritten endorsement made at the end of the hearing on July 18, 2014, I
made an [nterim Order restraining any further dealings with the Schedule C Properties in dispute -
until the release of these Reasons,

11, Background

[S]  Dr Bernstein is the founder of diet and health clinics, Norma Walton is a lawyer and co-
founder with her husband, Ronauld Walton, of the Respondent, The Rose and Thistle Group Ltd.
(the “Rose & Thistle”), Called to the Bar in 1995, Ms, Walton was a principal of Walton
Advocates, an in-house law firm providing legal services to the Rose & Thistle group of
companies, By Decision dated May 16, 2014, the Law Society of Upper Canada’s Hearing
Division suspended Ms, Walton’s licence for 18 months starting on July 1, 2014; the Law
Society has appealed that Decision as too lenient,

! Second Repott of the Inspector, Appendix B, James Reitan, the CFO of Dr, Bernstein Diet and Health Clinics, put

the amounts advanced at approximately $78.8 million in equity and $27.6 million in morigages,
* The terms of five of the mortgages have expired and they remain unpald, The terms of the other four mortgages

will explre between July and December, 2014,
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[6] Ronauld Walton is also a lawyer, a principal of Walton Advocates and a co-founder of

Rose & Thistle,

[7]  Newbould J.,, in his Reasons of October 7, 2013 appointing Schonfeld Inc, as Inspector of
the Schedule B Companies,® set out many of the background events to this dispute:

[5] Beginning in 2008, Dr. Bernstein acted as the lender/mortgagee of several
commetcial real estate properties owned by the Waltons either through Rose & Thistle or
through other cotporations of which they are the beneficial owners.

[6] Following several financings, Dr. Bernstein and the Waltons agreed to invest jointly
in vatlous commercial real estate projects, To date, Dr. Bernstein has invested

approximately $110,000,000 into 31 projects..,

[7] Dr, Bernstein and the Waltons entered into separate agreements which provided as

follows:

a,

A new company would be incorporated for each project (the “Ownet
Company"); ‘

Dr. Bernstein (through a company incorporated for this purpose) would
hold 50% of the shares of the Owner Company;

The Waltons (elther directly or through a company incorporated for this
purpose) would hold the other 50% of the shares of the Owner Compaty;

Each of Dr, Bernstein and the Waltons would contribute an equal amount

of equity to each project;

The Waltons would manage, supervise and complete each project for an
additional fee through Rose & Thistle, Rose & Thistle is not a party to the

agreements; .

The Waltons also agreed to be responsible for the finances, bookkeeping,
accounting and filing of tax returns, among other things, of the Owner
Company;

Each Owner Company was to have a separate bank account;

Dr. Bernstein would not be required to play an active role in completing
each project, but his approval would be required for:

39013 ONSC 6251
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i, Any decisions concerning the selling or refinancing of each
ptoperty;

il. Any decisions concerning the increase in the total amount of
equity required to complete each project; and

ili, Any cheque or transfer over $50,000.
The Waltons agreed to provide Dr, Bernstein with;

i, Ongoingreports on at least a monthly basis detailing all items
related to each propeity,

1i, Coples of invoices for work completed each project monthly;
i, Bank statements monthly, and
iv. Listing of all cheques monthly;

Upon sale of a property, Dr, Bernstein and the Waltons would receive
back their capital contribution plus a division of profits; and

The agreements generally provided that Dr, Bernstein and Norma Walton
wete to be the sole directors of the Owner Company,

[8] A review by James Reitan, director of accounting and finance at Dr. Bernstein Diet
and Health Clinics, in the early summer of 2013 and into early September 2013 revealed

that:

a, The Waltons were not making thelr portion of the equity investments into

the properties;
The Waltons appeared to be taking on third party investors in the projects;

The Waltons were engaged in significant related party transactions in
respect of the projects through and using Rose & Thistle;

Dr, Bernstein’s approval was not being sought for any of the matters set
out in subparagraph 7(h) above;

Dr, Bernstein was not receiving any of the required reporting, set out in
subparagraph 7(i) above;

The mortgage payment for August 2013 for 1450 Don Mills did not go to
the mortgagee, Trez Capital, but to Rose & Thistle, No documentation
has been provided to confirm that the payment was made from Rose &
Thistle to Trez Capital, There Is no legitimate purpose for the payment
going through Rose & Thistle;



[8]
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Additional mortgages of $3 million each were placed on 1450 Don Mills
Road and 1500 Don Mills Road on July 31, 2013 and August 1, 2013
respectively, of which Dr, Bermnstein had no knowledge and which he did

not approve;

It appears that there has been extensive co-mingling of the Owner
Companies’ funds with and into the bank accounts of Rose & Thistle;

Rose & Thistle has removed funds from the Owner Companies, which
have been recorded as intercompany amounts owing from Rose & Thistle
to the Owner Companies;

Rose & Thistle has rendered invoices to the Owner Companies, which in
some cases have the effect only of reducing the intercompany amount
owed by Rose & Thistle, for work and setvices that have yet to be

performed;

The Waltons have entered into a series of transactions which have the
result of reversing equity contributions made by them and immediately
removing equity contributions by the Applicants; and

The Owner Companies have inourred significant interest and penalty
charges for late penalties of utilities, without explanation,

[91 On September 20, 2013, Dr, Bersteln appointed Schonfeld Inc, on behalf of the
applicants to gather information related to the Owner Companies, the projects and the
properties, Schonfeld Inc, has not been granted complete access to the documents
(including bank statements, involces and other documentation) related to 22 of 31
projects. Ms, Walton has indicated that she requires a further matter of weeks to make
available the documents for the remainder of the projects,

Most of the Applicants’ equity contributions were advanced directly to Schedule B

Companies, but some were paid to a Walton company, Rose & Thistle, for transfer to a Schedule
B Company, and some were paid directly to a real estate agent for the purpose of acquiring a

Schedule B Property.*

[9]

By order made October 7, 2013, Newbould J, appointed Schonfeld Inc, as Inspector of

the Schedule B Companies pursuant to sectlon 161(2) of the Ontario Business Corporations Act,
R.S.0. 1990, ¢, B,16. In making that appointment, Newbould J, concluded;

[27] In my view, on the record before me Dr, Bernstein has met the test required for an
investigatlon to be ordered. To put on two mortgages for $6 million without the required

1 Aide Memoire to Reply Argument of the Applicants, Schedule E,
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agreement of Dr, Bernstein and then refuse to disclose what happened to the money
except in a without prejudice mediation meets the higher test of oppression, let alone the
lesser test of unfairly disregarding the interests of Dr, Bernstein, The other examples of
the evidence I have referred, as well as the failure to provide monthly reports on the
projects to Dr, Bernstein, are clearly instances of the Waltons unfairly being prejudicial
to and unfairly disregarding the interests of Dr, Bernstein, a 50% shareholder of each of
the owner corporations,

[28] Ms, Walton contends in her affidavit that the appointment of an inspector would
likely preclude the respondents from further discharging their accounting and reporting
functions. I fail to see how this could be the case, and in any event the evidence is clear
that the Waltons have failed to properly provide monthly reports,®

About one month later, on November 5, 2013, Newbould J, granted the Applicants’

request to appoint Schonfeld Inc. as the receiver - or what the parties styled as the Manager - of
the Schedule B Companies, That order was affirmed by the Court of Appeal on May 21, 2014.°
T will return to the November 5 Reasons at various points in this decision, but for purposes of
this background namative I need only highlight the key findings of fact made by Newbould J.

which led him to appoint the Manager;

[46] 1do not see the picture as now being less clear [than on October 7). To the contrary,
it seems much clearer, I have referred to the concerns above in some detail, They include

the following;

1, $2.1 million was improperly taken from the proceeds of the $6 million
mortgages that never had Dy, Bernstein’s approval, $400,000 of which was taken
by Ms, Walton into her personal bank account. Ms, Walton was well aware that
this was wrong. She is a lawyer and the agreements were drawn in her office, Her
initial reaction when confronted about the mortgages by Mr, Reitan, who at the
time did not know what had happened to the mortgage proceeds, that she would
only discuss it in a without prejudice mediation is a clear indication she knew
what she did was wrong and contrary to Dr, Bernstein’s interests.

2. $268,104,57 was improperly paid from the Tisdale Mews account to pay for
renovations to the Waltons’ residence, No reasonable explanation has been

provided,

3. The co-mingling of accounts and the cash sweep into the Rose & Thistle
accounts was g breach of agreement and unfairly prejudicial to Dr, Bernstein and
a disregard of hls interests. This is particularly the case in light of the lack of
current books and records that should have been prepared and available rather

5 Ibid,, patas. 27 and 28,
52014 ONCA 428
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than requiring an Inspector to try to get to the bottom of what has occurred, A
lack of records is in itself unfairly disregarding the interests of Dr, Bernstein,
particularly taken the size of his investment, Blaming it on outdated computer
software is hardly an answer, That should have been taken care of long ago.

4, The frenzied attempts in the past month since the Inspector was appointed to
update ledgers and manufacture invoices should never have been necessary and in
light of the evidence, obviously casts doubt on what is now being done to update
the records, Dr, Bernstein should never have had to face this prejudicial situation,

5. The Waltons have not provided equal payments of money into any of the 31
properties, The claim that their equity was provided by way of set-off for fees and
work, even if that wore permissible under the agreements, is unsupported by any
available documents to the Inspector, What little has been provided raises serious
issues, as discussed above, As well, taking In new equity partners is not at all
what Dr, Bernstein signed up for, and indicative of a lack of ability of the Waltons
to fund their equity in accordance with the agreements.

6, Dr, Bernstein was entitled to monthly reports, It is now quite evident why that
has not occurred,

[47] Mz Camplon contended that a receivet/manager could not be ordered over any
particular property without a finding of oppressive conduct regarding that property. I am
not at all sure that such a proposition in this case is correct, but in any event there has
been oppressive conduct regarding each property. The co-mingling of funds and the
sweep of cash from each property’s account into Rose & Thistle was oppressive in those
citoumstances in which there were no contemporaneous books and records kept that
would permit Dr, Bernstein, or now the Inspector, to fully understand what occurred to
the money from each property, The setting up of alleged fees owing to Rose & Thistle for
the properties to substantiate the Waltons’ equity contributions, even if permlssible,
without readily available documentation to substantiate the validity of the fees, was
oppressive, The lack of records and reports for each property was oppressive.

[48] It is contended on behalf of the respondents that they have the contractual right to
manage the projects and thus no recelver/manager should be appointed, The difficulty
with this argument is that the contracts have been breached and the Waltons have
cettainly not shown themselves to be capable managers, A basic lack of record keeping,
compounded by co-mingling of funds and transferring them to Rose & Thistle, belies any
notion of proper professional management, Ms, Walton acknowledges that accounting
and other issues “have plainly caused him [Dr, Bernstein] to lose confidence in my
management”, That is a fundamental change to the relationship,

[49] It is contended that the business will be harmed if a receiver/manager ts appointed.
Ms, Walton states in her affidavit that she believes that the dynamic nature of this
portfolio will suffer and In the end suffer unnecessary losses, What is meant by the
dynamic nature is not clear. I recognize that a recelver/manager can in certain
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circumstances have negative implications in the marketplace, particularly if it means that
unsold properties will have to be put up for sale at less than market prices or be sold
quickly. There is no indication that is the plan here at all and there is no court ordered

sale being requested,

[117  As of the July hearing of these motions and application, the Manager had sold 12 of the
Schedule B Properties over which 1t had been appointed for purchase prices totaling $127.013
milllon. After the payment of existing mortgages, those sales had netted $18.908 million, As of
July 9, 2014, the total value of the construction liens registered agalnst the sold properties was

$1,228 million,
III,  The positions of the parties and the relief requested

A, The Applicants

[12] Later in these Reasons I shall deal at length with the relief sought by each side. By way
of summary of the issues engaged by these motions, the Applicants advanced the following

positions:

) The Respondents had unjustly enriched themselves by impropetly diverting funds
from the Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle and the Schedule C Companies,
and the diverted funds should be made subject to a constructive trust to be re-
conveyed to the Schedule B Companies. The diverted funds can be traced into the
Schedule C Properties and the Court should declare a constructive trust over 44 Park
Lane Circle and the Schedule C Properties in favour of the Schedule B Companies in

the total amount of $23,6 million;

(i)  The Waltons were fiduciaries of the Schedule B Companies and breached their
fiduclary duty when they diverted the funds, That conduct also was oppressive
conduct and should be remedled by granting the proprietary interest of a constructive
trust in Schedule C Companies/Properties;

(1)  The Waltons’ shares in the Schedule B Companies should be cancelled and any
entitlement to any finds flowing therefrom disallowed; and,

(iv) A damages award in the amount of $78,420,418 should be made in any event agalnst
the Respondents, together wlth certain ancillary relief including the appointment of a
receiver over the property of the Waltons,

B, Norma Walton

[13] Norma Walton advanced three basic positions at the hearing: (I) the Respondents had
accounted-for the monles advanced to them by the Applicants; (if) the jointly-owned Schedule B

i.
i
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Companies actually owed the Waltons’ Rose & Thistle money, not the other way around; and,
(iif) the restrictions placed on the Waltons’ ability to deal with their Schedule C Properties by
previous Court orders should be removed and they should be entitled to sell those properties in
ordet to satisfy the claims of all their creditors and investors, except for Dr, Bernstein,

1V. Structure of these Reasons

[14] At the heart of these motions, cross-motions and return of application le two issues: ()
Did the Waltons use the funds advanced to them by the Applicants as their contracts required?
(i) If they did not, did the Waltons use some ot all of the funds advanced by the Applicants to
their own personal benefit, including the benefit of thelr Schedule C Companies/Properties?

[15] For the reasons set out below, I conclude that the Waltons did not use the funds advanced
to them by the Applicants as their contracts required but, instead, the Waltons mis-used and mis-
appropriated most of the funds advanced to them, diverting some of the funds to their own
personal benefit and the benefit of their Schedule C Companies, I futther conclude that the
Waltons have not provided the full accounting of how they in fact used those funds,
notwithstanding the October 25, 2013 Order of this Court that they do so,

[16] The Inspector conducted an extensive, but not exhaustive, analysis tracing how the
Waltons used the funds advanced to them by the Applicants, The Inspector presented its
findings on the amount of the “net transfer” of funds between the jointly-owned Schedule B
Companies and Rose & Thistle, and the amount of the “net transfer” of funds between Rose &
Thistle and the Walton-owned Schedule C Companies and Properties, Those net transfer
analyses formed the focal point of the arguments by both parties, with the Applicants contending
that the Waltons had not explained the net transfers out of the Schedule B Companies to Rose &
Thistle, and with Norma Walton taking the position that she had, In light of that structure to the
evidence and the parties’ arguments, I plan to review the evidence in the following manner:

) First, I shall examine the evidence about how the funds advanced by the Applicants
were used by the Respondents, in particular the evidence of the “net transfer” of
funds fiom the Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle and the net transfer of funds
from Rose & Thistle to the Schedule C Companies;

(iH Second, I will examine the evidence coneerning the costs of construction actuaily
incurred on behalf of the Schedule B Company projects, focusing on the
Respondents’ contention that the construction fees charged by Rose & Thistie to the
Schedule B Companies wete legitimate and explained much of the apparent net
transfer of funds to Rose & Thistle;

(iif)  Next, I will examine the evidence of the tracing which the Inspector conducted of the
Applicants® funds into Schedule C Companies and Properties; and,
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(iv)  Finally, I will consider the evidence relating to the arguments made by the
Respondents explalning their use of the Applicants’ funds,

V. The use of the Applicants’ funds: the “net transfer” analysis

A. The reports of the Inspector

[17] The Inspector conducted a fracing analysis of some of the funds advanced by the
Applicants to the Schedule B Companies. The scope of its analysis was described in the
Inspector’s Fourth Intetim Report (April 23, 2014), The Inspector ldentified the largest 53
advances by the Applicants to the Schedule B Companies and then examined the activity in the
relevant Schedule B Company bank account Immedlately following each advance. The
Inspector then looked for any contemporaneous transfer of funds from the relevant Schedule B
Company account to the Rose & Thistle bank account and, finaily, examined the Rose & Thistle
bank account to ascettain what activity occurred following the recelpt of the funds transferred in
from the Schedule B Company account, in particular whether there was any contemporaneous
transfer of funds firom the Rose & Thistle account to a Schedule C Company’s account,

[18] In its Fourth Report the Inspector set out the following findings:

In all but two cases reviewed to date, a portion of those funds provided by the Applicants
and deposited to the [Schedule B] Company Accounts were immediately (on the same
day and/or during the next few days) transferred from the relevant Company Account to
the Rose & Thistle account. In the two exceptions, all of the funds provided by the
Applicants to the Company Account were used by the [Schedule B] Company
immediately.

Funds transferred into the Rose & Thistle Account were then used in one or more of the
following ways: (a) transferred to a Walton Account; (b) transferred to other [Schedule
B] Company Accounts; and (c) used to make payments directly out of the Rose & Thistle
Account, The accuracy with which a specific dollar confributed by the Applicants can be
matched to a specific use depends primarily on the opening balance and the level of
activity in the Rose & Thistle Account when the funds were transferred, When funds
contributed to a Company wete transferred into the Rose & Thistle Account, funds were
also transferred into and/or out of the Rose & Thistle Account by or to other Companies
or Walton [Schedule C] Companies, In such cases, it Is possible to trace funds out of the
Rose & Thistle Account into accounts held by the Companies ot the Walton Companies
but it is not possible to match exactly the funds transferred out of the Rose & Thistle
bank account to the funds transferred in as the funds have been co-mingled,

In support of those observations, the Inspector attached as Bxhibit F to its Fourth Report a seties
of flowcharts which summarized the use of funds advanced by the Applicants to various
Schedule B Companies.
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[19] In its Fifth Report dated July 1, 2014, the Inspector repotted that it had continued its
tracing analysls and recorded the following further findings:

The Inspector’s analysis to date supports the following conclusions;

(a) The Respondents directed transfers of $23.6 million (net) from the [Schedule B]
Company Accounts to a bank account belonging to the Rose & Thistle Group Limited
(the “Rose & Thistle Account”) during the period from October 2010 to October
2013. These transfers occurred on a regular and ongolng basis during the period
examined;

(b) During the same period, the Respondents directed transfers of $25.4 million (net)
from the Rose & Thistle Account to companies that they own without the Applicants
(the “Walton Companies” [or Schedule C Companies]), These transfers also occurred
on a regular and ongoing basis during the period examined;

(¢) In almost alf cases, some or gll of the amounts advanced to the Companies by the
Applicants were transferred almost immediately to the Rose & Thistle account;

(d) In seven instances identified by the Inspector, all of the following occurred in a brief
period of time: :

()  funds were transferred from one or more Company Accounts;
(1)  funds were then transferred to a Walton Company; and,
(i)  therelevant Walton Company purchased a property.

Based on the foregoing analysts, and the analysis set out below, the Inspector has concluded
that the Respondents used new equity Invested in, and mortgage amounts advanced to, the
Companies by the Applicants to fund the ongoing operations of other Companies and the
Walton Companles, Almost every time the Applicants advanced funds to one of the
Companies, a significant portion of those funds was transferred to Rose & Thistle. In some
instances, funds could be traced directly into a Walton Company. In other instances, funds
could not be traced directly because the Applicants’ funds were co-mingled with other funds
in the Rose & Thistle Account, However, the Inspector has concluded that the Applicants’
investment in the Companies was 4 major source of funds for the Walton Companies,

The Respondents have sought to justify the movement of funds from the Companies to Rose
& Thistle on the basis that these transfers were payments for services rendered by the
Respondents to the Companies, To date, the Respondents have not provided evidence to
substantiate the majority of the alleged fees and the Inspector has found evidence that is not
consistent with this explanation. In particular;

(a) the transfer of funds observed by the Inspector is more consistent with funds being
taken as needed to fund obligations in the other Companies and the Walton
Companies than funds being taken as payment for services rendered. In some cases,
funds were transferred by Companies immediately after those companies acquired
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Propetties and/or invoices were rendered for the exact amount transferred from a
particular Company during the preceding period;

(b) there is no evidence that the Respondents possessed sufficient funds to pay for both
the constryction activity that they alleged to have carried out and the transfers
observed to the Walton Companies; and,

(c) in some cases funds have been transferred from Companies, and the Respondents
have delivered invoices for construction work, where little or no work had been done
on the relevant Property, Moreover, the various Companies owned Propetties in
different stages of construction and development but none of the Companies retained
any substantial cash reserve from the Applicants’ initial investment to fund future
construction costs,

[20] In her Factum Ms, Walton accepted the Inspector’s finding that the net amount of
$23,680,852 had been transferred by the Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle.,’

[21] However, Ms, Walton disputed the Inspector’s view that the Respondents lacked
sufficient funds to pay for both the construction activity they alleged they carried out and the
transfers observed to the Schedule C Companies, Ms, Walton deposed that every dollar
transferred from the Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle was for legitimate work
completed and amounts owed to it. As well, Ms, Walton took the position that Schedule B
Companies currently owed the Rose & Thistle additional sums for services rendered, but not yet
paid, In its Supplement to its Fifth Report the Inspector responded:

In general terms, the Inspector agrees that construction and development work occurred
at the properties identified by Ms, Walton, The Inspector has never asserted that Rose &
Thistle did not perform any construction or development work, The Inspector is of the
view, however, that Rose & Thistle has failled to provide documents to substantiate a
level of construction and development work commensurate with the funds transferred to
it from the Companies, In the Inspector’s view, construction and development work on
the scale alleged by the Respondents would be supported by a significant volume of
relevant records including invoices from subcontractors, consultants and suppliers,
timesheets, payroll records, progress draws and other similar documents, The supporting
documents are (with limited exceptions) notably absent from the materials provided to
the Inspector and the court. ..

B. The Froese Forensics limited critique report

[22]  Ms, Walton retained Mr, Ken Froese, of Froese Forensic Partners (“Froese”), to prepare a
response to the first Four Reports of the Inspector, Froese prepared a Forensle Accounting

" Factum of the Respondent Norma Walton, para, 49,
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Report dated June 25, 2014 in the nature of a limited critique report, That report did not contain
a statement of the expert’s qualifications as required by Rule 53.03(2,1)(2) of the Rules of Civil
Procedure.®  An acknowledgment of expert’s duty form was filed only when Ms, Walton filed
her reply factum, Although Froese did not swear an affidavit through which to tender his report,
thereby rendering the report hearsay, in the result the Applicants cross-examined him on his
report, Under those circumstances, I am prepared to overlook those deficiencies in the Froese
Report, and I will accept it as an expert’s report properly tendered under Rule 53.03,

[23] The first area dealt with by Froese concerned the tracing analysis performed by the
Inspector, Froese had written to the Inspector on May 30, 2014 requesting certain information.
The Inspector met with Froese on June 3 and 10, 2014, Froese made the following observations
about the Inspector’s tracing analysis:

(a) Although the Inspector stated that the tracing analysis was based on the 53 largest
advances by the Applicants, Froese identified four other mortgage advances made by the

Applicants which were larger in amount;

(b) In respect of the 53 advances traced by the Inspector, Froese stated that $35.2 million of
the $55.8 million was transferred from Schedule B Companies to the Rose & Thistle
Account; “Our conclusion in reviewing the Inspector’s tracing of the 53 Advances is that
many of the advances are co-mingled in the Rose & Thistle clearing account and thus
cannot be directly traced to Schedule C Companies”;

"(¢) The net transfer from Rose & Thistle to Walton-owned Schedule C Companies identified
by the Inspector as amounting to $25,464,492 should be reduced by $1 million to take
into account certain unrecorded deposits;

(d) The net amount owing from Schedule C Companies to Rose & Thistle does not represent
a divect tracing of the Applicants’ funds to Schedule C Companies or an amount owing
by Schedule C Companies to Schedule B Companies,

[24]  Froese’s general conclusion about the Inspector’s tracing analysis was as follows:

Although we concluded that there are very few examples of a direct tracing of advances fiom
Dr, Bernstein to Schedule B Companies that traced to the Rose & Thistle clearing account
and then to Schedule C Companies without co-mingling with other sources of funds, this
does not negate the fact that, over dll, net funds flowed to Schedule C Companies fiom Rose
& Thistle, and that net funds flowed to Rose & Thistle from Schedule B Companles. Rathet,

8 M, Froese’s CV and retalner letters were produced and marked as exhibits on his July 8, 2014 cross-examination,
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in our view it means that each Schedule C Company needs to be evaluated from the
perspective of}

1) thetracing analysis performed by the Inspector, in conjunction with our comments on
the tracing for particular advances; and,

2) the overall net transfer position of each Schedule C Company, as reflected in the net
transfers schedule prepared by the Inspector, as adjusted for additional relevant

information, (emphasis added)

Froese commented specifically on the inspector’s fracing analysis for seven of the propetties
owned by Schedule C Companies, Froese did not offer any other analysis of the overall net
transfer position of each Schedule C (‘ompany, no doubt because he was not asked to do so by

the Respondents as part of his retainer.

[25] Froese also commented on the accuracy of the overall cash transfer analysis performed
by the Inspector found in Appendix B to the Inspector’s Fourth Report, Froese stated:

The Inspectot’s Cash Transfer Analysis includes transactions from September 1, 2010 to
December 31, 2013 for Schedule C Companies and from October 1, 2010 to December
31, 2013 for Schedule B Companies, It Is a helpful analysis in that it provides an overall
perspective on net transfers between these periods, and on amounts potentially owing
Jirom Schedule C Companies to Rose & Thistle,

We have the following comments on the Inspector’s Cash Transfer Analysis:

1)

2)

3)

The Cash Transfer Analysis does not include all transactions between Rose &
Thistle and the Schedule B and C Companies, such as proceeds on sale or
refinancing of a property whete funds are deposited directly to the Rose & Thistle
clearing account from a source other than a bank transfer, For example, $341,189
was deposited to Rose & Thistle in relation to 620 Richmond Street, a property
we understand was beneficially owned by Richmond Row Holdings, a Schedule B

Company;

Some deposits are not included in the Cash Transfer Analysis, including $909,950
of deposits to Rose & Thistle from Norma Walton (see Schedule 2); and,

There may be other transactions relevant to evaluating amounts owing between
the Schedule C Companies and Rose & Thistle, such as unpaid costs for services
provided between the companies.

As we have not reconciled Rose & Thistle’s bank account to the Cash Transfer Analysis,
there may be deposits or transfers that are missing or mis-categorized in the analysis,
(emphasis added)

Prosumably Froese did not perform such a reconciliation because the Respondents did not ask
hira to as part of the retainer, Froese testified that in preparing his report he received no audited
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financial statements or any form of prepared financlal statements for the Schedule B Companies,
Rose & Thistle or the Schedule C Companies,

[26] In the Supplement to its Fifth Report (July 9, 2014) the Inspector commented on this
portion of the Froese Report;

The Inspector and Froese both acknowledged that, in some cases, funds could be traced
directly from the [Schedule B] Companies to the Walton [Schedule C]Compantes, The
Inspector and Froese also agreed that, on a net basis, there was a transfer of $23.8 milllon
from the Companigs to Rose & Thistle and a transfer of more than $25 million from Rose
& Thistle to the Walton Companies,

Some transfers are possible to trace to specific funds (as is evidenced numerous times in
the tracing of specific amounts to Walton Company property acquisitions which is
acknowledged in the Froese Repott) and some are not,

In all, Froese and the Inspector agree that some funds can be traced directly from the
Companies to the Walton Companies immediately before the Walton Companies
purchased a Property, Froese asserts that the amount that can be fraced into some Walton

Companles is lower than the Inspector. ..

The Inspector also commented;

Froese states that the $23.8 milllon does not represent a direct tracing to Walton
Companies from Companies, but does not offer an expianation as to where else the
Walton Companies received funds from, except in a few instances, This is generally
consistent wlth the Inspector’s analysis,

C. Disputes over the transfers in and out of specific Schedule B Companies

C1 Certain transfers

[27] Froese commented on the Inspector’s treatment of several advances (or groups of
advances) on which the Inspector did not offer a specific response:

(a) Froese acknowledged that an $808,250 mortgage advance from Dr, Bernsteln to Tisdale
was transferred to the Rose & Thistle clearlng account, but contended that because this
transfer predated the agreement between Bernstein and the Waltons for that company, it
should not be treated as a transfer from a Schedule B Company to Rose & Thistle;

(b) Although Froese acknowledged that 15 mottgage advances involved funds transferred
fiom a Schedule B Company to Rose & Thistle which were co-mingled with other funds,
Froese observed that 13 of the advances related to mortgagess which subsequently were

fully repaid;
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(¢) With respect to Dr, Bemstein funds deposited to Liberty Village and Queen’s Corner
which Froese acknowledged were transferred to Rose & Thistle, Froese stated that there
was substantially more co-mingling between Schedule B and Schedule C Companies than
disclosed in the Inspector’s analysis or, in the case of Queen’s Corner, the advances did
not trace to Schedule C Companies,

“C2 Twin Dragons (241 Spadina)

[28] In its analysis the Inspector traced $251,350 of an October 18, 2010 Applicants’ advance
of $1,120,500 from Twin Dragons — the Schedule B Company which owned 241 Spadina - to
Rose & Thistle over the period October 25 to 29, 2010, The Inspector also commented that
transfers into the Rose & Thistle account from Schedule C Companies during that period
amounted to $32,050, while transfers out to Schedule C Companies amounted to $114,780,

[29] Froese stated that the Inspector’s analysis did not include transfers in the same time frame
from Rose & Thistle back to a second Twin Dragons bank account and deposits of non-Bernstein
funds to Twin Dragons, Froese stated that transfers to/from Twin Dragons and Rose & Thistle in
the five-day period under review netted to $350, or “essentlially that almost none of the funds

traced to a Schedule C Company.”

[30] In its report the Inspector made two comments in response to the Froese analysis, First,
the Inspector stated: '

Regarding Twin Dragons (Chart 1 of Appendix F) the $1,120,500 provided by the
Applicants and deposited to the Twin Dragons bank account on October 18, 2010, most
of the funds appear to have been used to close the acquisition of the Property, However,
an amount of $150,000 from these funds was transferred from the Twin Dragons bank
account to the Rose & Thistle bank account and was used to fund a cheque to Pointmark
Real Bstate in the amount of $150,000, According to Froese, this cheque relates to a
deposit on the Property at 18 Wynford, which is owned by Wynford Professional Center
Limited (one of the [Schedule B] Companies). The Inspector agrees with this aspect of
the Froese analysis. (emphasis added) ‘

Accordingly, this was an instance where funds advanced by the Applicants to one Schedule B
Company for its use were diverted by the Waltons to another Schedule B Company in breach of
the Waltons® agreements with Dr, Bernstein,

[31] The second comment of the Inspector concerned the Froese observations made in a chart
he provided to the Inspector that third parties had deposited share subscription amounts into a
second T'win Dragons bank account between October 27 and 29, 2010,  On September 24, 2010
Dr, Bernsteln Diet Clinics Ltd, entered into an agreement with the Waltons and Twin Dragons
Corporation in respect of the intended purchase and development of 241 Spadina Avenue,
Toronto, That agreement stipulated that the ownership of Twin Dragons would be 50% to Dr,
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Bermnstein and 50% to Ron and Norma Walton, Section 13 stated: “The only shares to be issued
. in the company will be as set out above, and neither party may transfer his or her shares to
another party without the consent of all the other parties, which consent may be unreasonably
withheld,” As can be seen, the agreement contemplated that there would be no third party

investors In the Schedule B Company or Property,

[32] Froese provided the Inspector with a ¢hart which recorded share subscriptions totaling
$250,000 received on October 27 and 29, 2010, from third parties - Teresa and Joe Memme and
Duncan Coopland.” The Inspector filed copies of the cheques for both investments: one was
dated October 26 and the other October 27, 2010. Both were made out to Twin Dragons
Corporatlon, Both were dated approximately one month gffer Dr. Bernsteln had concluded his
agreement with the Waltons In respect of Twin Dragons,

[33] Froese testified that he subsequently realized that the third party investors had been
removed from Twin Dragons, and he corrected his analysis on that point,'?

[34] Back on June 7, 2013, Mr, Reitan, on behalf of the Applicants, had written to Norma
Walton complaining that the records dlsclosed third-party equity contributlons info Twin
Dragons following the execution of the agreement with Bernstein. Ms, Walton responded on
June 13, 2013 with a very aggressive letter in which she stated:

We do not have outside investors in the propetties we jolntly owned with Dr. Bernstein,
As Mario explained, before Dr. Bernstein became a 50% owner of Spadina and Highway
7, we had attracted investment from third parties, The moment he became an investor,
we shifted all of those responsibilities over to the Rose & Thistle Group Ltd. and that Is

whete they currently remain. .,

[35] That was not an accurate statement by Ms. Walton, As noted, both the Memmes and
Coopland wrote share subscription cheques to Twin Dragons one month gffer the execution of
the agreement with the Applicants, One can only conclude that they did so at the directlon of
Norma Walton, In its Fifth Report the Inspector stated:

The contract between the Applicants and the Respondents prohibits any third party
investors In Twin Dragons and the Respondents assert that the third-party investments
were deposited nto the Twin Dragons bank account in error

° Both appear on Appendix “B” to these Reasons.
" Transoript of the cross-examination of Ken Froese conducted July 8, 2014, QQ. 111-112,
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In all, the documents reviewed and accounting treatment of the foregoing investments is
not consistent with an erroneous investment in the wrong company as alleged by Ms,

Walton,

[36] 1 accept that analysis by the Inspector. The statement made by Ms, Walton in her June
13, 2013 letter to Reitan regarding third party investors in Twin Dragons was not only
tnaccurate, it was misleading,

C2 Bannockburn Lands Inc, (1185 Eglinton Avenue Tast)

[37] Froese stated that the Inspector’s analysis of the tracing of a mortgage advance to
Bannockburn Lands Inc, — the Schedule B Company which owned 1185 Eglinton Avenue East -
omitted a deposit on March 28, 2011 into the Rose & Thistle clearing account from a Schedule C
Company, 1780355 Ontatio Inc.: “Accordingly, there was more co-mingling between Schedule
B and Schedule C Companies than disclosed in the Inspector’s analysis,”

[38] In its Fifth Report the Inspector provided a detailed response to the comments made by
Froese, The Inspector reported that after Froese had raised questions concerning Bannockburn,
the Inspector conducted a further review of the banking and accounting records of Bannockburn
and Rose & Thistle, The Inspector made the following points:

(8) In dealing with Froese’s questioning of how the Inspector could be certain that the funds
transferred to Rose & Thistle were the Applicants’ funds, the Inspector stated;

Froese indicated that their review had identified another mortgage as part of the
Bannockburn transaction and suggested that the mortgage could have possibly
been g source of funds for the transfer, However, this is not correct, As is set out
below, the mortgage in question is a vendor take-back mortgage and no funds

were advanced;

(b) The Inspector reported that the Applicants had advanced their funds for the property by a
cheque made payable to the Waltons’ law firm, Walton Advocates, After dealing with
closing adjustments on the acquisition of the Eglinton Avenue property, Walton
Advocates transferred a net amount of $628,630.52 to Rose & Thistle on December 17,

2010. The Inspector stated:

As the mortgage referred to on the closing adjustments schedule was a vendor
take-back mortgage, no cash was provided from this mortgage, Therefore, the
funds of $628,630 transferred from Walton Advocates to Rose & Thistle can be
directly traced to funds provided by the Applicants and this is consistent with the
recording of the transaction in the accounting records of Bannockburn,
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On cross-examination Froese agreed with that analysis by the Inspector;"’

(c) Although a few weeks followlng the acquisltion of the property Rose & Thistle rendered
an {nvoice to Bannockburn for “work completed” in respect of the property, the Inspector
observed that the quantum of the Invoice exactly matched the “excess” cash provided by
the Applicants not required on closing In the amount of $628,632.52. The Inspector

stated:

It appears, therefore, that the amounts on the lnvoice were calculated based on
eliminating the intercompany receivable account between Bannockburn and Rose
& Thistle which arose largely because of the cash transfers made from
Bannockburn to Rose & Thistle.

(d) The Inspector stated that “a major use of funds by Rose & Thistle around the time of the
$628,630 transfer from Walton Advocates was for payments to 364808 Ontarlo Ltd,
totaling $484,349”, 364808 Ontario was a Walton-owned Schedule C Company which
owned a Davenport Road property purchased on July 5, 2002 by Norma and Ron Walton,
Based upon the Inspector’s review of the small balance in the Rose & Thistle bank
account prior to the transfer from Walton Advocates, the Inspector concluded that “the
Applicants’ funds can be traced through to Rose & Thistle and were used to fund these

payments to this Walton Company,”
D, Summary of conclusions on the “net transfer” analysis

[39] The evidence set out above disclosed a substantial agreement between the Inspector and
Froese on the overall amounts of the net transfers from (1) Schedule B Companies to Rose &
Thistle and (ii) from Rose & Thistle to Schedule C Companies. The analysis performed by the
Inspector was more comprehensive than the limited oritique Froese was retained to perform,
Both the Inspector (in respect of Twin Dragons) and Froese (in respect of Bannockburn)
accepted certain criticisms made by the other of aspects of their respective analysis, On balance,
I do not regard the specific critiques made by Froese to alter, in a materlal way, the findings
made by the Inspector on the quantum of the net transfers, Consequently, I make the following
findings of fact about the “net transfer” analysis of the movement of funds from Schedule B
Companles to Rose & Thistle and from Rose & Thistle to Schedule C Companies:

) The Waltons directed the transfer of $23.6 million (net) from the Schedule B
Company Accounts to a bank account belonging to Rose & Thistle during the period
from October 2010 to October 2013;

" Ihid., QQ. 137-144,
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(i)  During the same period, the Waltons directed transfers of $25.4 million (net) from the
Rose & Thistle Account to companies that they owned without the Applicants — the
Schedule C Companies; and,

(ii)  In almost all cases, some or all of the amounts advanced to the Schedule B
Companies by the Applicants were transferred almost immediately to the Rose &
Thistle Account,

I further find that those transfers of funds from Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle
constituted breaches of the agreements between the Applicants and the Respondents which
required that each Schedule B Company, and the funds advanced to it, be used only to purchase,
renovate and refinance the specific property owned by the Schedule B Company.

[40] Froese opined that the co-mingling of Schedule B Company funds and other funds in the
Rose & Thistle account prevented, in most cases, the tracing of the Applicants’ funds through
Schedule B Companies to Schedule C Companies, For reasons which T will discuss in Section
VI below, 1 do not accept Froese's opinion on that point, I also accept the point made by the
Ingpector that Froese did not offer an explanation of where the Waltons® Schedule C Companies
otherwise sourced their funds, no doubt because he was not retalned to express such an opinion,
However, as will be discussed later in these Reasons, Ms. Walton has not provided a satisfactory

answer to that most basic of questions,
V. Issues concerning the use of funds for Schedule B Properties

[41] From the evidence filed there is no doubt that the Respondents caused funds, including
funds advanced by the Applicants, to be used to develop, renovate or construct several of the
Schedule B Properties. The question raised by the evidence was: how much did the Respondents
spend in the way of legitimate costs on the Schedule B Properties? As I will explain below, the
Respondents have never provided a satisfactory answer to that question, notwithstanding an
October, 2013 Order of this Court that they do so, Although the Respondents contended that a
significant part of the funds advanced by the Applicants were used to pay invoices rendered by
Rose & Thistle to Schedule B Companies for legitimate construction costs, as the following
review of the evidence will disclose the Respondents have not provided conerete evidence to
support the validity of the construction costs billed by Rose & Thistle despite repeated requests

by the Inspector,
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A, The invoices for construction costs and management fees charged by Rose & Thistle to
Schedule B Companies

Al Overview

[42] The Respondents relied heavily on invoices rendered by Rose & Thistle to the Schedule
B Companies to provide an explanation for $12,264,158'% of the $23.680 million net transfer of
funds from the Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle, In her April 28, 2014 affidavit Ms.

Walton deposed;

Inmy opinjon, the only basis upon which the Applicants can advance a claim against my
non-Bernstein assets is if I am unable to back up the invoices Rose and Thistle charged to

the joint portfolio.

Because of the centrality of those involces to the Respondents’ defence, 1 intend to spend some
time reviewing how this issue has unfolded since October, 2013,

[43] From the early stages of this proceeding the Inspector expressed concern that the Rose &
Thistle invoices were not rendered on a regular basis and, instead, a significant number of
invoices had been rendered just prior to and following its appointment, In his November 5
Reasons Newbould J. commented;

The frenzied attempts in the past month since the Inspector Was appointed to update
ledgers and manufacture invoices should never have been necessaty and in light of the
- evidence, obviously casts doubt on what is now being done to update the records,

In het Factum Ms, Walton acknowledged, in her own way, the fiailty of the Rose & Thistle
invoices;

When the Inspector was appointed by the court, Walton was forced to rush through a
number of invoices for work Rose and Thistle had performed for the Schedule B
properties and the joint portfolio. As a result of the rush to account for all the work
provided to the joint portfolio, Walton is not sure that all work done has been invoiced
and Walton made mistakes in some of the invoices provided,

2 $8,500,853 by way of involced constructlon work; $1,183,013 for property management fees; and $2,580,292 in
the way ofproperty maintenance fees,
1 Walton Factum, para. 96,
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A2  The failure of the Respondents to provide back-up documentation for the Rose &
Thistle invoices

[44] Before reviewing the evidence concerning the Inspector’s efforts to secure back-up
documentation for the invoices rendered by Rose & Thistle to the Schedule B Companies,
mention should be made of the Inspector’s comments on the state of the accounting system
maintained by the Respondents for their construction projects, In its First Report (October 21,
2013), the Inspector stated: '

Ms, Walton has advised the Inspector that the books and records of the Companies are
not current, Ms, Walton also advised the Inspector that, before her recent attempt to
update the books and records of the Companies, they were last brought current in 2011,

The Inspector understands that Ms, Walton and Rose & Thistle have been working to
bring the Companies’ books and records up to date. As part of this process, Rose &
Thistle has been inputting expense information into the ledgers in or around August and
September 2013 relating to the period between January 2012 and Auvgust 2013. Rose &
Thistle has also Issued a number of invoices dated August and September 2013 for
setvices tendered or expenses incurred by Rose & Thistle during the perfod from January
2012 to August 2013,

In this regard, the Inspector notes that the Companies’ books and records are kept using
QuickBooks accounting software, QuickBooks is a baslc accounting package that 1s
primarily marketed to small businesses. The Companies do not have any:

(a) comprehensive financial accounting and reporting system,
(b) cash flow forecasting, budgeting or reporting system; or,
“(¢) systematic cash controls,

Prior to the October 17 all-hands meeting hosted by the Inspector, Ms, Walton would
only provide the Inspector with access to general ledgers for individual Companies once
she and Rose & Thistle had completed their exercise of updating the ledger and issuing
invoices from Rose & Thistle to such Company, At the October 17 meeting, Ms, Walton
agreed to provide the Inspector with access to the ledgers for the remaining 11
Companies in their current state, That evening, the Inspector was provided with access fo
seven of the remaining 11 ledgers,

[45] Turning then to the issue of the Rose & Thistle invoices to Schedule B Companies, as
early as October 21, 2013 - the date of the Inspector’s First Report - the Respondents had
provided invoices issued by Rose & Thistle to 27 of the Schedule B Companies for which the
general ledgers had been provided for an aggregate amount in excess of $32 million, At that
time the Inspector requested “back-up documentation for the Rose & Thistle inyoices that have
been provided to date”, The Inspector stated:
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The Inspector has requested, but not yet recelved, documentation to substantiate the
invoiced amounts, Once these documents are provided, further due diligence is required
to confirm that the involces from Rose & Thistle relate to services provided to, or
expenses incurred on behalf of, the [Schedule B] Companies,

By October 24, 2013, the Inspector was reporting that the amount of the involces rendered by
Rose & Thistle to the Schedule B Companies had risen to $34.6 million, or $10.6 million more
than Rose & Thistle had received from the Schedule B Companies,

[46] Inits First Report the Inspector gave an example of the difficultles it was encountering in
securing from the Respondents documents to support the invoices rendered by Rose & Thistle to
Schedule B Companies, The property at 458 Pape Avenue was owned by Riverdale Mansion
Ine. Rose & Thistle provided the Inspector with invoices addressed to Riverdale for construction
management fees of slightly more than $1,18 million for expenses which included “deposits for
matetiais”, “project management services”, “site plan deposits and applications”, and “steel rebar
ordered and installed”, When the Inspector asked for documentation, including third patty
invoices, to support the amounts invoiced:

Ms, Walton advised the Inspector that Rose & Thistle did not have third-party invoices
for many of the invoiced expenses because Rose & Thistle performed much of the worl
itself and some of the expenses have not yet been incurred. In response, the Inspector
requested that documents, such as material invoices and payroll records, be provided to
validate the cost of work performed by Rose & Thistle and invoiced to Riverdale, As of
the date of this repott, no such documentation has been provided.

On October 18, 2013, the Inspector received a Credit Note from Rose & Thistle which
showed that the invoice to Riverdale had been reversed except for $257,065.62 charged
for worlk performed in 2011,

[47] Subsequent reports of the Inspector disclosed not only the continuing difficulties in
- obtaining backup documentation to support the amounts claimed in the Rose & Thistle invoices,
but also questioned the accuracy of the invoices, For example, in the Inspector’s Second Report
(October 31, 2013), it reported that it had been provided with an involice issued by Rose &
Thistle to Dupont Developments Ltd, (1485 Dupont Street) which included an entry for
construction management services in the amount of $175,300,30. The involce stated that the
construction management fee was “10% of hard costs”, From that the Inspector reasonably
assumed that Rose & Thistle had supervised construction which had cost approximately $1,75
million, However, Rose & Thistle staff provided the Inspector with project budgets that
indicated Dupont Developments had spent only $385,000 on construction, The Inspector

reported:

The Inspector also received a general ledger for Dupont Developments on October 24,
2013, The general ledger shows capitalized expenses of approximately $248,000,
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construction in progress of $36,000 and various consulting fees of approximately
$563,000,

Based on the foregoing, it appears that Dupont Developments’ construction budget
(which is out of date), its general ledger (which was updated before being provided to the
Inspector) and invoice from Rose & Thistle all show different construction expenditures

in respect of the Dupont Project,

It also does not appear that Rose & Thistle is maintaining project budgets on an ongoing
basis to track expenses and measure construction costs against the pro forma statement
prepared when the property at 1485 Dupont was purchased.

The difficulties encounteted in obtalning proper accounting information from the

Respondents were exemplified by the correspondence from the Respondent’s former counsel,
John Camplon, to Applicant’s counsel on October 31, 2013, in response to a request for
“information about an accounting”, On behalf of his client Mr, Campion responded: “I do not
know what that reference Is meant to encompass,” Based no doubt on information provided by
hig clients, Mr, Camplon wrote:

[49]

The Inspector has stated that they have not been provided with third-party invoices,
contracts, payroll records or other contemporaneous documents. My client instructs me
that other than the budgets that are being provided by Ms, Liu over the next three days,
she is not aware of any request made that has not been fulfilled, as best it can be,

The Inspector keeps asking which filing cabinets he can review to obtain this
information, The information he seeks can only be obtained through discussions with the
staff mentioned above as all documentation is on computer and not contained in a filing

cabinet,

As a result of the above, we believe that the Inspector has been given the kind of access
to the Rose and Thistle documents that is available and reasonable under the order of
Justice Newbould, Without wishing to criticize the Inspector, I am informed that he
expects to have “physical copies of documents produced to him from a filing cabinet”.
This is not the way that Rose and Thistle stores its information, Upon request being made
in an orderly manner, the Inspector has and will recelve information and documentation
as soon as it can be retrieved and ordeted in a manner that meets his request,

Again, no doubt based upon information provided by his clients, Mr, Campion wrote:

The Inspector has also met with Yvonne Liu, Project Manager, Construction and has
provided to them information that has been requested, along with one construction
budget, She is sending fo the Inspector over the next three days all remaining budgets,
The Inspector has spoken with and met with Mario Buccl, CFO of the Rose and Thistle
Group, and Mr, Bucci has provided to the Inspector all information requested. Ms,
Walton has offered to the Inspector to arrange a meeting with Carlos Carreiro, former
Director of Construction of Rose and Thistle but the Inspector has not done so, Steve
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Williams, VP of Operations as also met with the Inspector and provided what the
Inspector requested,

[50] As will be seen from the subsequent reports of the Inspector which ate set out below, the
Inspector never received the information it requested. As the Inspector stated in the Supplement
to its Fifth Report (July 9, 2014): “Neither construction budgets nor any significant volume of
third-party documentation has been provided to the Inspector.”

[51] The Inspector submitted its Third Report on January 15, 2014 in which it dealt at some
length with the issue of the Rose & Thistle invoices:

The Inspector previously reported that Rose & Thistle Group Ltd, (Rose & Thistle)
transferred approximately $24.2 millon (net) from the Schedule B Companies to {tself
between September 2010 and October 2013, In support of these transactions, Rose &
Thistle provided the Inspector invoices totaling approximately $30.6 million (plus HST)
for management foes, maintenance fees and construction and project management, The
Inspector’s current analysls of these billings is outlined below,

Construction and project management billings [

Of the total $30.6 million charged by Rose & Thistle, approximately $27.6 million was
purportedly charged for construction supervision, project management and other project L
costs. Included in this amount is $6.6 million that is explained below in the “contributed I
equity” section, leaving support required for $21 milllon, Despite the Inspector’s
request, Rose & Thistle has still not provided evidence to support these billings.
Therefore, the Inspector is still unable to comment on the validity of these billings at this

time,

As Rose & Thistle has yet to provide evidence fo substantiate more than $20 million of
billings for construction and project refated costs, the Inspector is expanding its work to
include an analysis of funds transferred from Rose & Thistle to other non-Schedule B
companies where those funds appear to have initially originated from Schedule B
companies, This Inspector will report on this work as soon as it is able to do so,

Management fees

Rose & Thistle charged a management fee to Schedule B Companies based upon 4% of ;
the gross revenues of individual properties that generated revenue, The agreements
between the Applicant and the Respondents do not speclfically state that the fee is to be )
charged. However, the agreements generally state that Walton (as defined in each
agreement) Is responsible for managing the propertles, including all finance,
bookkeeping, office administration, accounting, information technology provision. The
Inspector has no comment on the legal {ssue of whether Rose & Thistle Is entitled to
charge for those services under the terms of the various agreements as they may be duly
interpreted. The Inspecior is of the opinion that a fee of 4% is a reasonable amount and is
consistent with rates charged in the marketplace for similar services, Further, the
Inspector worked with Rose & Thistle to reconcile the management fees charged on
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revenue producing properties, These fees amount to approximately 81 million in the
aggregate,

Maintenance fees

Rose & Thistle charged maintenance fees to the Schedule B companies based upon a
fixed monthly amount per property. This fee is purportedly charged to reimburse Rose &
Thistle for the cost of providing maintenance employees to certain of the properties, The
Inspector has no comment on the legal issue of whether Rose & Thistle is entitled to levy
these charges under the terms of the various agreements as they may be duly interpreted,
The Inspector is of the view that it can be appropriate for a redl estate managenent
service provider to seek reimbursement for costs that are not covered under its
management fees when utllizing outside property management. However, the Inspector
has not been able to verify or reconcile records of the fees charged to costs actually
Incurred by Rose & Thistle or for any set markup on such costs, These fees amount to
approximately $2 million in the aggregate. (emphasis added)

In its Fourth Report (April 23, 2014), the Inspector stated that Rose & Thistle had

withdrawn some of the invoices which made up its original $30.6 million claim against the
Schedule B Companies, and now was alleging that it had invoiced those companies for
$27,292,722. The Inspector repotted that as a result of the failure of Rose & Thistle to provide
evldence to support the majority of those billings, it had expanded its work to include an analysis
of the funds transferred from Rose & Thistle to bank accounts controlled by the Waltons (the

“Walton Accounts”), The Inspector reported;

On February 21, 2014, counsel to the Inspector circulated a document prepared by the
Inspector outlining the Inspector’s analysis of funds flowing to and from the [Schedule
B] Company Accounts to the Rose & Thistle Account and from the Rose & Thistle

Account to the Walton Accounts,

The spreadsheet, which is referred to below as the “Cash Transfer Analysis”, was
circulated subject to the limitations noted in counsel’s email.,.A summary version of the
Cash Transfer Analysis, which shows the total amounts transferred to and from the Rose
& Thistle Account to each Company Account and each Walton Account is attached as

Appendix “B”,

Neither the Applicants nor the Respondents have challenged the accuracy of the Cash
Transfer Analysis,, . .

In all, Rose & Thistle received approximately $23,6 million more from the [Schedule B]
Companies than it transferred to the Companies. .,

... In total, the Walton Accounts received transfers totaling $64,712,258 from the Rose &
Thistle account and transferred $39,247,766 to the Rose & Thistle account during the
period examined, The Walton Accounts received a net transfer of $25,464,492 from Rose
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& Thistle, That is, Rose & Thistle transferred approximately $25 million more to the
Waiton Accounts than it received from the Walton Accounts during the period examined,

By the time of its Fifth Report (July 1, 2014) the Inspector was still reporting the fallure

by the Respondents to provide approprlate backup documentation for the Rose & Thistle
construction expense invoices;

A3

The Inspector’s analysis is impaired by the fact that the Respondents have not provided
back-up documentation, including third party invoices, proof of payment and progress
draws relating to the majority of the alleged construction expenses. Accordingly, the
Inspector cannot perform a detalled reconciliation of the alleged construction expenses
1o the cash transfers to determine whether these transfers related to construction work
that had been performed The Respondents have instead provided reports from third-
party quantity surveyors which wiil be addressed in a supplemental report.

Rose & Thistle provided the Inspector with invoices addressed to Riverdale (a Schedule
B Company) totaling $1.18 million, The invoices listed, among other things, expenses
related to “deposits for materials”, “project management setrvices”, “site plan deposits
and applications’ and “steel rebar ordered and installed”.

The Inspector asked for documentation, including third party invoices, to support the
amounts invoiced to Riverdale, Ms, Walton advised the Inspector that Rose & Thistle
did not have third-party involces for many of the involced expenses because Rose &
Thistle performed much of the work itself and some of the expenses have not yet been
incurred, This would appear to be inconsistent with her statement that transfers from the
Companies to Rose & Thistle were in the nature of payments for services that have been
provided but not yet invoiced. The Inspector requested that documents, such as material
invoices and payroll records, be provided to validate the cost of worik performed by Rose
& Thistle and invoiced to Riverdale, No such documentation has been provided.

(emphasis added)

The Inspector’s observations on the Rose & Thistle invoices

[54]  Inits Fifth Report the Inspector made several comments about the invéices which Rose &
Thistle had rendered to the Schedule B Companies:

(a) There was no apparent co-relation between the amount of construction work
performed on a Schedule B Property and the volume of funds transferred from that
property. For example, in respect of the property at Fraser Avenue, the two Fraser
companies made net transfers of approximately $9.2 million to Rose & Thistle, but
little or no construction work was completed on the Fraser Properties before the
Manager was appointed. By contrast, Twin Dragons successfully renovated and
leased 241 Spadina and received a net transfer from Rose & Thistle of approximately
$1.3 million. The Fraser property s dealt with further in Section V.A.5 below;
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(b) The Inspector observed a pattern whereby the amounts invoiced by Rose & Thistle to
the Schedule B Companies appeared to match the amouni of cash previously
transferred from the Schedule B Company fo Rose & Thistle, For example, the
Inspector reported that it appeared that the amounts invoiced from Rose & Thistle to
Bannockburn (1185 Eglinton Bast) in 2010 and 2011 were calculated to match the net
cash transferred from Bannockburn to Rose & Thistle during those years. The
Inspector pointed to Wynford and Riverdale Mansion as other Schedule B Companies
in respect of which a similar matching-invoice practice by Rose & Thistle took place.
Those invoices had the effect of essentially eliminating the Inter-company debt owed
by Rose & Thistle to the Schedule B Company;'* and,

(¢) In respect of the Schedule B Company, Riverdale Mansion, the Inspector reported
that it had received a credit note from Rose & Thistle which showed the invoices to
Riverdale had been reversed except for $257,065.62 charged for work performed in
2011, The Inspector stated: “The Credit Note was not accompanied by any return of
funds, This would appear to reinforce the Inspector’s conclusion that invoices
rendered by Rose & Thistle to the Companies were calculated based on the net cash
transferred from the Companies to Rose & Thistle rather than on the value of actual

work, if any, performed by Rose & Thistle.”

[55] Inits report Froese stated that any further analysis of the net unsupported or unexplained
transfers from Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle would require an evaluation of the
quantity surveyor reports retated to the Schedule B Properties to address further work performed
by Rose & Thistle for those properties. Froese noted that the quantity surveyor reports were not
made available to it [n sufficient time to address them,

A4 The cost consultant reports filed by Ms, Walton

[56] Ms, Walton filed reports from two cost consultanis commenting on work performed by
Rose & Thistle for Schedule B Properties, Intrepid Quantity Surveying Inc. prepared three
reports dealing with 32 Atlantic Avenue, 241 Spadina Avenue and 18 Wynford Drive, The work
on the Atlantic and Spadina properties had been fully completed; the building at 18 Wynford had

been partially renovated.
[577  BTY Group prepared a set of 21 reports entitled “Audit Report On Incurred Cost To

Date” for the following properties: (i) 1185 Eglinton East (Bannockburn); (ii) Cityview Drive
(Cityview Industrial); (iii) 14 Dewhurst (Dewhurst Developments); (iv) 1500 Don Mills Road

4 At paragraphs 66 through 69 of his affidavit sworn June 26, 2014, James Reitan provided othor cxamplos of this
practice.
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(Donalda Developments); (v) 65 Heward (Double Rose Developments); (vi) 1485 DuPont
(DuPont Developments); (vii) 153 Bddystone (Bddystone Place); (viii) Fraser Avenue (Fraser
Lands/Fraser Properties); (ix) 1450 Don Mills Road (Global Mills); (x) 14 Trent (Hidden Gem
Developments); (xi) Lesliebrooke Holdings and Lesliebrooke Lands; (xii) 47 Jefferson (Liberty
Village Lands); (xiii) 140 Queens Plate Crescent (Northern Dancer Lands); (xiv) 1003 Queen
Streot Bast (Queen’s Corner Corp.); (xv) 875 Queen Street Bast (Red Door Developments); (xvi)
450 Pape (Riverdale Mansion); (xvii) Highway 7 (Royal Agincourt); (xviil) 1 Royal Gate
Boulevard (Royal Gate Holdings); (xix) Skyway Drive (Skyway Holdings); (xx) 295 The West
Mall (West Mall Holdings); and, (xxi) 355 Weston Road (Weston Lands).

[58] The BTY Group wete not independent experts. The record disclosed that they had acted
as cost consultants for progress draws on some Schedule B Properties during the course of
demolition and construction work on them — 241 Spadina; 1185 Eglinton;'® and 18 Wynford,'®

[59] The authors of the cost consultant reports all purported to express opinions in their
reports, Opinion evidence in civil cases must comply not only with the general rules of
evidence, but also with Rule 53,03 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 53.03(2.1) mandates
- that any report of an expert witness must contain seven categories of information. In the case of

the reports prepared by Intrepid Quantlty Surveying they lacked the following mandatory
information: area of expertise; qualifications; instructions provided to the expert; and, an
acknowledgment of the expert’s duty signed by the expert, Those constituted material omissions
of mandated information for expett reports and, in my view, rendered the reports prepared by
Intrepid Quantlty Surveylng inadmissible as expert evidence,

[60] As to the reports prepared by BTY Group, they also suffered from the same omissions of
material mandated information, As well, they did not disclose the name of the expert who had
prepared the reports — a singular omission which I have never seen before. By reason of those
failures to include information mandated by Rule 53.03(2.1), I conclude that the cost consultant
reports prepared by BTY Group are inadmissible as expert evidence,

[61] Bven had I admitted the repotts prepared by Intrepid Quantity Surveying and BTY Group
as expett evidence, for the reasons set out below thelr probative value in respect of the issues in
dispute on these motions would have been quite minimal,

5 Norma Walton Motlon Record, Vol. 1, pp. 207 and 212; Vol. 2, p, 380.
1 Bernsteln CX, Exhiblt 5, Itappeared from Exhiblt 5 that In lssulng thelr progress payment reports the BTY Group
had velied heavlly on the lnvoices from the Rose & Thistle Group, rather than examinlng the underlying supporting

documentation for such invoices,
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The reports prepared by Intrepid Quantity Surveying

[62] The three Intrepid Quantity Surveying (*1QS”) reports possessed a similar structure, so
let me use the March 10, 2014 report on 32 Atlantic Avenue as an example of the limited
probative value of the opinions expressed in those reports, First, it was difficult to discern the
purpose of the report, Rule 53,03(2,1)(3) requires a report to contain “the instructions provided
to the expert in relation to the preceding”; none appeared in the body of the repott., Rule
53,03(2.1)(4) requires a report to contain “the nature of the opinion being sought and each issue
in the proceeding to which the opinlon relates™; none was provided in the report,

[63] From the report it appears that Ms, Walton had asked 1QS to review the budget for the 32
Atlantic Avenue project, 1QS reported that they had reviewed the file and had “provided our
comments here for your reference,” At the end of the report, 1QS stated:

In our opinion, we believe the work in place for the construction work is reasonable
hased on information and invoices recelved to substantiate the cost to date.

[64] The IQS report focused on two aspects of the project’s budget: construction costs of
$3,045 million and management fees of approximately $150,000.

[65] The IQS review of the construction costs was based upon an undated Vendor Transaction
List provided by the Respondents. IQS requested copies of invoices to substantiate the items
booked to the accounting system, Although it was provided with 89% of the overall hard costs
booked to the Respondents’ accounting system, it was not provided with the Rose & Thistle
construction invoice for $216,330.57.

[66] The Vendor Transaction document attached to the IQS report recorded amounts incurred
for various types of work from various suppliets, The legend for that document identified which
invoices had been reviewed (presumably by the Rose & Thistle management) and which
invoices remained outstanding. In its report for the Atlantlc Avenue property, 1QS noted that it
had only been provided with proof of 20% expended by way of an invoice and that it was relying
primarily on the accounting summaries prepared by the Respondents’ accounting system, not on
the actual underlying invoices,

[67] IQS reported that the Respondents had provided timesheets which confirmed 20% of the
Rose & Thistle construction fees of $216,330,57, but it identified significant limits placed on its
review of those Rose & Thistle construction fees, In particular, 1QS could only rely upon
“accounting summaries” provided by the Respondents when reviewing the Rose & Thistle
coustruction fees, Although the accounting summaries confirmed 88% of the $216,330.57, 1QS

reported:

These costs may have been incurred by [Rose & Thistle Propetties] and entered into their
accounts system, but we only have proof of 20% expended by way of an invoice.



- Page 31 -

We have been provided with partial bank account records and cancelled cheques, A full
‘review to ensure that the amounts booked have cleared the [Rose & Thistle Properties)
bank account was not part of the IQS scope of work,

The IQS report made clear that it lacked adequate backup documentation for most of the
$216,333,57 in construction fees charged by Rose & Thistle,. In my view, those limitations
identified by IQS severely limited the utllity of their reports in verifylng the amounts Rose &
Thistle was recorded as charging the Schedule B Company which owned the project, Liberty

Village,

[68] IQS reported that the budget identified management fees charged by Rose & Thistle of
approximately $150,000, IQS stated:

We have not reviewed backup invoices to date, however we have been provided a
sutnmary breakdown of the fees,

These costs may have been incurred by [Rose & Thistle Properties], but we do not have
proof of the expenditure by way of an Invoice,

The management fee is for time spent by [Rose & Thistle Properties] employees to
coordinate the construction activities and the consultants,

1QS also noted in respect of the management fees that it had not been provided with timesheets
or accounting backup, IQS calculated that the management fee charged had amounted to 4.5%
of the total hard construction costs for the project which appeared to be reasonable based on the
scope of work and a standard industry range of 2.5% to 4.5% for management fees,

[69]  Similar limitations were contained in the other two IQS reports; IQS’ report on the Twin
Dragons project ~ 241 Spadina17 - noted that it had not been asked to review construction costs,
so it had not reviewed copies of invoices to substantiate the items booked to the Respondents’
accounting system “as this was outside our scope of work, Costs booked to the vendor
transaction list are assumed to be valid” IQS also observed, regarding the $133,209
management fee charged, that it had not reviewed the Internal Rose & Thistle Properties back-up
for the fee, The only opinion expressed by IQS in respect of the 241 Spadina budget was that the
management fee of 3,47% was reasonable based upon the scope of work and industry practices.'®

7 Dr, Bemnstein acknowledged on his cross-examination that followlng the completlon of the renovation of 241
Spadina, he began to receive equity distribution cheques from Twin Dragons: Transcript of the oross-examination of
Dr. Bernstein conducted July 9, 2014, QQ, 295; 456-8,

'8 Carlos Carreivo filed an affidavit in support of the Respondents, his former employer, atiesting, in a desoriptive
way, to the work his company had performed for Rose & Thistle at 241 Spadina, 32 Atlantlc Avenue and 450 Pape,
No documentation supporting the work performed or Invoiced was attached to his affidavit. Yvonne Liu filed a
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[70] In its report concerning 18 Wynford Drive, IQS noted that it had been provided with two
invoices for construction costs from Rose & Thistle totaling $3.55 million, but IQS stated:

Both of the above two invoices can be traced back to the vendor transaction list.
However the co-relation 1s not indicative of actual costs incurved as further detalls to
substantiate actual backup to the costs incurred ave not available,"’

[717  As to the management fee of $355,000 charged by Rose & Thistle for 18 Wynford, IQS
opined that the management fee of 6.95% was “in a higher range of what is expected based on
the scope of work and industry standards”, 1QS ventured that industry standards of between
2.5% and 4.5% “would be more reasonable”,

[72]  In sum, the IQS reports did not assist the Respondents in explaining or justifying the
construction costs invoiced by Rose & Thistle to the examined Schedule B Companies, The
reports did not flll in the evidentiary gap identified by the Inspector, Instead, they highlighted
the unwillingness of the Respondents to produce the back-up documentation needed to test and
verify the amounts chatged by Rose & Thistle to Schedule B Companies for both construction

costs and management fees,
The reports prepared by BTY Group

[73] The BTY Group reports disclosed that Rose & Thistle had asked it to provide an opinion
on the validity of the hard construction, soft construction and Rose & Thistle management costs
for a number of properties “in comparison to other projects”, Although the reports were styled
as “audit reports”, they disclosed that the information provided by Rose & Thistle to BTY Group
consisted of the budgets, ledgers and summary of management fees for each project. The BTY
Group telied on those Rose & Thistle accounting documents and summaries, BTY Group did
not review any invoices ot cancelled cheques to substantiate the payments noted in the

accounting records of Rose & Thistle,

[74] In the case of its analysis of the management fees charged by Rose & Thistle fo the
projects, BTY Group recorded their understanding that no accounting records existed to
substantiate the information provided by Rose & Thistle with respect to the management fees
incurted on a project, As a result, the opinions of the BTY Group about the reasonableness of
the management fees were based solely on its review of the summary of management costs

stmilar type of affidavit describlng work her personal company had performed for Rose & Thistle at 32 Atlantic, 241
Spuding, 1485 Dupont, 153 Eddystons, 450 Pape Avenue, 18 Wynford, 14 Dewhurst, Hlghway7 West, 1 Royal
Gate, 3765 St, Clair Avenue East, and 1003 Queen Street East,

1 Emphasis added. In the Supplemental Repott to its Fifth Report (July 9, 2014), the Inspector noted that not all of
the amounts spent by Rose & Thistle on construction at 18 Wynford were relevant to the tracing analysis because
some ofthem may have been funded by Rose & Thistle drawing on 18 Wynford's condominlum reserve fund,
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provided by Rose & Thistle for a project ag a percentage of the project budget, For example, as
noted in its report of the management fee review for the 1185 Eglinton East (Bannockburns)

project:

We have not been privy to the calculation of the costs noted in this section and we
acknowledge that there are no accounting records in place to justify the costs noted as
being Incurred on the project. Our opinion as to the reasonableness of the costs incurred
to date is based on our experience of working on projects of a similar type and nature
across several provinces in Canada,

The BTY Group, using its knowledge of other similar projects in the market, performed a
comparative analysis which ranked each category of costs identified in the project’s accounting
summaties as either “not in line with”, “in line with”, or “below” current market conditions for

those types of costs,

[751 As can be seen, the BT'Y Group repotts did not examine whether costs recorded in the
Respondents’ accounting records for a project were in fact incurred, including whether costs
included in invoices from Rose & Thistle to a Schedule B Company had been incurred, Put
another way, the BTY Group reports assumed the accuracy of the accounting records of Rose &
Thistle and the Schedule B Companies,

[76] 1Inthe Supplement to its Fifth Report, the Inspector offered the following comments on
the cost consultant reports prepared by the BTY Group:

[TThe fundamental question relating to the Rose & Thistle Invoices is whether Rose &
Thistle actually performed the invoiced work and is entitled to the clalmed payment, All
but one of the cost consultant reports offered by the Respondents does not address this
issue at all, The exception relates to the property at 32 Atlantic, .,

In particular, the BTY reports essentially compared the costs in Rose & Thistle’s budget
and accounting ledgers to the work that Rose & Thistle said it performed. BTY appears
to have assumed that Rose & Thistle performed the relevant work and incurred the costs

assoclated with it. ..

Since all of BTY’s information appears to originate in the books and records of Rose &
Thistle, the BTY reports do not contribute anything meaningful to the analysis of whether
those books and records are accurate, BTY, compares the assumed cost of the work
against its understanding of market rates for the same work but it does not assess whether
the work was actually performed, As a result, in the Inspector’s view, the BTY reports
do not assist the Inspector’s analysis of what work Rose & Thistle performed on each
property and what payment it is entitled to for that work,

[77] Based upon my review of the tepoits prepared by the BTY Group, I accept the
Inspector’s conclusion that the reports do not contribute anything meaningful to the analysis of
whether the books and records of Rose & Thistle are accurate nor do they contribute anything
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meaningful to the inquiry into the accuracy, valldity or reasonableness of the invoices rendered
by Rose & Thistle to the Schedule B Companies, As was the case with the IQS reports, the BTY
Group reports did not fill in the evidentiary gap noted by the Inspector. That rendered the BTY
Group reports of little probative value to the issues in dispute,

A5 Issues raised in cost consultant reports on specific Sehedule B Properties

[78] The frailty and unreliability of the invoices rendered by Rose & Thistle were illustrated
by the analysis of the invoices rendered for three specific Schedule B Properties,

Bannockburn (1185 Xiglinton)

[79] Bannockburn acquired the property at 1185 Eglinton Avenue East on December 17,
2010, The Bannockburn development was intended to consist of two residential condominium
towers with a block of townhouses, Demolition of the previous property on the site was
performed, but no other work took place.

[80] BTY Group reviewed the Rose & Thistle accounting ledger for hard construction costs
on the project, The Inspector reported that on December 31, 2010 Rose & Thistle issued an
invoice to Bannockburn in the amount of $467,719,60 for services provided between December
7 and 31, 2010 — i.e, the invoice included the 10 day period prior to the acquisition of the
property. The Rose & Thistle invoice included items for demolition disposal, development
approval expenses and project management fees, In the Supplement to its Fifth Report the

Inspector stated:

The amount of this invoice matched exactly the amount transferred to Rose & Thistle
from Bannockburn, Moreover, Bannockburn did not purchase 1185 Eglinton Avenue
until December 17, 2010, ten days after the invoice shows that work commenced. In her
email commenting on the Fifth Report, Ms. Walton explained that Rose & Thistle
engaged consultants and began work on a property before the purchase of that property
closed. '

The amounts listed on the December 31, 2010 invoice from Rose & Thistle to
Bannockburn cannot be reconciled to the transaction list appended to the [BTY Group]
Bannockburn Report, In particular, there are no demolition costs and less than $25,000
In development costs recorded on the ledger provided to BTY for the period prior to

December 31, 2010,

30 Fraser Avenue; 7-15 Fraser Avenue

[81]  Fraser Properties Corp, owned land located at 30 Fraser Avenue in Toronto; Fraser Lands
Ltd, owned the adjacent property at 7-15 Fraser Avenue. Dr., Bernstein made an equity
contribution of $16,024,960 to Fraser Properties. As early as its First Report, the Inspector had
reported;
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Fraser Propetties transforred $10,281,050 to Rose & Thistle and recetved transfets of
$1,215,100 from Rose & Thistle, Rose & Thistle retained $9,065,950 paid by Fraser

Properties, .

[82] In its report the BTY Group stated that the Fraser Avenue propetties housed existing one
and two story buildings, with the plan being to renovate the existing bulldings and construct two
new commercial buildings, The BTY Group reviewed and reported on the accounting ledgers of
Rose & Thistle, In the Supplement to its Fifth Report the Inspector stated:

Rose & Thistle provided the Inspector with invoices to Fraser Lands Lid, totaling
$300,896 and invoices to Fraser Properties Ltd, totaling $1,598,580.,..

It appears that the ledger provided by Rose & Thistle to BTY does not support the
amounts involced to Fraser,,

Rose & Thistle received transfers of $9,080,850 from the Companies that own the Fraser
Propetty, issued invoices totaling $1,899,477 with respect to alleged work performed on
the Fraser Property and proyided BTY with records showing that it had actually incurred
expenses totaling $395,532 in respect of the Fraser propetty.

1485 Dupont

[83] In its report on the property at 1485 Dupont (Dupont Developments) the BTY Group
stated that the accounting ledgers provided by Rose & Thistle showed hard construction cost bill
payments to contractors of $805,036.20 and soft construction costs payments to contractors of
$113,383.91. As was the case in all of its reports, the BTY Group stated that it had not
undertaken a review of invoices or cancelled cheques to substantiate the payments noted in the
ledger as paid, In the Supplement to its Fifth Report the Inspector stated:

The Inspector also notes that Ms. Walton's consfruction cost figure does not appear to
account for amounts that are owed to contractors but not paid, For example, the Respondents
delivered an affidavit of Yvonne Liu stating that Rose & Thistle completed various
construction work on the property at 1485 Dupont Avenue (¥the DuPont Property™).
Construction liens in the aggregate amount of $821,297 have been registered against the
DuPont Property. The Inspector has not evaluated the validity ofthese lien clalms, However,
the existence of substantial llen claims in respect of DuPont undermines the assertion that
funds transferred to Rose & Thistle from the [Schedule B] Companles were used to pay for

construction at DuPont,
A6 Ms, Walton’s comments on the cost consultant reports

[84] InherJune 21, 2014 affidavit, Ms. Walton commented on each of the reports prepared by
the cost consultants and she gave general descriptions of the work performed on each propeity.
Notwithstanding that Ms, Walton spent extensive time in her affidavit dealing with each
property, she did not append to her affidavit the back-up documentation to suppozrt the amounts
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charged by Rose & Thistle to each project which the Inspector had been requesting since last
October,

A7 Conclusion on the Rose & Thistle invoices

[85] Ms, Walton deposed that “as confirmed by the third party cost consulting reports, the
value of all wortk completed by Rose and Thistle has been confirmed”., In her Factum she
pointed to the cost consultant reports as establishing that Rose & Thistle had spent specific
amounts on construction costs, The IQS and BTY Group cost consultant reports do not allow
any such conclusion to be drawn — they dealt only with the amounts which were recorded in the
books and records provided by Rose & Thistle to the cost consultants without providing any
independent audit or verification of the accuracy or validity of those amounts,

[86] In paragraph 10 of the October 25, 2013 Order of Newbould J. the Respondents were
required to “provide forthwith a full accounting of all monies received, disbursed, owed to and
owed from the Schedule B Corporations and The Rose & Thistle Group Ltd. since September,
2010 to the present,” That order required the Respondents to account for all monies owed by
Schedule B Companies pursuant to invoices rendered by Rose & Thistle, The Waltons have
failed to do so, The Waltons have left unanswered the repeated demands of the Inspector for
documentation to back-up and support those invoices, and Ms. Walton has filed cost consultant
reports which assumed the accuracy of those Invoices, instead of providing an independent audit

of their accuracy,

[87] Rose & Thistle no doubt provided some construction and maintenance work for the
Schedule B Companies, but the Waltons bore the burden of establishing the validity and
accuracy of the invoices which Rose & Thistle rendered for those services, Not only have they
failed to do so, but one can only conclude from the refusal of the Waltons over the past nine
months to provide back-up for the Rose & Thistle invoices — both to the Inspector and to their
own cost consultants - that back-up for the full amounts of those invoices simply does not exist,

[88] I therefore accept the view of the Inspector expressed in its Fifth Report, and I find that
the Respondents have not produced the documentation needed to perform a detailed
reconciliation of the alleged construction and maintenance expenses to the cash transfers to
determine whether those transfers related to construction and maintenance work that Rose &
Thistle actually performed for Schedule B Companies:

[89] I make a similar finding in respect of the management fees charged by Rose & Thistle,
Those fees were charged as a percentage of the construction costs incurred, Without an
accounting of the accutacy of the construction costs actually incurred, an assessment of the
reasonableness of the management fees is not possible, However, I will accept the reconciliation
of management foes in the amount of $1 million reached by the Inspector with the Respondents
for revenue-producing properties as reported in the Inspector’s Third Report.
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[90]  Taken together, those two findings mean that of the $30.6 million in invoices rendered by
Rose & Thistle to the Schedule B Companies, the Respondents have established the validity and
reasonableness of only $1 million of them — 1,e the reconciliation relating to management fees for
revenue-producing properties, The Respondents have failed to prove, on the balance of
probabilities, that the remaining invoices covered work or services actually performed by Rose &
Thistle for Schedule B Companies, notwithstanding that the information needed to do so
remained in the possession and control of the Respondents,

B. Placing two mortgages on the Don Mills Road Schedule B Properties withont the
Applicants’ consent

[91] Onluly 31 and August 1, 2013, two mortgages of $3 million each were registered against
the Schedule B Properties at 1450 Don Mills Road and 1500 Don Mills Road, Notwithstanding
that the agreements between the parties for these properties required that any decisions
concerning the refinancing of the properties required the approval of Dr, Betnstein, Norma
Walton did not tell Dr, Bernstein that the mortgages were placed on the properties, In his
November 5 Reasons appointing a receiver, Newbould J, dealt with those mortgages:

[10]  This was a matter raised at the outset and was one of the basis for my finding of
oppression leading to the appointment of the Inspector, Mr, Reitan learned as a result of a
title search on all properties obtained by him that mortgages of $3 million each were
placed on 1450 Don Mills Road and 1500 Don Mills Road on July 31, 2013 and August
1, 2013, Dr, Bernstein had no knowledge of them and dld not approve them as required
by the agreements for those properties, At a meeting on September 27, 2013, Ms, Walton
informed Mr, Reitan and Mr. Schonfeld that the Waltons were in control of the $6
million of mortgage proceeds (rather than the money belng in the control of the owner
companies), but refused to provide evidence of the existence of the $6 million, Ms.
Walton stated that she would only provide further information regarding the two
mortgages in a without prejudice mediation process. That statement alone indicates that
Ms, Walton knew there was something untoward about these mortgages,

[11] In his first interim report, Mr, Schonfeld reported that the proceeds of the Don
Mills mortgages were deposited into the Rose & Thistle account, Rose & Thistle
transferred $3,330,000 to 28 of the 31 companies. The balance of the proceeds of the Don
Mills mortgages totalling $2,161,172, were used for other purposes including the

following:
1, $98,900 was paid to the Receiver General in respect of payroll tax;
2. $460,000 was deposited into Ms, Walton’s personal account;

3, $353,000 was apparently used to repay a loan owed by Rose & Thistle in
relation to Richmond Row Holdings Litd.; and,
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4, $154,600 was transferred electronically to an entity named Plexor Plastics
Corp. and $181,950 transferred electronically to Rose and Thistle Properties
Ltd. Ms, Walton advised the Inspectot that she owns these entities with her
husband,

[12] In her affidavit of October 31, 2013, Ms, Walton admits that $2.1 million was
“diverted” and used outside the 31 projects, She admits it should not have been done
without D1, Bernstein’s consent, She offers excuses that do not justify what she did. What
happened here, not to put too fine a point on it, was theft, It is lttle wonder that when
first confronted with this situation, Ms. Walton said she would only talk about it in a
without prejudice mediation,

[13]  In her affidavit of October 4, 2013, Ms, Walton said she had made arrangements
to discharge the $3 million mortgage on 1500 Don Mills Rd on October 21, 2013 and to
wire money obtained from the mortgage on 1450 Don Mills Road into the Global Mills
account (one of the 31 companies) by the same date, Why the money would not be put
into the 1450 Don Mills account was not explained, In any event, no repayment of any of
the diverted funds has occurred,

[46] T do not see the picture as now being less clear, To the contrary, it seems much
clearer, I have referred to the concerns above in some detail, They include the following;

1, $2.1 million was improperly taken from the proceeds of the $6 million
mortgages that never had Dr, Bernstein’s approval, $400,000 of which was taken
by Ms, Walton into her personal bank account, Ms, Walton was well aware that
this was wrong, She is a lawyer and the agreements were drawn in her office, Her
injtial reaction when confronted about the mortgages by Mr, Reitan, who at the
time did not know what had happened to the mortgage proceeds, that she would
only discuss it in a without prejudice mediation is a clear indication she knew
what she did was wrong and contrary to Dr, Bernstein’s interests,

[92] The Respondents appealed the November 5 Order to the Court of Appeal; Notma Walton
represented herself on the appeal, She submitted to the Court of Appeal that Newbould J, had
erred in describing her involvement in the two unauthorized Don Mills mortgages as “theft”. In
regjecting that argument the Court of Appeal stated:

We also do not accept that the application judge’s use of the word “theft” is necessatily a
mischaractetization of some of the conduct of Ms, Walton, However, even if the word
“theft” is considered inappropriate given its criminal connotation, Ms, Walton's own
affidavit acknowledges a knowing misappropriatlon of funds in respect of at least one
property. Whatever one might choose to call that conduct, it provided powerful evidence
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that Dr, Bernstein’s interests in the property were being unfairly prejudiced by the
conduct of the Waltons, The application judge’s use of the word *“theft” does not, in our
view, taint his factual findings or the manner in which he exercised his discretion,?

[931 In her Factum on these motions Ms, Walton stated that “there Is no question that the
borrowing of $6 million from the Don Mills properties was contrary to the contracts between
Walton and Bernstein”, However, she filed an affidavit in which she sought to correct “a
fundamental misconception that has pervaded this litigation from the beginning concerning my
knowledge of the payment of funds from the $6 million of mortgages.” Ms, Walton deposed:

What I want to make clear, though, is that I never knew the sum of $2,161,172 had been
ultimately paid out to me and my companies from that $6 million until after the Inspector
completed his work, That complete lack of knowledge or intention was not made clear in
the October 31 affidavit I filed and as such I am correcting that now, .,

In her affidavit Ms, Walton blamed the inadequacy of the Respondents’ accounting software at
the time, and she contended that at the time of the Don Mills Road mortgages she made “the
assumption that the Bernstein-Walton properties were funding the Bernstein-Walton propetties
and the non-Bernstein properties wete funding the non-Bernstein properties,"

[94]  For several reasons I do not accept Ms. Walton’ s explanation.

[951 First, Ms, Walton offered no new evidence on the point that was not before Newbould J,
or the Court of Appeal, apart from her denlal that she knew about the payments out,

[96] Second, Ms, Waltor’s contention that she had assumed the Bernstein properties were
only funding Bernstein properties flies in the face of the overwhelming evidence presented by
the Inspector that when most funds were advanced into the Schedule B Companies by the
Applicants, the Respondents immediately transferred them out to Rose & Thistle and, In many
cases, {o Schedule C Companles, Throughout these proceedings Norma Walton has presented
herself to the Court, through her affidavlts and through her submissions, as the person who was
in charge of the entire enterprise, whether it be the operation of Schedule B Companles, Rose &
Thistle or the Schedule C Companies. In paragraph 38 of her June 21, 2014 affidavit, Ms,
Walton clearly acknowledged that she was the one who had managed the jointly owned portfolio
of Schedule B Properties, On her cross-examination Ms, Walton admitted that she had
authorized the transfer of monies out of the Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle, including
by getting on the computer and making electronic transfers herself,

2014 ONCA 428, para, 12,
2 Cross-examination of Norma Walton conducted July 8, 2014, QQ. 95-96,
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[97] Her husband, Ronauld Walton, did not file an affidavit in these proceedings, nor did the
Chief Financial Officer of the Rose & Thistle group of companies, Marto Bucei,® Thelr failure
to file evidence is most significant, and I Infer from that failure that neither Ronauld Walton nor
Mario Bucci could offer evidence which would assist the Respondents in establishing a defence
to the Applicants’ allegations, Nor have they stepped forward to contend that the improper
transfers of monies out of the Schedule B Companies were the result of directions or orders

given by someone other than Norma Walton,

[98]  Third, on her July 8, 2014 cross-examination Ms, Walton admitted that she was the one
who had provided the Devry Smith Frank law firm with instructions on the two Don Mills Road
mortgage transactions,” including directing that the proceeds from the Don Mills mortgages be
paid into the Rose & Thistle bank account,*® Those admissions support a finding, which I make,
that Ms, Walton knowingly directed the proceeds from the two Don Mills mortgages to be paid
into the Rose & Thistle bank account and that she did so knowing that such payments would be
in breach of the obligations of the Waltons to Dr, Bernstein,

[99] Fourth, Ms, Walton failed to appreciate that in her efforts to remove the moniker of
“theft” from her conduct in respect of the two $3 million mortgages, she only compounded the
difficulty of her legal position vis-a-vis the Applicants. In her affidavit Ms, Walton deposed that
“every single day transfers between our companies were occurring and there was no visibility
with our accounting sofiware as to each company’s position vis-3-vis the transfers of funds”,
Yet, over the course of three years from September 24, 2010 until June 27, 2013, Ron and
Norma Walton entered into a series of agreements with the Applicants which contained
provisions representing that (i) monthly reports would be made - which implied that the
accounting systems used by the Schedule B Companies would be adequate to provide accurate,
detailed monthly accountings of the funds advanced to the Schedule B Companies — and (i1) that
the Schedule B Company would only be used to purchase, renovate, lease, and refinance the
specified property. Also, on an ongoing basis, Norma Walton was representing to Dr, Bernstein
that she was able to calculate his financial position in Schedule B Property projects, For
example, her April 15, 2012 email to Dr, Bernstein represented that “Spadina will net you $6.66
million plus accrued interest to repay your mortgages; plus $1,12 million to repay your capital;
plus $754,000 to pay your profits, for a total of $8,534 million,”

[100] If, as Ms. Walton now deposed, the Respondents’ accounting system was inadequate to
asocertain the position of each Schedule B Company vis-a-vis the transfors of funds, then by
entering into a series of agreements with the Applicants containing those representations, and by

22 As of Ms. Walton’s cross-examination on July 8, 2014, Mr, Buccl remained the CFO of Rose & Thistle: Q, 45,

2 Walton CX, QQ, 72-73.
" Ibid,, QQ. 74-83,
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making such specific representations about financial returns in her periodic updates to Dr.
Bernstein, Norma Walton would have engaged in a pattern of deceitful misrepresentation leading
the Applicants to believe that the Respondents knew what was happening with the monies
advanced, when they did not because of the lack of visibility within their accounting system, In
trying to concoct an implausible excuse for her conduct concerning the two Don Mills
mortgages, Norma Walton ended up damning her own position,

[101] Fifth, as part of the Don Mills Road morigage transaction documents Ms, Walton falsely
certified that only she and her husband were the shareholders of Global Mills Inc, In fact Dr.
Bernstein’s company, DBDC Global Mills Ltd,, was a 50% shateholder, Ms, Walton testified
that Dr, Bernstein had instructed her not to disclose his shareholding interest in Schedule B
Companies.” Ms, Walton produced no documents to support that allegation,”® and I reject it,

[102] Sixth, in paragraph 101 of her Factum Ms, Walton submitted, in respect of the two $3
million Don Mills mortgages, that “there was no attempt to hide this and everything was
completely transparent on the books and records of our companies, The Inspector found it easy
to trace exactly what had happened to this money given that transparency,” That was a
breathtaking statement by Ms. Walton, and it demonstrated het continued willingness to distort
the truth, In fact, Ms, Walton had given no prior notice to Dr, Bernstein about her intention to
place the two mortgages on the Don Mills properties, She hld that transaction from D,
Bernstein. There was no transparency., The transaction only came to light as a result of M,
Reitan’s searches of title as part of a larger concern by the Applicants over the Respondents’ lack
of transpatency about what they were doing with the Applicants’ funds. Even then, the true facts
about the two mortgage transactions did not emerge until Ms, Walton was compelled to disclose
them in the early stages of this proceeding. For Ms, Walton to now attempt to spin those facts in
her favour shows her complete lack of understanding about what it means to tell the truth, There

really is no other way to put the matter.

[103] Her distortion of the facts in respect of the Don Mills Road mortgages echoed her
couduct which 1 described [n a June 20, 2014 decision regarding the dispute between two
mortgagees on 875 and 887 Queen Street Bast, I found that Norma Walton had materially
mistepresented the true state of affairs to one of the mortgagees, RioCan;

Norma Walton’s representation that the lender had deposited the certified cheque - a
representation which was re-transmitted to RioCan with the intention that RioCan rely
upon it - was mlsleading in a very materlal respect. Why? Because the lender,

% Ibid,, Q. 87 :
* Walton did produce & February 25, 2013 emall in which she requested Dr. Bernsteln to resign as g director for

Wynford, Spadina and Eglinton: Walton Motion Record, Vol. 1, p. 123.
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Woodgreen, which had deposited the cheque, had immediately returned the funds to Red
Door Lands, ostensibly taking the position that its deposit of the cheque had not
constituted an acceptance of payment against principal of the morigage. That sequence
of events can be gleaned from the communications which had flowed back and forth

between Walton and Kesten about which RioCan knew nothing.?’

[104] In sum, I do not accept Ms, Walton’s continued protestations that she had a complete lack
of knowledge that funds from the two $3 million mortgages on the Don Mills Road properties
had been misappropriated to the use of Walton and her companies. The voluminous evidence
placed before me on this motion [eads me to have absolutely no doubt that Norma Walton not
only knew, in detall, what was taking place with the transfer of funds from those two mortgages,
but that those transfers took place at the direction of, and under the control of, Norma Walton,
Norma Walton knowingly put in place the two Don Mills Road mortgages of $3 million each
without the required approval of Dr, Bernstein and she knowingly misappropriated some of the
ptoceeds of those mortgages to her own personal use and the use of companies which she owned,
but in which Dr, Bemstein had no ownership interest.

[105] Unfortunately, Ms, Walton’s continued efforts to repalr her reputation in respect of the
Don Mills Road mortgage transactions by distorting the truth makes it clear to me that it will
never be possible to secure from her a true accounting of what happened to the funds advanced

by the Applicants,

VI, Issues concerning the Waltons using the Applicants’ funds for Schedule C
Properties

[106] The Applicants seck relief against what are called the Schedule C Properties - ie.
properties owned by, or controlled by, Ron and Norma Walton, usually through a company in
which Dr. Bernstein had no ownership interest. At the hearing the Respondents disputed
including some of the properties in the Applicants’ list of Schedule C Properties, contending that
they did not own them, I will address that issue in Section XI.B of these Reasons. Suffice it to
say, at this point of time, that the reason the Applicants included a property in the list of
Schedule C Properties against which they sought relief was because the Rose & Thistle website
represented that the property was owned by the Waltons or Rose & Thistle,

[107] In its Fourth Report the Inspector identified seven properties owned by Walton Schedule
C Companies for which it could ascertain that funds transferred from a Schedule B Company to
Rose & Thistle were transferred, in turn, to the Schedule C Company to acquire the property.
Froese addressed the Inspector’s findings in his repott. Froese’s high level comtnent was:

#2014 ONSC 3732, para. 21.
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We reviewed the tracing performed by the Inspector and agree that some funds from the
applicants can be traced through the Rose & Thistle clearing account to Schedule C
Companies and that these funds were used for the purchase of properties. However, the
tracing performed by the Inspector does not address other funds received by the Schedule
C Companies and transferred to Rose & Thistle or transfeired through Rose & Thistle to \

Schedule B Companies,

The net result is that, in refation to the seven properties, approximately $2 million of
funds flowed from Dr, Bernstein through the Rose & Thistle clearing account to the
Schedule C Company account, where the funds were available at the time the properties
were purchased, It should be noted that no funds trace to the purchase of the properties
owned by Academy Lands and Front Church, and that less funds trace to the College
Lane property than are determined by the Inspector as a result of co-mingling of funds.

I shall consider Froese’s comments on the analysis performed by the Inspector for specific
properties below,

[108] Mr, Reitan, in his affidavit sworn June 26, 2014, deposed that the following amounts of
the Applicants’ funds were used to purchase or refinance some of the Schedule C Properties:

Q) $330,750 for the purchase of 14 College Street and $987,165 for the refinancing of 14
College Strect;

(i)  $1,032 million for the purchase of 3270 American Drive;
(i)  $1.6 million for the purchase of 2454 Bayview Avenue;

(iv)  $937,000 for the purchase of 346E Jarvis Street” and the repayment of D,
Bernstein’s mortgage on 346F Jarvis Street; :

(v)  $2.337 million for the purchase of 44 Park Lane Circle, the personal mansion of
Norma and Ronauld Walton;

(vl)  $221,000 for the purchasé of 2 Kelvin Street and $115,950 for the purchase of 0
Luttrell Avenue; and,

(vil)  $371,200 for the purchase of 26 Gerrard Street Bast,

% That Is, the unit bearing PIN 21105-0166, the parool register for which s found at the Inspeotor’s Fourth Report,
Tab J.
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A, 14 College Street

Inspector

[109] College Lane Ltd, was a Walton Schedule C Company, On July 5, 2011, College Lane
purchased 14 College Street, Toronto, for $5,6 million, financed largely by a mortgage in the
amount of $5.5 million, The Inspector conducted two tracing analyses on thls property: the first
focused on the acquisition of the property in July, 2011, and the second dealt with the discharge

of a mortgage on July 4, 2012,

[110] In lts Fourth Report the Inspector reported that on June 30, 2011, five days prior to the
acquisition of 14 College Street, the opening balance in the Rose & Thistle account was $18,266,
The Inspector reported that the Applicants made equity or mortgage advances to several
Schedule B Companies shortly before that date which were quickly followed by transfers from
the Schedule B Companies’ accounts to the Rose & Thistle account: (i) $220,650 on June 30
from Bannockburn; (i1) $223,150 on June 30 from Twin Dragons; (ili) $91,350 from Riverdale;
and (iv) $56,550 from Wynford Professional Center Limited, The Inspector also noted that on
June 30, 2011, $216,250 was transferred from two Walton Companies to Rose & Thistle, and on
June 30, 2011, several transfers out occurred to varlous Schedule B Companies and Walton
Companies from Rose & Thistle. The Inspector reported that it had traced $330,750 of the
Applicants funds Into the purchase of the College Lane property on July 5, 2011,

[111] In its April 25 Supplement to the Fourth Report the Inspector reported on its further
analysis for this property which led it to conclude that approximately $983,475, primarily
sonrced from funds paid to Schedule B Companies by the Applicants (Donalda Developments
Ltd. and Fraser Properties Corp,), were transferred to Rose & Thistle and then forwarded to
College Lane which, in turn, used the funds to discharge a mortgage which had been granted to
Windsor Bancorp on July 4, 2012,

Froese

[112] In respect of Inspector’s report that it had traced $330,750 of the Applicants funds into
the purchase of the College Lane property, Froese stated:

The co~mingling of Schedule C Company funds and Schedule B Company funds does not
permit a direct tracing of the $330,750 to College Lane, although a portion is traceable,
depending on the assumptions applied to the tracing, (emphasis added)

I accept the Inspector’s analysis on this issue, Although there was co-mingling in Rose &
Thistle at the time of funds fiom Schedule B and C Companies, the vast majority of the funds
had originated with Schedule B Companies which the Inspector could trace to specific advances

of the Applicants’ funds,
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[113] Froese stated, in respect of the Inspector’s report that $983,475 of Applicants’ funds had
been fransferred to College Lane, that a third-party financing of $715,650 partially offset that
amount and that further post-acquisition (July 5, 2011) transfers between College Lane and Rose
& Thistle resulted in a net balance of $1,070,536 owing from College Lane to Rose & Thistle as

at December 31, 2013:

In our view the $1,070,536 net amount is the appropriate amount owing to Rose &
Thistle from Academy Lands (sic). This includes funds co-mingled in the Rose & Thistle
clearing account, some of which were funds deposited from Dr. Bernstein to Schedule B

Companies,

As I will discuss below, I do not accept giving precedence to the post-acquisition net transfer
state of accounts advocated by Froese,

B. 3270 American Drive (United Empire Lands)

Inspector

[114] On March 11, 2013, United Empire Lands, a Walton Schedule C Company, purchased
3270 American Drive, Toronto, for $6.7 million, with mortgages totaling $5.67 million
registered against title,

[115] The Inspector reported that funds totaling approximately $1,032 million, primarily
sourced from funds advanced by the Applicants to a Schedule B Company — West Mall Holdings
Ltd, « were transferred to the Rose & Thistle account on March 8, 2013 and, that same day,
transferred to United Bmpire Lands, Those funds could be tied to a $1.649 million March 7
Applicants’ equity investment in West Mall which was transferred in three installments on
March 7 and 8 to the Rose & Thistie account, One of those instaliments was the $1,032 mlliion
transferred on March 8 from Rose & Thistle to United Empire Lands.

Froese
[116] In hisreport Froese stated:

The Inspector identified a March 8, 2013 transfer of $1,032,000 from West Mall
Holdings Ltd. to Rose & Thistle that he concluded was sourced from the Applicants
funds, On the same day, a transfer of $1,032,000 of funds from Rose & Thistle to United
Empire Lands Ltd, provided the funds to United Empite to close the purchase of the 3270
Ametican Drive property on March 11, 2013,

We do not disagree with this analysis, However, it does not take into account funds
received from Christine DeJong Medical Professional Corporation for an investment in
United Empire that were used In part to fund Schedule B Companies and which were
being repaid to United Empire through the $1,032,000 transfer, (emphasis added)
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Christine DeJong brought her own cross-motion and filed an affidavit. She deposed that she
thought the payments she was making to United Empire Lands would be used to acquire the

American Drive property,
[117] Froese also stated in his repott:

Based on the above information, United Empire funds of $706,850 were transferred to
Rose & Thistle and used in part to fund Schedule B Companies, Schedule B funds of
$1,046,000 were transferred through Rose & Thistle to United Empire, in part as
repayment of the $706,850.

C, 2454 Bayview Drive (Academy Lands Ltd.)

Ingpector

[118] Academy Lands Ltd, a Walton Schedule C Company, purchased property at 2454
Bayview Avenue, Toronto, on December 21, 2011 for $8 million, with a charge in the amount of
$6.2 million registered in favour of Business Development Bank of Canada, Accordingly, $1.8
million had to be otherwise financed in order to acquire the Bayview property.

[119] The Inspector reported that on December 12, 2011, the amount of $1,6 million was
transferred from the Rose & Thistle Account to Academy Lands,

[120] A week eatlier, on December 6, 2011, the closing balance in the Rose & Thistle Account
had been only $97,880, The Inspector reported that on December 5, 2011, the Applicants paid
into the account of Royal Agincourt Company, a Schedule B Company, an equity investment in
the amount of $1,782 million. Between December S and December 13, 2011, the amount of
$1.73 million was transferred out of that account into the Rose & Thistle bank account. On
December 8, 2011, the Applicants made a mortgage advance of $706,050 to Tisdale Mews Inc,,
another Schedule B Company, which, on the same day, was tr ansfened from that bank account
to the Rose & Thistle bank account,

[121] The Inspector expressed the view that the transfers from the Royal Agincourt account and
the mortgage advance from the Tisdale Mews account to Rose & Thistle were the primary
sources of the funds for the transfer of $1.6 million to Academy Lands on December 12 which,
inturn, funded the acquisition of 2454 Bayvlew on December 21, 2011,

Froese
[122] Froese made several comments about the Inspector’s analysis, First, Froese stated:
We agree that $1.6 million and $110,350 traced to Academy Lands. However, these

funds were fully returned to Rose & Thistle during the period of the Inspector’s analysis
in the following two days. This s an example of a “snapshot” ttacing being accurate in
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and of itself but not reflecting relevant transactions within several days of the period
selected by the Inspector. (emphasis added)

Froese concluded: “Accordingly Academy Lands did not retain any funds from Dr, Bernstein in
December 2011 when it purchased 2454 Bayview,”

[123] T am not prepared to accept that statement. Gaps in the evidence do not permit the
making of such a forceful assertion. Let me explain why,

[124] A review of the Academy Lands bank account statement for the month of December,
2011 certainly shows that the December 12 “transfer in” of $1.6 million fiom Rose & Thistle
was the main source of the $1,986 million balance which existed on December 20, the day before
the acquisition of the Bayview property, The $1.986 million was withdrawn by way of a certified
cheque on December 20. The next day — the day of closing - an identical amount was deposited
“at the counter” back into the Academy Lands account, The ldentity of amounts of the December
20 withdrawal and December 21 deposit back-in would support an inference, which I draw, that
the same money withdrawn on December 20 was re-deposited the following day into the
Academy Lands account.

[125] On December 21 — the day of closing - there was a transfer of $322,800 from the
Academy Lands account to the Rose & Thistle account, Unfortunately, neither the Inspectot’s
report nor the Froese report investigated the specific use of those funds, The Froese Report did
attach the Rose & Thistle bank statement which showed that the $322,800 deposit was the source
for over a dozen payments of various amounts over the course of that day which reduced the
account’s balance to just slightly more than $30,000. I was not pointed to evidence which would
explaln those various transfers out of the Rose & Thistle account, specifically whether they had
anything to do with payments made on the closing of the purchase of the Bayview property.

[126] Froese also stated that they had been informed that the vendor of the Bayyiew propeity,
Dibri Inc,, had provided $1.75 million of financing to Academy Lands in an unregistered vendor
take-back mortgage that was not registered until 2014: “As a result, little or no funds were
required to close the purchase of the property.” On this point, I have reviewed Exhibit 2 to the
Froese Report, It does not contain a statement of adjustments for the closing of the acquisttion of
Academy Lands and the copy of the charge is obviously a mere draft. The other closing
documents contained in Exhibit 2 did not refer to a vendor take back mortgage.

D. 346 Jarvis, Unit It (1780355 Ontario Inc,)

Inspector

[127] The tracing analysis performed by the Inspector In its Fourth Report traced parts of two
April 15, 2013 advances by the Applicants — $1,286 million into Dewhurst and $1.452 million
into Eddystone — into the bank account of Rose & Thistle ($641,500 and $866,700 respectively),
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The Inspector reported that transfers to Schedule C Companies and Ms, Walton from Rose &
Thistle around that time amounted to $1,194 million consisting of $937,000 to 1780355 Ontario,
$111,550 to Plexor Plastics (a Walton company) and $110,000 to Norma Walton,

[128] The Inspector reported that shortly after the transfers totaling $937,000, Norma and Ron
Walton purchased a property at 346E Jarvis, Toronto, using 1780355 Ontario Inc,

Froese

[129] Froese stated that he agreed with the Inspector that $937,000 traced through the Rose &
Thistle clearing account to 1780355 Ontarlo, Froese stated that as of December 31, 2013 the net
amount owing to Rose & Thistle by 1780355 Ontario was $496,897, That led Froese to state:

In summary, we agree with the Inspector’s tracing of $937,000 of Dr. Bernstein's funds
through Schedule B Company accounts to the Rose & Thistle clearing account and to 178
Inc. In our view, however, the $496,897 net amount owing from 178 Inc. to Rose &
Thistle is the appropriate amount to consider owing to Rose & Thistle from 178 Inc.

(emphasis added)
E. 44 Park Lane Circle

Inspector

[130] The Waltons own a large mansion in the Bridle Path area of Toronto on 44 Park Lane
Circle which they acquired on June 26, 2012 for $10.5 million, Two mortgages totaling $8
milllon were registered against title that day.

[131] On June 25, 2012, Rose & Thistle transferred $2,584,850 into Ms, Walton’s personal
account and that day she transferred $2.5 million to acquire 44 Park Lane Circle. The
$2,584,850 transfer was largely sourced from (i) a June 15 equity investment by the Applicants
of $2,320,963 into Red Door Developments (875 Queen St, East) which was transforred that
same day to Rose & Thistle and (i) a June 25 $675,000 equity investment made by the
Applicants in respect of 1450 Don Mills which was deposited directly into the Rose & Thistie

account,”’
Froese

[132] Froese did not dispute the Inspector’s analysis concerning the use of the Applicants’
advance to Red Door Developments; Froese did not address the advance to 1450 Don Mills,

* On June 25, 2012, two of the deposits made Into the Rose & Thistle bank account were for $675,000 and $1.662
miflion; they were followed immediately by a transfer out of $2.337 million,
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Evidence of Ms, Walton about the acquisition of the property

1331 In her June 21, 2014 affidavit, Ms, Walton explained how she and her husband came to
own the property at 44 Park Lane Circle. She deposed:

We purchased the 6.2 acre property at 44 Park Lane Circle in June 2012 for $10.5 million
with the intention of making money on the property, similar to our last house we bought
at 92 Truman™ and similar to the commercial properties we purchase on a regular basis,
It was never our intention to remain in the residence long-term, and we lived there with
our four children through major renovations to save living costs and expenses.

Looking at the marketing brochure prepared by a realtor retained by the Respondents for a
potential sale of 44 Park Lane Circle — Exhibit SS to Ms, Walton’s June 21, 2014 affidavit — it is
difficult to be moved by Ms. Walton’s protestations of the hardship of living through
renovations, The pictures of the house show a palatial mansion finished to the highest standards
with only the best of lusury amenities,

[134] Ms, Walton candidly admitted that she and her husband had used some of the money
provided by Dr, Bernstein for the 875 Queen Street East property to acquire their residence at 44
Park Lane Circle;

We used the proceeds of sale provided by Dr, Bernstein to us when he bought into our
875 Queen Street propetty, We had a cost base of $6.65 million and he bought in at a
price of $9.5 million, The $2.215 million he invested to purchase 50% of the shares in
875 Queen Strect East was used by us to fund the purchase of 44 Park Lane Circle, as this
money was due to us, such money representing the equity we had created in the property
and disclosed to Dr, Bernstein prior to his purchase, This money was not to be used to
complete the Queen Street project as it was part of the purchase price for Dr. Bernstetn to
buy in.

As Ms, Walton clarified in her July 3, 2014 affidavit, they had invited Dy, Betnstein to buy into
that project “many months after we had contracted to buy” the property, not after they had
actually bought the property, In fact, as her June 8, 2012 email to Dr, Bernstein disclosed, Ms,
Walton only had the property under “conditional contract” at the time she solicited an investment
from him,

[135] In its Third Report dated January 15, 2014, the Inspector set out the explanation it had
received from Walton for the 875/887 Queen Street East transaction;

5% The Waltons sold thelr 92 Truman hoyse about a year after they had acquired the Park Lane Clrcle,
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From June 15 to 25, 2012, Rose & Thistle transferred the $2.3 million paid by Dr.
Bernstein to itself and established an inter-company receivable due from Rose & Thistle
to Red Door in that amount. Ms, Walton subsequently delivered an invoice dated June
30, 2012.,. that purported to charge fees to Red Door in the amount of approximately
$2.1 million effectively offsetting the inter-company debt, Ms, Walton subsequently
advised the Inspector that the purpose of the transaction was to adjust her equity to draw
and the agreed-upon increase in value between the time she purchased the company and
Dr, Bernstein’s buy~in, An adjustment to Ms, Walton’s equity account on the books of
the company has been recommended by the company’s external accountant, The
Inspector questioned the propriety of Rose & Thistle delivering an invoice purportedly
charging fees as a mechanism to reflect a distributlon of equity to a shareholder, Upon
being challenged by the Inspector, Ms, Walton reversed the invoice and reinstated the
receivable due from Rose & Thistle, In addition, an increase was recorded to Ms,
Walton’s equity on the balance sheet adding approximately $2.2 million as a fair market
value adjustment, The Inspector notes that paragraph 13 of the agreement between the
parties provides that equity is to be distributed to the shareholders only after the property
is developed and sold. The receivable due from Rose & Thistle remains outstanding and
Ms. Walton has yet to explain the basis upon which Rose & Thistle removed cash from
this company to create the receivable in the first place,

[136] I do not accept Ms, Walton’s contention that they wete entitled to use Dr, Bernstein’s
equity contribution to 875 Queen Street East to fund the acquisition of their Park Lane Circle
residence, Her explanation does not accord with the representations which were made in the
June 25, 2012 agteement between Norma Walton and Ron Walton, on the one part, and Dr.
‘Bernstein, on the other, for the Queen Street Bast properties. Aftached to that June 25, 2012
agreement was a table sefting out the capital required for the project, The table recorded total
capital required of $11,64 million, Included in that required capital was $2,215 million for
* “development monies invested to date”, The chart represented that three sources of funds would
be used to satisfy the required capital: (i) a $7 million mortgage; (ii) $2.32 million from Dr,
Bernstein; and, (iif) $2.32 million from Ron and Norma Walton, .

[137] In her evidence, Ms, Walton seemed to suggest that the reference to the required capital
of $2.215 million for “development monies invested to date” somehow signaled to Dr, Bernstein
that when he signed the agreement he knew, or should have known, that the Waltons would
extract some “earned equity” from the project. Ms, Walton canvassed this point with Dr,
‘Bernstein on her cross-examination of him which led to the following exchange:

Q. 1811, Ms, Walton: I'm going to suggest to you that this email, coupled with this
statement, shows that your buy-in to the Queen Street property was at a price that was
higher than the cost base because of the work that the Walton Group had done on the
property in the two years prior that they had it under contract?

A, Dr, Bernstein: My agreement to purchase in was at the cost of purchasing the
properties and the cost out-of-pocket of monies spent or to be spent to get to the closing,

That is what it was for,
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Q. 1812: Dr, Bernstein, I know you're saying that now, but did you ever say, “Norma, I
like the project, but I want to be in at the putchase price and I don’t want to pay any
development monies of 2,215 million?”

A: No, because I took this to say that you spent $2,215 million in bringing the property
to whete if was,

Q. 1813; Did you do any due diligence on that 2,215 million?

A: Ttrusted you and your comments and your documentation that you spent that money.

Q. 1814: Okay, but you,..

A: DId T ask you to verify it? No, Did I frust you? Yes, [ did,

Q. 1815; So you bought into the property understanding that there was already $2.215
million of value inherent in the purchase price?

A, Absolutely not, I bought into the property because it says here you spent $2,215
million to that point or that will have been spent with the closing, along with legal foes
and land transfer tax, municipal and Ontario land transfer tax and other fees and
disbursements of $65,000, That’s what I bought into,

1
;
|

Q. 1817: Let me rephrase. Are you unhappy that you agreed to buy in at nine and a half
million dollars?

A: If the circumstances are all in place,,, Are you asking me about today?

Q. 1818: Yes

A: From my understanding today, you didn’t spend $2.215 million, From my
understanding today, you did not secure Red Door to do anything and move value, From
my understanding today, what you told me hete is not true,

/

[138] Dr. Betnsteln testified that when he invested in the Queen Street East project he was not
aware that he was not buying in at the original cost base of the property, as contended by Ms,

Walton,*!

[139] Section 4 of the Queen Stroet East agrooment provided that Dr. Bernstein wished to own
50% of the shares in the companies, Red Door Developments Inc, and Red Door Lands Ltd,, in
exchange for providing 50% of “the equity required to complete tho project”. Section 4

3 Bernstein CX, QQ. 1752-3; 1811,
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stipulated that “[TThe company will issue sufficient shares such that Bernstein has 2,320,963 and
Walton has 2,320,963 voting shares of the same class”, Section 4 stipulated that Dr, Bernstein
would recetve shares issued from the company’s treasury, not acquire shares from the Waltons
which wete already issued and outstanding, Both Ron and Norma Walton are lawyers; I have
no doubt that they understand the basics of corporate law,

[140] Sectlon 7 of the agreement dealt with the equity contributions - Dr, Bernsteln was
required to provide his by June 20, 2012, and the Waltons were required to provide theirs “in a
timely manner as required as the ptoject is completed”,

[141] Section 15 of the agreement specifically dealt with the use of funds advanced to the Red
Doot Companies;

The Company will only be used to putchase, renovate and refinance the property at 875
and 887 Queen Street East, Toronto, Ontario or such other matters solely relating to the

Project and the Propetty,

[142] As to the abllity of the parties to extract their capital from the Queen Street East project,
Section 13 stated:

Once the Project is substantially completed to the point that all of the Property has been
sold, both parties will be paid out their capital plus profits and Walton will retain the

company for potential future use,

[143] Norma Walton deposed in paragraph 51 of her June 21, 2014 affidavit that the money she
and her husband had extracted out of the Red Doot Companles following Dr, Bernstein’s
advance of equity was money which “was due to us, such money representing the equity we had
created in the property and disclosed to Dr. Betnsteln priot fo his purchase”, In her July 3, 2004
affidavit she contended that “the increase in value from the time we contracted to purchase to the
time we invited Dr, Bernstein to partner with us was outs alone as we were the sole owners of
the company at that time,” Those assertions are flatly contradicted by the plain language of the
agreement with Dr, Bernstein to which Ron and Norma Walton put their signatures, Also, the
plain language of the agreement flatly contradicted her statement that Dr. Bernstein’s “money
was not to be used to complete the Queen Street project as it was part of the purchase price for

Dt. Bernstein to buy in,”

[144] Moteovet, in her June 8, 2012 email to Dr, Bernstein soliciting his investment in the
property, Norma Walton made no mention of her intention to use his investment to fund the
Waltons’ “‘extraction of equity” so that they could buy a home on Park Lane Clrcle,

[145] Based upon Norma Walton's June 21, 2014 evidence, I can only conclude that when
Norma and Ron Walton sighed the June 25, 2012 agreement with Dr, Betnstein for the 875/887
Queen Street East project, they fully intended to use the funds advanced by Dr. Bernstein to
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fund, in part, their own acquisition that day of their 44 Park Lane Clicle personal residence,
They did not disclose to Dr, Bernstein their intended use of his funds, To the contrary, in the
agreement they signed with him on June 25, 2012, they led Dr. Bernstein to believe that the
funds he advanced would be used solely for the project at 875/887 Queen Sireet East and that
neither he nor his co-venturers, Norma and Ron Walton, would be able to withdraw their capital
from that project until it had been sold, By signing the agreement with Dr, Bernstein on June
23, 2012, and then proceeding immediately to appropriate the funds he advanced to their own
use later that day to acquire their mansion at 44 Parl Circle Park Lane Circle, Norima and Ron
Walton deceived Dr. Bernstein and unlawfully misappropriated Dr. Bernstein’s funds to their
own personal use. In short, the Waltons defrauded Dr. Bernstein,

TEvidence of Norma Walton about the ownership interests of others in 44 Park Lane Circle

[146] Ms. Walton deposed that she and her husband corrently were in the process of severing
the 44 Park Lane Circle property into two separate parcels, In her December 17, 2013 affidavit
Ms, Walton deposed that the property was owned by her husband and herself and that no
shareholders owned an interest in the property. However, on the net worth statement attached as
Exhibit “MM” to her June 26, 2014 affidavit, Ms, Walton had divided the propetty into two parts
— 44a and 44b — and listed $5.77 million in preferred shares invested in “44b” Park Lane Circle,
On December 18, 2013 Newbould J. ordered that the Respondents could not deal with 44 Park
Lane Circle without further order of the Court,

[147] Mr, Reitan deposed that Ms, Walton must have sworn false evidence on December 17,
2013, or the Waltons wete in breach of Justice Newbould’s order of December 18, 2013 or
Exhibit MM to Ms, Walton’s June 26, 2014 affidavit was false,

[148] Based upon a review of the entire record, I think the answer lies in a fourth explanation.
In her evidence and at the hearing Ms, Walton went to considerable pains to state that she
intended to take care of all of her creditors — except Dr. Betnsteln — because she had promised to
make good on their investments as preferred shareholders in various Schedule C Companies
which no longer possessed any equity to pay their shareholders. Many of the affidavits and
statements filed by the preferred sharcholders stated that they had agreed with Ms. Walton that
she could pay them from the proceeds of sale from other Walton propeities, even though the
Schedule C Corporations in which they had invested lacked any equity to pay them outf as
preferred shareholders, I conclude that Ms, Walton*s reference in her net worth statement to
$5.77 million of preferred shareholders in “44b” Park Lane Circle was her way of saying to the
preferred shareholders that she would protect them out of the proceeds of the severed “44b”
portion of the Park Lane Circle property once it was sold, That evidence demonstrates that if
Ms, Walton thinks it fit to pay a creditor, she will work to do so; if she does not, she won’t. In
Ms, Walton’s worldview, her discretion is absolute, and her creditors must abide by the exercise
of her discretion and the preferences she accords certain creditors.
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Renovations to 44 Park Lane Circle

[149] The evidence also disclosed that funds originating in a Schedule B Company, Tisdale
Mews, wete used to fund $268,104.57 in renovations to the Waltons® 44 Park Lane Circle home,’
Ms. Walton justified the use of those funds by stating that “Rose & Thistle funded 100% of the
$268,104,57 purchases before any cheques were sent out of the Tisdale Mews account” and,
overall, Rose & Thistle transforred more money to Tisdale Mews than it had recelved from that
Schedule B Company, In his November 5 Reasons Newbould J. considered that evidence from
Ms, Walton and concluded that “no reasonable explanation has been provided” for the use of the

Tisdale Mews funds.

¥, 2 Kelvin Street and 0 Luttrell Avenue

Inspector

[150] 6195 Cedar Street Ltd.,, a Walton Schedule C Company, purchased 2 Kelvin Street,
Toronto, on April 17, 2012, for $1.8 million, with a mortgage in the amount of $1.44 million

registered agalnst title.

[151] The Inspector teported that funds totaling approximately $221,000, primarily sourced
from funds paid by the Applicants to a Schedule B Company, were transferred to the Rose &
Thistle account on April 17, 2012 and, in turn, transferred that day to Cedar. The opening
balance in the Rose & Thistle account on April 17 was $10,285, A $700,000 equity investment
made by the Applicants to Fraser Lands Ltd. that day was transferred out of that Schedule B
Company’s account to the Rose & Thistle account.

Froese

[152] Froese stated: “We agres with the Inspector that $221,000 traces through the Rose &
Thistle clearing account to 6195 Cedar, with a limited amount of co-mingling in the clearing
account in or around April 17, 2012,” ‘

Applicants’ evidence

[153] M. Reitan deposed that the property at 0 Luttrell was adjacent to the one at 2 Kelvin
Street, A Walton company, Bible Hill Holdings Ltd, purchased the Luttrell property on
November 15, 2012, Norma Walton did not disclose the Respondents’ ownership interest in that
propetty in her affidavit sworn December 17, 2013; she only later admitted that ownership
interest as a result of inquiries from Applicant’s counsel, Mr, Reitan also deposed, in paragraph
164 of his June 26, 2014 affidavit, that up to $152,950 of a $318,392 November 13, 2012
contribution by Dr, Bernstein to Salmon River Properties Ltd. in respect of (0 Trent Avenue was
transferred through the Rose & Thistle account to Bible Hill Holdings Ltd, to finance the
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acquisition of 0 Luttrell. Having reviewed the supporting documents filed by Reitan to reach
that conclusion, I accept his analysis,

G, 26 Gerrard Street (Gerrard House Inc,)

Inspector

[154] Gerrard House Inc,, a Schedule C Company, purchased 26 Gerrard Street, Toronto, on
December 20, 2011, for $5.5 million, at which time two charges were registered totaling $4.95

million,

[155] The Inspector reported that it appeared that funds totaling approximately $371,200,
primarily sourced from funds paid by the Applicants to the Schedule B Companies, were
transferred to the Rose & Thistle account on December 20, 2011 and, that same day, were

transferred to Gerrard House,

[156] The opening balance in the Rose & Thistle account on December 20 was $40,369. Most
of three mortgage advances made by the Applicants that day to three Schedule B Companies
were transferred to the Rose & Thistle account: $278,200 from Liberty Village Properties Ltd.;
$39,900 from Riverdale; and, $120,400 from Wynford,

Froese

[157] Froese agreed with the Inspector that “$371,200 traces through the Rose & Thistle
clearing account to Gerrard House, with a very limited amount of co-mingling in the cleating
account on December 19 and 20, 20117

H. The Froese critique of the Inspector’s “snapshot” approach

[158] In its report Froese criticized the Inspector’s tracing analysis because it was a “snapshot”
tracing which, while accurate in and of itself, did not reflect the history of other transfers into
and out of Rose & Thistle and a Schedule C Company, Froese expressed the view that the
determination of the amount owing to or from Rose & Thistle to a Schedule C Company should
be based upon the net amount owing as at December 31, 2013,

[159] The Inspector responded to this criticism in its Fifth Report emphasizing that “the tracing
charts at Appendix F are intended to provide a snapshot of activity at a particular point of time.
Funds transferred to or from the relevant company outside of the time period are not captured.”

[160] Let me comment on two principles which guided Froese’s analysis — one implied; the
other stated. First, Froese made no comment on the propriety of the Respondents’ pooling funds
advanced by the Applicants with other Schedule B Company funds, Rose & Thistle funds,
Schedule C Company funds, and amounts advanced by third party investors in respect of
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Schedule C Companies, Second, Froese was of the view that the appropriate way to approach
the issue of who owed whom what involved looking at the state of the various net balance
accounts amongst the Schedule B Companies, Rose & Thistle and Schedule C Companies at a
particular point of time. In his report Froese frequently used December 31, 2013 as that point of

time,

[161] While I undetstand the technical reasons why Froeses followed those principles when
conducting his analysis, the principles did not take into account the critical feature of the context
surrounding all of those inter-company transfers of the Applicants’ funds — they should never
have happened, The contracts between the Applicants and the Respondents contained provisions
designed to ensure that funds advanced by the Applicants to a Schedule B Company did not leak
out from that company’s account and that third-party Investment funds did not leak into the
Schedule B Companies, The Waltons utterly ignored those contractual obligations, with several

consequences:

) Funds advanced by the Applicants to Schedule B Companies in fact ended up going
to Walton-owned Schedule C Companies, a fact acknowledged by Froese;

(i) ~ The pooling of the Applicants’ funds with others by the Respondents has caused
significant difficulties in ascertaining precisely what happened with all of the funds
advanced by the Applicants, That difficulty was caused by the Respondents
systematlically ignoring their contractual obligations, The Respondents had complete
control over all of the funds, The co-mingling of the Applicants’ funds with others
was a problem solely of the Waltons’ making; and,

(i)  To contend that one should look at the net balances owed between Rose & Thistle
and a Schedule C Company at a more recent point of time, rather than focusing on
transfers which made available Applicants’ funds fot Schedule C Companies to
acquire properties, ignoted the fact that the transfer of Schedule B Company funds to
Schedule C Companies at times when a Schedule C property was acquired should
never have happened in the first place and that “but for” the transfer of Applicants’
funds to Schedule C Companies, the latter would not have been able to acquire the

Schedule C Property,

In my view, for the Respondents to use an expert’s report to argue that the Inspector’s analysis of
the tracing of Applicants’ funds into Schedule C Companies lacked absolute precision does not
help the Respondents’ case at all, It amounted to nothing more than chipping away at the edges
of inter-company transfers which the Waltons should never have made, It also reinforced the
utter fallure of the Waltons to discharge the onus on them of explalning precisely what had
happened with the Applicants’ funds, For the Waltons to be able to rely on net inter-company
balances at, say December 31, 2013, in opposition to the Applicants’ claims for relief against
Schedule C Companies, they would have to demonstrate that all ofthe Applicants’ funds which
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were transforred at an eatlier point of time into a Schedule C Company to fund its acquisition of
a propetty ultimately found their way back into the Schedule B Company from which they
originated and wete used only by that Schedule B Company, That the Respondents have not
done, or even tried to do, Asa tesult, I do not accept the opinion proffered by Froese that the
better way of assessing transfers to Schedule C Companies is to ascertain the net balance owing
by or to a Schedule C Company at some point of time long after the Applicants’ funds had been
made available to the Schedule C Company to acquite a property ~ & benefit to the Waltons and a
detriment to Dr, Bernstein,

1. The “trending up” of transfers to the Schedule C Companies

[162] The Inspector performed an overall analysis of the net amounts transferred from Schedule
B Companies to Rose & Thistle and from Rose & Thistle to Schedule C Companies during the
period October, 2010 to December, 2013, The net amount transferted from Schedule B
Companies to Rose & Thistle was $23,68 miilion and the net amount transferred from Rose &
Thistle to Schedule C Companies was $25.37 million. The Inspector stated, in its Fifth Report:

The Inspector’s analysis shows a consistently increasing net transfer from the [Schedule
B] Companies to Rose & Thistle, In othet words, even if some amounts were transfotred
to the Companies by Rose & Thistle, these returns did not keep pace with the steady flow
of funds from the Companies to Rose & Thistle and from Rose & Thistle to the Walton

Companies,

[163] In its Fifth Repott the Inspector included a chart and graph which compared the net
amount of transfers from the Schedule B Companles to Rose & Thistle with the net amount of
transfers from Rose & Thistle to Walton Companies for each month from October, 2010, when
the Applicants made their first investment, to December, 2013, The Inspector reported:

The graph depicts the net amount transforred as at the end of each month, The graph
indicates a steady trend upwards, That is, the net amount transferred from [Schedule B]
Companies increased, on a month over month basis for most months, The transfers from
Rose & Thistle to Walton Companies increased in most months in a simiiar ratio....

The timing and quantum of the transfers described above is not consistent with the
Respondents’ contention that the transfers to Rose & Thistle represent payment for,
among other things, mote than $20 million worth of construction work performed by ot
on behalf of Rose & Thistle for the benefit of the Companies,

If the transfors had been related to construction work, a substantial portion of the funds
taken from the Companles would have to have been used to pay construction costs,
Including contractors (if the work was subcontracted) or suppliers and labor (if the work
was performed by Rose & Thistle), Only the profit earned by Rose & Thistle on the
construction would have been available for transfer to the Walton Companies, However,
throughout the period examined, the amount transferred to the Walton Companies and the
amount transferred from the Companies increased at approximately the same pace, In
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every month examined, the amounts transferred to the Walton Companies represented a
significant percentage of the amount transferred from the Companies. There is no
evidence that the Respondents had sufficient resources to fund both the transfers to the
Walton Companies and the work shown on the involces that they have proffered to justify

those transfers,
J. Preferred Shareholders of some Schedule C Companies

[164] What evidence was filed on these motions to explain the sources of funding available to
the Schedule C Companies other than the funds of the Applicants which were transferred by the
Waltons out of the Schedule B Companies? Ms, Walton deposed that there was $14,107,876 of
42 “innocent third party investors’ money” in the Schedule C Companles consisting of preferred
shareholders, common shareholders and debtors. A chart summarizing those investments -
Exhibit MM to her June 21, 2014 affidavit - only recorded $7,7 million in investments and it did
not provide any back-up documentation to verify the investments.

[165] Ms, Walton also filed affidavits or statements from 30 preferred shareholders in five
Schedule C Companies: Front Church Properties, Academy Lands, The Rose & Thistle Group,
Cecil Lighthouse and 1793530 Ontario. Each shareholder deposed to the “value”’ of his or her
preferred shares (or in some cases loans) in Schedule C Companles, The particulars are set out
in Appendix “B” to these Reasons.

[166] 1 am not prepared to accept that the “value” each shareholder attributed to his ot her
shares reflected that actual amount invested by the shareholder, Some of the affidavits strongly
suggested that shareholders were including capital appreciation and accrued dividends or
distributions in the “value” of their investments, For example, Christine DeJong deposed that
she had advanced $716,906 to United Empire, a Schedule C Company, in January, 2013, and
stated that the value of her shares, according to the Respondents, was now $992,750, However,
taking that “value” evidence from preferred shareholders at its highest, it disclosed a “value” of
$8,780,817 attributed by those shareholders to their investments in the five Schedule C

Companies,
K. Summary of findings on transfers of funds to Schedule C Companies

[167] . 1 accept, in large part, the tracing analysis performed by the Inspector on the Schedule C
Companies described above, 1 find that In the instances identified by the Inspector, in a brief
period of time the Waltons directed the transfer of funds advanced by the Applicants from a
Schedule B Company to a Walton-owned Schedule C Company, through Rose & Thistle, and the
Schedule C Company used those funds to purchase a property. In the result, I find that the
following amounts of the Applicants’ funds were used to purchase or discharge encumbrances on

Schedule C Properties;
) 14 College Street: $1,314,225 ($330,750 + $983,475);
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(i) 3270 Amerlcan Drive: $1.032 million;
(iff) 2454 Bayview: $1.6 million;
(iv)  346E Jarvis St $937,000;
) 44 Park Lane Circle: $2.5 million;
(vi) 2 Kelvin Street: $221,000; |
(vil) 0 Trent: $152,900; and,
(vill) 26 Gerrard Street: $371,200,
[168] I also accept the following conclusion of the Inspector;

[T]he Inspector has concluded that the Respondents used new equity invested in, and
mortgage amounts advanced to, the [Schedule B] Companies by the Applicants to fund
the ongoing operations of other Companies and the Walton Companies, Almost every
time the Applicants advanced funds to one of the Companies, a significant portion of
those funds was transferred to Rose & Thistle, In some instances, funds could be traced
directly into a Walton Company. In other instances, funds could not be traced directly
because the Applicants’ funds were co-mingled with other funds In the Rose & Thistle
account, However, the Inspector has concluded that the Applicants’ investment in the
Companies was a mgjor source of funds for the Walton Companies, :

C. Other issues concerning Schedule C Properties

C1 Galloway Road
[169] Highland Creek Townes Inc,, a Walton company, owned the property at 232 Galloway

Road, Toronto, On May 18, 2011, Dr. Bernstein, through his company 368230 Ontario limited,
advanced a mortgage loan to Highland Creek. The principal amount of the'mortgage was $4.05
million, advanced in two tranches, The mortgage matured on June 30, 2012, It was guaranteed

by Norma and Ron Walton,

[170] Mur. Reitan deposed that his review of the title for the property disclosed that Ms, Walton
had caused the discharge of Dr, Bernstein’'s mortgage in August, 2012 notwithstanding that the
foll amount of the principal had not been repaid. There was no dispute that the discharge was
done without Dr, Bernstein’s knowledge, consent or approval.  When thls discharge was
discovered, Dr. Bernstein pressed Ms, Walton to pay out his mortgage on Galloway, Dr,
Bernsteln emalled Ms, Walton on October 1, 2013, asklng what she had done with the $6 million
in mortgages on the Don Mills Road properties and he continued:
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You promised to pay out the Galloway mottgage by September 30, I do require, and I
did expect the funds, When can this be pald out?

[171] Ms. Walton’s email responise of the same date ignored that question and, instead, pressed
Dr. Bernstein to stop his public litigation and move their dispute into “a private setting
immediately”, That prompted the following response from Dr. Bernstein:

Dear Norma;
And the $6M is located 2?

And the Galloway mortgage is being paid out on 27

I cannot get angwers asking you directly — what other options do I have?

[172] On his July 9, 2014 cross-examination Dr, Bernstein testified that he still had not been
paid out on the Galloway mortgage,*

[173] Ms, Walton’s unilateral discharge of Dr, Bernstein’s mortgage on the Galloway propetty
without the payment in full of the amount due under the mottgage provided another example of
Ms, Walton’s pattern of breaching her contracts with Dr. Bernstein, as well as a pattern of
oppressive conduct by Norma and Ronauld Walton, as ditectors and officets of corporations,
against the Interests of Dr, Bemsteln as a corporate credltor,

C2 30/30A Hazelton

[174] The Respondents seek court approval to sell 30 Hazelton, a Schedule C Propetty, to
1659770 Ontario Inc., the corporate profile for which lists Jennlfer Coppin as the director and
officer. George Crossman, a lawyer at Beard Winter LLP, deposed that in 2009 he had been
involved in a real estate transaction in which Jennifer Coppin offered to purchase his client’s
condominium unit through 1659770 Ontario Inc. Ms, Coppin was charged criminally in respect
of that transaction, it being alleged that she had altered the agteement of purchase and sale to
inflate the purchase price to secure higher financing, Mr, Crossman deposed that he understood
it was a tetm of Ms, Coppin’s probation that she not engage in any further real estate dealings,

VII. Explanations Proffered by Ms, Walton for the Use of the Applicants’ Funds

[175] Ms, Walton proffered several explanations for the Respondents’ use of the Applicants’
funds, some of which I have already considered. Nonetheless, this section will summarize and
consider each proffered justification.

* Bernsteln CX, Q. 1198,
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A. Dr, Bernstein was a silent partner and did not insist on the strict observance of the
agreements

[176] A major theme of Ms, Walton’s affidavits was that Dr. Bernstein wanted to be a silent
partner with the result that over the years he did not insist upon strict compliance with the
agreements’ reporting obligations, That led Ms. Walton to contend in her factum: “Bernstein
acquiesced to Walton managing the portfolio in Walton’s sole discretion”,

[177] The evidence did disclose that during the initial two years of the parties’ business
relationship, Dr, Bernsteln appeared to be content with receiving only periodic reports from Ms,
Walton or answers to specific questions which his accountants posed, As Dr, Bernstein stated on
his cross-examination, “I just assumed you were following protocols for our agreements,,.””

[178] By September, 2012 Dr, Bernstein and his accountants were beginning to ask more
pointed questions, including requesting financlal statements for the Schedule B Cotpanies. By
March, 2013, Dr, Bernstein was requiring the Respondents to secure his approval for payments
over $50,000 from Schedule B Companies as stipulated by the agreements, In June, 2013 Mr,
Reitan requested detailed information about Dr, Bernsteln’s Investments and raised specific
concerns with Ms, Walton, Although this course of conduct would prevent Dr, Bernsteln from
relying on the Respondents’ fallure fo provide monthly reports In the early part of their
relationship as an event of default under the agreements, Dr, Bernstein most certainly did not
waive his entitlement to receive any reports under the agreements, When Dr, Bernstein began to

request them, he was entitled to recetve them,

[179] The evidence also disclosed that even in September, 2013, as the relationship between the
patties was breaking down and Dr, Bernstein was becoming quite vocal in his demand for a
proper accounting of his money, Notrma Walton was not prepared to adhere to the terms of her
agreements with Dr, Bernstein, Those agreements stipulated that no refinancing of a property
would take place without his approval. On September 20, 2013, Ms, Walton emailed Dr,
Bernstein advising that the $3.27 milllon mortgage on 140/150 Queen’s Plate Drive was coming
due at the end of the month and that she had arranged a new mortgage for $3.35 million which
would close in early October, Ms. Walton had signed the term sheet for the replacement
mortgage on September 18, 2013, without first securing Dr, Bemstein’s approval, Dr, Bernstein
emalled her on September 23 inslsting that she comply with the terms of their agreement and
obtaln his approval for any decisions regarding refinancing before they were made. Ms,
Walton’s response was telling because it revealed her complete unwillingness to follow the

contractual terms which bound her:

3 1bid,, Q. 1318,
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We are up against a deadline such that if we do not refinance, Carevest will call our loan,
I have been working hard to arrange refinancing and initially we tried to get BDC on
board but they won’t provide funds without site plan approval, Hence I arranged for
Stephen to provide the mortgage, I would assume that is agreeable given the alternative

is calling the loan, no?

Even when Dr, Bernstein subsequently agreed to refinance on the basis of a new $3.27 million
mortgage, Ms, Walton proceeded to put .in place a mortgage for an increased amount, $3.35
million.**

[180] From this I conclude that Ms, Walton was prepared to ignore not only the contractual
language which bound her, but also the express instructions of her co-investor, Instead, Ms,

Walton simply did as she saw fit irrespective of her legal obligations,
B. The pooling of funds was permissible or at least not wrongful

[181] Ms, Walton deposed that when she was managing the jointly-owned portfolio of
* companies, she used Rose & Thistle “as a clearinghouse account to smooth cash flow across the
portfolio,” In its First Report the Inspector recorded the explanation Ms, Walton had provided

for the pooling of funds:

Ms, Walton confirmed to the Inspector that equity contributions to, and income recetved by,
the [Schedule B] Companies wete centralized and co-mingled In the Rose & Thistle account,
which Ms, Walton described as a “clearing house”, Ms, Walton provided the following

explanations for this practice:

() Since the Properties are at various stages of development, some are cash flow positive
and others cash flow negative, The transfers to and fiom the Rose & Thistle account
“smooth out” the cash flow of the companies; and,

(b) Rose & Thistle does not bill for services that it provides on a regular basis and some
transfers were in the nature of payments for services that have been provided but not

yet invoiced,
[182] In its Fifth Report (July 1, 2014) the Inspector reported:

The Respondents provided the Applicants with a pro forma setting out the anticipated
cost of completing planned development and/or construction on each project. The
Applicants invested 50% of the budget shown on the pro forma but these funds were
dispersed among the [Schedule B] Companies and Walton Companies, Accordingly, the

% See the email exchanges at Motlon Record of the Applicants, Volume 3, Tab 119,
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funds invested by the Applicants in a Company did not remain available fo that
Company.

Since the Companies did not retain the amounts that the Applicants invested, almost
every Company required outside funding in order to complete the work shown on the
relevant pro forma, These funds appear to have been drawn in some cases (including
those illustrated in Appendix F to the Fourth Report) from new equity investments and
mortgage advances by the Applicants, In other words, new advances to one Company
appear to have been used to fund the existing obligations of other Companies or Walton

Companies,

[183] On his cross-examination Froese stated that the companies managed by the Respondents
did not have any controls in place designed to prevent the co-mingling of funds or the movement
of funds from Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle and on to Schedule C Companies.
Proese stated that depending on the arrangement between the parties and the companics, you
would expeet controls to be in place if the arrangements called for that,*

[184] In its Fifth Report the Inspector discussed the consequences of the pooling or co-
mingling of funds advanced to the Schedule B Companies by the Applicants:

The Inspector notes that the Respondents’ position that they are owed funds by the [Schedule
B] Companies is premised on the assumption that every Company is responsible for every
other Company’s debts to Rose & Thistle. The Respondents assert that if Company A owed
Rose & Thistle $1 million and Company B had $1 million in its bank account, they were
entitled to take payment from Company B for the debt owed by Company A, This is
significant since the contract governing investment into each Company provided that the
Respondents were to provide equity funding once the Applicants’ equity investment was
exhausted. The co-mingling of funds therefore had two Important consequences. (1) the
Applicants’ equity Investments were exhausted much move quickly because they were used fo
Sfund alleged obligations across the portfolio and not only to fund one Company; (1) the
Respondents were able to delay their own equity contributions by transferring funds from
other Companies insiead of iInjecting new equity Into the relevant Company. (emphasis

added)

[185] Notwithstanding the yoluminous email correspondence from Ms, Walton to Dr, Bernstein
reporting on the progress of projects, it was not until June 13, 2013 that she told him that the
funds he was advancing to the Schedule B Companles were being pooled amongst those
companies, transferred to Rose & Thistle and also transferred to Schedule C Companies, when
she responded to Mr. Reitan’s June 7, 2013 complaint letter,

* Froese CX, QQ. 91-96,
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[186] The pooling or co-mingling of funds was a critical breach of the obligations which
Norma and Ron Walton owed to Dr, Bemnstein under their agreements, In her factum Ms,
Walton submitted: “It never occurred to Walton that Bernstein would object to the pooling of
funds”, 1 completely reject that submission; it is not in the least credible, One would have
thought that the “specific-purpose” clauses contained in each of the agreements for the Schedule
B Companies which the Waltons ~ both lawyers — had signed over the course of three years
would have provided Ms, Walton with good reason fo think that Dr, Bernstein would object to
the pooling of funds since such pooling coniravened those agreements, Ms, Walton’s
protestation of innocent, but mistaken, belief on this issue simply was not credible,

[187] In addition, based on the evidence adduced I find that;

)] The Applicants were not aware that the Respondents were withdrawing funds from
the Schedule B Companies® bank accounts for any purpose other than the costs of the
associated propetty;

(if)y  The Applicants did not know that funds from Schedule B Companies were transferred
or diverted to the Rose & Thistle “clearing house” bank account because the
Respondents, in particular Ms, Walton, deliberately hid those transfers from the
Applicants; and,

(i)  The Waltons deliberately did not tell the Applicants that they were using funds
advanced by the Applicants to Schedule B Companics for thelr own personal
purposes and benefit and for the benefit of the Schedule C Companies which they

owned or conirolled,
C. Production of the general ledgers of the Schedule B Companies

[188] As an exhibit to her June 21, 2014 affidavit Ms, Walton produced the detailed general
ledgers for each of the Schedule B Companies, She viewed the production of the general ledgers
as amounting to a full accounting of the Applicants’ funds as previously ordered by this Court, It
was not, Those general ledgers had been produced to the Inspector last October, They did not
enable an analysis of the Applicants’ funds transferred from the Schedule B Companies to Rose
& Thistle, and then to the Schedule C Companies, so they did not satisfy the Respondents’
obitgation to provide a full accounting of how the Respondents had used the Applicants’ funds,

D. The Respondents previously had provided a full accounting

[189] Ms, Walton submitted that the Respondents had provided a full accounting of the use of
the Applicants’ funds and sought a declaration to that effect. This was an argument which Ms,
Walton had made on several other occasions, as summarized in my Reasons of May 20, 2014,
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To date the respondents have failed to comply with orders of this Court requiring them to
provide an accounting of monies received from the applicants, The trail starts with the
October 25, 2013 order of Newbould J. where, at paragraph 10, he ordered “that the
Respondents shall provide forthwith a full accounting of all monies received, disbursed,
owed to and owed from the Schedule “B” Corporations and The Rose & Thistle Group
Ltd. since September, 2010 to the present”,

In her affidavit sworn December 17, 2013, Walton deposed, in response to the applicants’
allegation that she had failed to provide a full accounting, that “I have provided all
information/documentation to the Receiver/Manager”, and she proceeded to give some
details, concluding: “The Receivet/Manager is in possession and control of all financial
documents held by the Walton Group in relation to the Schedule B Companies, and all
documents related to the Rose and Thistle Group have been provided to him.” In his
endorsement made January 20, 2014, Newbould J. rejected Walton’s contention that the
respondents had provided a full accounting, He concluded they had not, and he ordered:

Ms. Walton is to provide the accounting ordered in paragraph 10 of the order of
October 25, 2013 no later than January 31, 2014, Delivering records to the
Manager Is not an accounting,

Notwithstanding that clear finding and further order by Newbould J,, In her notice of
motion dated March 31, 2014, Walton sought an order that the applicants “clarify what is
meant by the term ‘a full accounting of all monles recelved, disbursed, owed to and owed
from Schedule ‘B’ Corporations and The Rose and Thistle Group Ltd. since September
2010 to the present’ as found in the October 25, 2013 Order,” In her affidavit of that date

Walton deposed:

1 have heard the Applicants complain a number of times to the Court that I have
not provided an accounting as ordered on October 25, 2013. I have swotn an
affidavit wherein I explain what I provided by October 28, 2013 to fulfill this

tequirement,

As noted, back on January 31 Newbould J, held that the respondents had not delivered
the ordered accounting and directed them to do so, They have not done so, Moreover, it
Is not for the applicants to explain the meaning of an order of this Court; that job falls to
the judges of this Court. When Walton ralsed this point at a recent hearing before me, I
informed her that a full accounting would involve explaining what had happened to every
penny of the money invested by Dr, Bernsteln with the respondents, That has not
occurred, and that most serious fallure by the respondents weighs heavily in considering

what part, if any, of the net proceeds of the sale fiom the Gelrax d Street Pxoperty should
be made avatlable to them for thetr personal use or benefit,*®

%2014 ONSC 3052, paras, 97-100.
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As I have found above, and will discuss further below, the Respondents still have not provided
the ordered accounting,

[190] Finally, on this point, in his order dated November 1, 2014, Newbould J. directed the
Respondents to pay the Inspector’s fees, They failed to do so. In a March 21, 2014 Order
Newbould J. directed the Inspector to examine the Respondents about their non-payment of fees.
The Inspector commenced his examination of Norma Walton on April 11, 2014, Prior fo the
examination Ms, Walton had not producéd documentation relating to her financial situation; at
the examination Ms, Walton gave numerous undertakings to produce such documentation, As of
the date of the Inspector’s Fifth Report (July 1, 2014), Ms, Walton had fulfilled or partially
fulfilled 8 of the 39 undertakings given at her examination, According to the Inspector, the
remaining 31 undertakings remained entirely unsatisfied, including the important undertaking to
provide copies of bank statements relating to the Walton Schedule C Companies, In its Fifth
Report the Inspector stated that Ms. Walton had advised she would answer the balance of her
undettakings once she had filed her evidence for the July 16 hearing, At the hearing I inquired
whether Ms, Walton had deltvered those outstanding undertaking answers, She had not,

. The charts attached to the June 21, 2014 Norma Walton affidavit

[191] In patagraphs 10 through to 14 of her June 21, 2014 affidavit, Norma Walton attempted
to account for the $23.68 million in net transfers from Schedule B Companies to the Rose &
Thistle Group, and in paragraph 49(1) of her Factum Ms, Walton argued that “everything that
was transferred from the jointly owned propertles to Rose and Thistle had been accounted for as
monies used by Rose and Thistle to purchase, renovate ot manage the joint portfolio,”

E.1 Construction work billed by Rose & Thistle

[192] The chart contained in paragraphs 11 and 13 of her affidavit, as well as Tab A to her
Factum (which I will call the “Reconciliation Chart”), recorded that $8.5 million of construction
work had been performed by Rose & Thistle for Schedule B Companies between January, 2011
and February, 2012, specifically for the Spadina, Eglinton, Wynford and Atlantic properties,
Ms., Walton stated that she had prepared the Reconciliation Chart with the assistance of Mr.
Buccl, the CFO of Rose & Thistle; she did not explaln why Mr, Bucci had-failed to provide any
evidence In this proceeding, especially evidence which would provide an accounting of the

Applicants’ funds.

[193] Ms, Walton deposed that she was unable to complete the analysis for the construction
work performed on projects after Febtuary, 2012 because she was still awaiting the reports
prepared by her cost consultants, That explanation made no sense and I do not accept it. As
described above, the cost consultants simply relted upon accounting summaries provided to them
by Rose & Thistle, Put another way, the cost consultants merely used information aiready in the
possession of Rose & Thistle to prepare their reports, It therefore makes no sense that Rose &
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Thistle would be unable to use information already in its possession to explain the total amount
of construction costs which it contended it had incurred on behalf of the Schedule B Companies,

[194] In her Factum Ms. Walton argued that Rose & Thistle was entitled to up to an additional
$17.070 million for construction costs based on the cost consulting reports.”” I give no credence
whatsoever to that argument. On the contrary, I found earlier in these Reasons that the
Respondents had failed to account for and to justify the amount of the construction costs
involced by Rose & Thistle to the Schedule B Companies,

E.2 Management fees

[195] Ms, Walton explained that $1,183 million of the net transfer could be explained by
management fees which Rose & Thistle had billed to the Schedule B Companies. Eatlier in
these Reasons I accepted the reconciliation between the Inspector and the Respondents of $1

million in management fees,
L3 Property maintenance costs

[196] Ms, Walton’s Reconciliation Chart also recorded $2,58 million in property maintenance
costs performed by Rose & Thistle, In the Supplement to its Fifth Report the Inspector stated:

Ms. Walton’s chart includes property maintenance fees charged to the Properties, The
Inspector understands that these costs represent costs incurred by Rose & Thistle on
behalf of the [Schedule B] Companies with respect to maintenance of the various
Properties. The Inspector has not been provided with back-up documentation in respect
of these fees.

I find that the Respondents have not established, on a balance of probabilities, that they incurred
such maintenance costs on behalf of Schedule B Companies,

E4  Deposits paid by Rose & Thistle for Schedule B Properties

[197] The Reconciltation Chart also recorded $6,657 million in deposits paid by Rose & Thistle
for the purchase of Schedule B Properties. The Inspector, in the Supplement to its Fifth Report,

stated;

The Inspector understands that in some cases Dr, Bernstein funded the deposits by
payments directly into the Rose & Thistle account, Accordingly, Ms, Walton appears to
state that the Waltons funded their share of deposits on some properties by drawing funds
out of other [Schedule B] Companies, These transfers do not appear to represent payment

7 Walton Factum, paras. 49 (9, (g) and ().
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for services rendered by R&T because all such services appeared to be shown elsewhere
on Ms, Walton’s chart,

Put simply, Ms, Walton’s chart, if correct, appears to indicate that Dr, Bernstein funded
his share of the listed deposits directly and the Walton’s share of those deposits indirectly
(since the Waltons used funds that Dr, Bernstein had previously contributed to another

company).38

[198] Let me express my profound displeasure and frustration at the way the Waltons’
“evidence” on this point was developed, Last year the Waltons were ordered to provide a full
accounting of the funds advanced by Dr, Bernstein, They failed to do so, as was found by both
Newbould J. and myself in earlier reasons, Yet, in her June 26, 2014 Affidavit and her Factum
filed July 15, 2014, Ms, Walton, for the first time, argued, through her Reconciliation Chart that
Rose & Thistle had paid for $6.657 million in deposits for Schedule B Properties for which
accounting recognition previously had not been given, That spawned a flurry of responding
submissions from other parties on the point, both before and after the hearing, ultimately
culminating with Ms, Walton massaging a reply chart put in by the Applicants (Mr, Reitan’s
Schedule “E”) to contend that the Waltons in fact had injected $8.933 million in equity into the
Schedule B Companies, an assertion for which the Waltons had adduced no concrete,

forensically verifiable evidencel
[199] That is no way in which to perform an accounting,

[200] Since last October the Waltons have been subject to an order of this Court requiring them
to account, For eight months they ignored that order, Frankly, what appears on Ms, Walton’s
Reeonciliation Chart should have been put before the Inspector last October so that proper
consideration could have been given to the arguments set out in it. I am thoroughly unimpressed
by.Ms, Walton’s last minute effort to “‘jam through” an accounting, Het breach of the previous
accounting order, together with the last minute nature of her accounting attempt, combine to
justify a high degtee of skepticism towards the arguments embedded in the Reconciliation Chart,

[201] Returning to the property purchase deposits, I would observe that the “back-up” Ms,
Walton provided for these deposits at Exhibit B to her June 26, 2014 affidavit in large part
consisted of Rose & Thistle bank account stateinents, certain entries on which bore handwritten
asterisks, unaccompanied by any other explanation, I infer that the asterisked entries
corresponded with the deposits recorded on Schedule A to her Factum, Her Exhibit B also
contalned coples of a number of Rose & Thistle cheques, only some of which seemed to have
anything to do with deposits for purchases of land. However, Ms, Walton failed to show how

. ¥ Ms, Walton understood that all monles provided by Dr, Bernsteln to the Schedule B Companles, whether directly
or through Rose & Thistle, would be Included In the $78.48 million “transferred to Rose & Thistle” tolal,



- Page 69 -

those payments made by Rose & Thistle were recorded on the books and recotds of Rose &
Thistle and the relevant Schedule B Company, 4 most materlal omission in her argument,

[202] In any event, I do not accept Ms, Walton’s argument on this point. In Appendix B to its
Fourth Report the Inspector reported that for the period under review it had identified $78.,42
million in transfers from Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle and $54.739 million in
transfers from Rose & Thistle to Schedule B Companies, for a net transfer of $23.68 million
from Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle, Ms, Walton contended, in her July 15, 2014
Factum, that the $23.68 million in net transfers from Schedule B Companies should be reduced
by, or could be partially accounted for by, $6.657 million in deposits made by Rose & Thistle in
respect of Schedule B Properties, According to her Reconciliation Chart, those deposits spanned
the period from September, 2010 (Eglinton) to April, 2013 (620 Richmond), Had Rose &
Thistle transferred to Schedule B Companies funds for deposits on Schedule B Properties —
" whether Bernstein funds or non-Bernstein funds - one reasonably would expect that those
deposits would have been taken into account in the transfers from Rose & Thistle to Schedule B
previously reported by the Inspector because the books and records of Rose & Thistle would
have recorded such inter-company transfers, To take them into account again, as Ms, Walton
seemed to argue, would amount to double-counting or, as put by the Inspector in the Supplement
to his Fifth Report, it would mean that “Dr, Bernstein funded his share of the listed deposits
directly and the Walton’s share of those deposits indirectly (since the Waltons used funds that
Dr, Bernstein had previously contributed to another company)”, In sum, I do not accept Ms,
Walton’s submission that deposits of $6,657 million should be recognized to reduce the net
transfor amount due from Rose & Thistle to the Schedule B Companies as found by the

Inspector,
ES Equity withdrawals

[203] The Reconciliation Chatt also recorded $3.615 million representing a December- 2011
and June, 2012 “Dr, Bernstein purchase from Walton in the schedule B” [Tisdale and 875 Queen
Street Bast] of $1.4 million and $2.215 million respectively, Ms, Walton deposed that those
amounts related to Dr, Bernstein “buying into a4 company after we had already owned the
company for a period of time”, That “earned equity”, according to Ms, Walton, further reduced
the net transfers from Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle, Ido not accept Ms., Walton’s
submission on that point, T will turn now to the Respondents’ “earned equity” argument in
which two properties figured prominently — the property at 875/887 Queen Street Bast held by
‘Red Door Developments Inc, and Red Door Lands Inc., (which I discussed earlier in the context
of 44 Park Lane Circle), as well as the Tisdale Mews property at 78 Tisdale Avenue,

875/887 Queen Street Fast

[204] In Section VIE of these Reasons I rejected Ms. Walton’s argument that she had been
entitled to withdraw $2,32 million in “earned equity” from funds advanced by Dr. Bernstein for
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875/887 Queen Street Bast and, instead, found that the Waltons had misappropriated to their own
petsonal use on June 25, 2012 funds advanced by Dr, Bernstein to acquire their personal
resldence at 44 Park Circle Park Lane Circle and, by so doing, Norma and Ron Walton had

deceived Dr, Bernstein and engaged in fraud,

78 Tisdale Avenue

[205] In his Third Report dated January 15, 2014, the Inspector set out the explanation it
received from Ms, Walton for the Tisdale transaction:

In the case of Tisdale, Ms, Walton purchased the property for approximately $1.4
million, Rose & Thistle performed development work on the property before Dr,
Bernstein invested in it. In the relevant agreement between the parties dated January 11,
2012,., Dr. Bernstein bought 50% of the shares of Tisdale based on an agreed-upon value
of approximately $6,7 million. Ms. Walton therefore had one half of that amount,
apptoximately $3.35 million in equity in Tisdale immediately after Dr., Bernstein’s
investment. Rose & Thistle delivered an invoice to Tisdale dated Janyary 1, 2012.,, that
purported to charge fees to Tisdale in the amount of approximately $4.4 million, Ms,
Walton subsequently advised the Inspector that the purpose of the transaction was to
effectlvely adjust her equity to draw out the increase in value between the time she
purchased the company and Dr, Bernstein’s buy-in, An adjustment to Ms, Walton’s
equity account on the books of the company has been recommended by the company’s
external accountant, The Inspector questioned the propriety of Rose & Thistle delivering
an invoice purportedly charging fees as a mechanism to reflect a distribution of equity to
a shareholder, Upon being challenged by the Inspector, Ms, Walton reversed the invoice
and an increase was recorded to Ms. Walton’s equity on the balance sheet adding
apptoximately $4.4 million as a fair market value adjustment, The Inspector understands
that Ms, Walton relies upon this inorease in her equity account as a basis to explain
several expenses that she caused Tisdale to pay, The Inspector notes the paragraph 13 of
the agreement between the partleq provides that equity is to be distributed to the
shareholders only after the property is developed and sold,

[206] 1 do not accept Ms, Walton's explanation that she was entitled to treat funds advanced by
Dr, Bernstein for Tisdale as a return of equity to her, Again, the agreement the Waltons signed
with Dr, Bernstein did not permit such conduct, Section 7(a) stated that Dr, Bernstein would
provide $1.48 million of his 50% share of the joint $3.342 million equity investment upon
signing, while section 7(b) stated that “Walton has already provided the bulk of their equity and
thoy will provide another $191,000 in a timely manner as required as the Project is completed”,
Section 13 did not permit the payment out of capital until the project was “substantially
completed”, Consequently, the Waltons’ extraction of some of the funds advanced by Dr,
Bernstein on the basis that they were entitled to a return of capital or payment out of their equity
was in breach of their clear contractual obligations to Dr, Bernstein, They had no right to do so,
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[207] Further, as in the case of 875/887 Queen Street East, the Waltons did not inform Dr,
Bernstein that they intended to treat some of his equity injection as a return of capital to them,”
By failing to so Inform Dr, Bernstein, at a time when they represented to Dr, Bernstein that no
capital would be withdrawn until the substantial completion of the project, the Waltons deceived
and defirauded Dr, Bernsteln,

Comments by Froese on equity confributions
[208] In its report Froese stated:

Based on information attached to each Agreement, over the perlod from 2010 to 2013,
expected funding available at the date of purchase of the Bemstein properties exceeded
the funds required (o purchase the properties by approximately $55.5 million, That is, the
pro forma information showed that there was significant excess funding available to
commence work on the projects. As well, Walton was to initially advance approximately
$14,5 million as compared to the $75.2 million to be advanced by Dr, Bermstein as an
equity investment (plus mottgage financing for certain properties).

The co-mingling of funds through the Rose & Thistle clearing account resulted in a
pottion of the $55.5 million of excess funding at the date of purchase to carry the
properties without further fundlng requests of the shareholders, and also without the
immediate need for Walton confributions,

As previously noted, the agréements between Dr, Bemstein and the Waltons contained clauses
which provided that the Schedule B Company would “only be used to purchase, renovate and
construct, and sell” the specified property or “such other matters solely relating to the Project and
the Property.” While Froese’s comments about the co-mingling of funds reflected a theoretical
view about how funds could be used, they ignored the specific provisions in each of the
agreements between Bernstein and the Waltons about how the funds had to be used.

[209] Froese also stated:

This analysis supports the position of Norma Walton that Dr, Bernstein expected, or
reasonably should have expected, there to be a significant disparity In the initial
investment in the Bernstein properties, with Walton to fund future costs required to

complete each project,

With respect, such an assertion fell outside the proper scope of the opinions which Froese was in
a position to express, especially because there was no evidence to support such an assertion.

* Norma Walton’s email of December 27, 2011 made no mentlon of the Waltons extracting equlty from Tisdale:
CX Bernsteln, Ex. 18,
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E.6 Conclusion

[210] In conclusion, I find that the Reconciliation Chart filed by Ms, Walton did not assist her
in accounting for the net transfers from the Schedule B Companies to Rose & Thistle, At the end
of the day, the Respondents have only justified an adjustment of $1 milllon to the Inspector’s net
transfer figure based upon the teconciliation of management fees reached with the Inspector.,

F. It was the receivership which caused the Applicants financial harm

[211] On several occasions during this proceeding Ms. Walton has gontended that it was the
Applicants’ decision to seek the appointment of receiver which caused them financial harm, She
argued that had the Applicants allowed the Waltons to deal with the pottfolio, everyone would
have been financially happy. In her June 21, 2014 affidavit, Ms, Walton again stated that a
valuation of the portfolio of Schedule B Properties the Respondents had commissioned from
Colliers right after the receivership order was made showed an appraised value of the portfollo of
$328.34 million, That appraisal was not placed before me in evidetice; I am unable to comment

upon it,

[212] Moreover, Ms, Walton’s submission on this point ignoted the simple fact that it was the
conduct of the Respondents in breaching the agreements by co-mingling funds and applying
some of the Applicants’ funds for unintended purposes, including self-dealing in favour of the
Respondents’ personal interests, that lles at the root of the current situation, The receivership
order was designed to mitigate the harm caused by the Respondents’ wrongful conduct,

VIIL, Analysis: Overview

[213] I intend to proceed with the analysis of the parties’ claims by considering the groups or
packages of relief sought by them, The relief sought by the Applicants has evolved since the
setvice of their initial February Notice of Motion, Much of the relief requested by the
Applicants at the July hearing originated in thefr Consolidated Notice of Cross-Motion/Notice of
Motion dated February 14, 2014, which was originally returnable on March 5, 2014, For a
variety of reasons that hearing was adjourned until this past July. In their June 13, 2014 Fresh as
Amended Consolidated Notice of Motion, Notice of Cross-Motion and Notice of Return of
Application the Applicants expanded the scope of the relief to include some not requested by the
Applicants in their initial February Notice of Motion, .

[214] At the hearing the Applicants amended and expanded the relief sought in two further
respects.  First, the Applicants advised that they had reached an understanding with the
mortgagees of some of the Schedule C Properties, as a result of which they were amending the
relief requested in respect of those properties. Second, the Applicants submitted a form of draft
otder which went through three iterations during the course of the hearing and which further
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expanded the relief they sought. Ms. Walton took issue with what she described as the
“creeping” amendments the Applicants sought to make to their claims,

IX.  Motion to amend the Notice of Application

[215] The Applicants sought an order granting them leave to issue and serve the Fresh as
Amended Notice of Application attached to their June 13, 2014 Consolidated Notice of Motion,
Ms. Walton submitted that it was inappropriate for Dr, Bernstein to continually seek to amend
his application to claim ever-expanding relief. She submitted that apart from any “ancillary
matters” flowing fiom the orders last year appointing the Inspector and the Manager, Dr,
Bernstein should not be entitled to assert additional claims. Ms, Walton submitted:

This is Bernstein’s seventh proposed amendment to the application, He is not entitled to
continue to amend the application every time he decides he wants something further from
Walton, The proper route for him now Is to come back through the receivership for
anything he wants within the receivership, and to launch a statement of claim if he
intends to sue for damages after the Schedule B accounting is completed. It is Improper
form to claim damages through the seventh amendment to an appllcation when the relief
originally sought has been finally determined.

[216] 1 do not accept Ms, Walton’s submission, The Respondents have ignored the October,
2013 Order to account, As a result, the Inspector had to expand the scope of its work, and only
through the Inspector’s investigations did a clearer — albeit still Incomplete - picture emerge
about how the Respondents had dealt with the Applicants’ funds,

[217] As I read the Applicants’ ptoposed Fresh as Amended Notice of Application, they are
making the amendments in light of the evidence which has emerged through the Inspector’s
reports, That is a propet basis upon which to amend, and I therefore grant the Applicants leave
to issue and serve their proposed Fresh as Amended Notice of Application,

X, Analysis: Relief involving Schedule B Companies/Properties and the Individual
Respondents

A, The relief sought

The Applicants

[218] Both. the Applicants and Ms, Walton sought relief in respect of the Schedule B
Companles and Properties, On their part, the Applicants sought the following relief in their
Notice of Motion in respect of the Schedule B Companies and against the Individual
Respondents:



(i)

(iti)

(iv)

)
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An order that the issued and outstanding shares in the Schedule “B” Companies held
by the Waltons be cancelled where sharcholder equity had not been contributed by

them;

An order for restitution and repayment to the Applicants by the Respoﬁdents in the
amount of $78,420,418 for breach of contract, unlawful misappropriation and unjust

enrlchment;

An order for restitution and repayment by the Respondents to the Applicants and/or
the Schedule B Companles, as appropriate, in respeot of the fees of Schonfeld Inc.,, in
its capacity as Inspector and Manager in this proceeding, and of its counsel

Goodmans LLP;

An interlm order directing the Respondents to dlsclose any agreements not heretofore
disclosed to cross-collateralize any obligations of the Schedule B Companies, the
Schedule C Propetties or 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontarlo; and,

An order that Schonfeld Inc, be appointed as Receiver over the Respondents, Norina
Walton and Ronauld Walton, for the purpose of ensuring payment in accordance with
any judgment of the Court in this proceeding,.

[219] In the third iteration of the draft judgment and order filed by the Applicants at the July
hearing, they sought orders granting the following additional relief:

M

(if)

(iit)

(iv)

the continuation of the Orders of Newbould J dated October 4, 2013, October 25,
2013, November 5, 2013, December 18, 2013 and March 21, 2014, except as

modified by any ordet made by these Reasons;

holding the Respondents jointly and severally liable for restitution payable to the
Appllcants in the amount of $78,420,418 for all funds diverted from the Schedule B
Companies and payment to the Applicants of the balance of those funds not otherwise
recovered by the Applicants from the sale of the Schedule B Properties;

indemnification by the Respondents of the Schedule B Companies and Applicants for
all principal amounts, plus interest, costs and penaltles incutred by or on behalf of the
Schedule B Companies, in respect of unauthorized mortgages registered on the
Properties, with that amount to be fixed;

indemnlfication by the Respondents of the Schedule B Companies and Applicants for
all amounts due and owing to oreditors and lien claimants of the Schedule B
Properties and Companies, including costs, penalties and interest, of the Schedule B
Companies, with that amount to be fixed;

|
I,
i:
L
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(v)  declaring that the Applicants had priority over any unauthorized intetests in the
Schedule B Companles; and,

(vi)  allowing the Applicants to elect to treat funds advanced by them to the Schedule B
Companies, or any of them, as sharcholder loans for the purposes of enforcement of

their remedies,

Ms, Walton
[220] On her part, Ms. Walton requested orders containing the following relief:

) a declaration that the Respondents had provided a full accounting of Dr, Bernstein’s
invested funds in the Schedule B Companies in full satisfaction of the October 25,

2013 Order;

(i)  removal of The Rose and Thistle Group Ltd. from the operation of paragraphs 3(b)
and (c) of the October 25, 2013 Order; and,

(ill)  a determination by the Court, by way of the trial of an issue, of the amount of money
dye from the Schedule B Companies to The Rose and Thistle Group Ltd. for work
done and not yet paid and an Order that the amount due be paid from sale proceeds of

the Schedule B propetties.
B. Aunalysis

B.1 Accounting

[221] Thave found above that the Respondents have not provided the accounting mandated by
this Court’s October 25, 2013 Order,

[222] Ms., Walton sought to remove from the ambit of the October 25 Order the Respondent,
The Rose & Thistle Group Ltd,, on the basis that the company was owned jointly by her husband
and herself and “no longer has any banking relationship with the Bernstein-Walton pottfolio of
properties.” Since the Respondents have failed to provide the Court-ordered accounting, and
since Rose & Thistle was the conduit through which funds of the Applicants were directed by the
Waltons from the Schedule B Compantes to Schedule:C Companies, there is no basis to remove
Rose & Thistle from the operation of paragraphs 3(b) and () of the October 25, 2013 Order, On
the contrary, it is necessary that Rose & Thistle remain subject to that order so that tracing efforts

can continue.

[223] Accordingly, I dismiss those portions of Ms, Walton’s motion,
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[224] The Applicants’ request for an order that the Respondents disclose any oross-
collateralization agreements not already disclosed is necessary for the proper perfotmance of the
accounting order, and I grant it,

B2 Transfers between Rose & Thistle and Schiedule B Companies

[225] I have found that of the $23.6 million in net transfers from Schedule B Companies to
Rose & Thistle identified by the Inspector, the Respondents had only justified a reduction of $1
million in that number by reason of management foes billed, It follows that I dismsss Ms,
Walton’s audacious — but forensically unsupported — request for a trial of an issue of the amount
of money the Schedule B Companies owed to Rose & Thistle. While in sports the best defence
sometimes might be a good offence, that strategy does not work when parties who are subject to
a court accounting order fail to comply with it, Ms, Walton seems to fail to appreciate the
gravity of the sitvation in which she and her husband find themselves,

B.3 Restitution and damages

[226] The Applicants sought an order for restitution and repayment to them by the Respondents
in the amount of $78,420,418 for breach of contract, unlawful misappropriation and unjust
enrichment, which they translated in their draft order into a request for an order that the
Respondents wete jointly and severally liable for restitution payable to the Applicants in the
amount of $78,420,418 for all funds diverted from the Schedule B Companies and that they pay
to the Applicants the balance of those funds not otherwise recovered by the Applicants from the

sale of the Schedule B Propertios

[227] 1 am not prepared to grant such an order at this time because I am not satisfied that
adequate argument was placed before the Court on this issue. Applying the different measures of
damages for breach of contract, unlawful misappropriation and unjust enrichment could result in
quite different damage awards on the facts of this case. I think the Court requires more
assistance on this point than was provided by the parties at this hearing, and I therefore defer to a
later date consideration of this part of the Applicants’ claim, For the same reason I am not
propared to grant, at this time, the Applicants’ related request for an order that the Respondents
indemnify the Schedule B Companies and the Applicants for all amounts due and owing to
creditors and lien claimants of the Schedule B Properties and Companies, with that amount to be

fixed,

[228] However, I think the evidence justifies granting two forms of refief which relate to the
entitlement as between the parties to sale proceeds,

[229] First, the Applicants sought an order that the issued and outstanding shares in the
Schedule B Companies held by the Respondents be cancelled where they had not contributed
shareholder equity, Ms, Walton submitted that the Respondents had paid $100 for their shares in
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the Schedule B Companies,™ as a result of which, she contended that the Waltons were entitled
to an accounting of monies from the joint portfolio in the same way that Dr, Bernstein was.*!
Ms, Walton further submitted that Dr, Bernstein’s claim to cancel the shares owned by the .
Waltons in Schedule B Companies was premature because the Inspector had not yet provided
confirmation of the equity invested in the Schedule B Companies by Ms, Walton. Accordingly,
Ms, Walton submitted that there was no basis for the cancellation of the shares.

[230] 1 reject Ms, Walton’s argument, The various agteements Dr, Bernstein entered into with
the Waltons stipulated that shares In a Schedule B Company would be issued on the basis of one
share for each dollar of equity invested, For example, the October 4, 2012 agreement concerning
Fraser Properties Corp, and Fraser Lands Ltd, (7-15 and 30 Fraser Avenue) provided that
16,572,063 shares would be issued to each of Dr, Bernstein and the Waltons, with Section 7
stating that the $33,144,124 of equity would be paid at stipulated times, with the Waltons’
$14,107,062 payable “to the Company In a timely manner as required as the Project is
completed”, The payment of $100 by the Waltons to the Fraser companies would not support
the issuance to them of 16,572,063 shares in those companies, but only the issuance of 100
shares, 1 therefore order that the Waltons’ shareholder interests in each of the Schedule B
Compantes be calculated by reference to the equity contribution provisions contained in each
Schedule B Company agreement and that the shares issued to the Waltons be limited to those for
which they have actually paid; any other shares should be cancelled. From the evidence filed to
date, that will result in de minimis shareholdings of the Waltons in most Schedule B Companies
and therefore limit — quite properly — their ability to participate in any distributions from those
companies once all creditors have been paid,

[231] Second, I grant the Applicants’ request for an order appointing Schonfeld Inc. as
Recelver over the Respondents, Norma Walton and Ronauld Walton, but with a somewhat
different scope than that requested.  The net worth statement filed by Ms. Walton on these
motions represented that the only source of net worth available to the Waltons consisted of their
equity in Schedule B and C Properties and Companies, Ms. Walton made it quite clear in her
evidence that she wished to dispose of the Schedule C Properties in order to prefer her non-
Bernstein creditors, In Section XI,D below I find that the Applicants have demonstrated a strong
prima facie claim of unjust enrichment against the Waltons in respect of certain Schedule C
Propetties up to a possible claim of $22,6 million, Until proper consideration can be given to
those clalms and the respective interests of all creditors of the Waltons, it is necessary to ensure

10y alton Factum, para. 72,
" In its Third Report the Inspector desoribed Rose & Thistle Invoices of $6,6 milllon to Tisdale and Red Door

puirportedly for the distribution to the Waltons of thelr portion of the equlty in those companies. 1 rejected Ms,
Walton’s “earned equlty” argument,
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that the Waltons cannot dispose of their Schedule C Property. A recelver is required for that
purpose.

[232] The Waltons have not complied with this Court’s accounting order and, as I noted earlier
in these Reasons, Ms, Walton failed to answer key undertakings about her personal finances,
including failing to provide coples of her bank account statements, It is necessary to appoint a
receiver over the books and records of the Waltons both to preserve information about their
financial affairs and to malke such information available to thelr creditors for tracing purposes
who are faced with sorting out the mess created by the Waltons,

[233] Consequently, I appoint Schonfeld Inc, as receiver of all the property of the Waltons, of
whatever kind, as well as of their books and records, However, the appointment of Schonfeld
shall be on an interim basis only, In my view, a court officer, such as a receiver, should only be
allowed to wear so many hats, otherwise unworkable conflicts of interest inevitably arise. Dr,
Bernstein is not the only creditor of the Waltons, Accordingly, I order that Schonfeld Inc. be
replaced as receiver of the Waltons within 120 days of the date of this order but, until then,
Schonfeld Inc, can exercise the full powers of such a receiver,

B.5 Unauthorized mortgages indemnification request

[234] In respect of the Applicants’ request for orders requiring the Respondents to indemnify
them and the Schedule B Companies in respect of “‘unauthorized mortgages”, insufficient
specific evidence and argument was provided on this point to enable its consideration,

B.6 Priority of claims/shareholder loans

[235] 1am not prepared to grant, at this point of time, the Applicants’ request for an order that
thoy have priority over “any unauthorized interests in the Schedule B Companies”, The request
was too vague, and the evidence and argument on this point was not adequately developed, As
well, it was not clear whether any petson who might be claiming such an “unauthorized interest”

had been given notice of the motion,

[236] The Applicants sought an order that they be permitted to elect to treat funds advanced by
them to the Schedule B Companies as shareholder loans for the purposes of enforcement of their
remedies, Agaln, this point was not adequately developed, There were references In the
evidence to the Applicants already having converted their equity advances into sharcholder
loans, If that in fact ocourred, the need for a Court order Is not apparent, In any event, the relief
sought might affect the priority of claims by creditors of Schedule B Companies, and that issue is
better left to the claims process administered by the Manager.
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B7 Inspector’s fees

[237] Previous orders of this Court required the Waltons to pay for the costs of the Inspector,
Save for a partial payment from the proceeds of the recent sale of one Schedule C Property, the
Waltons have failed to do so, The Applicants have been left to fund the activities of the
Inspector, a position they should not have been put in. Accordingly, I grant an order for
restitution and repayment by the Respondents to the Applicants and/or the Schedule B
Companies, as appropriate, in respect of the fees of Schonfeld Inc,, in its capacity as Inspector in
this proceeding, and of its counsel Goodmans LLP,

[238] As to the Applicants’ request for a similar order in respect of the fees of the Manager and
its counsel, I see no need to vary the terms of the Appointment Order at this time. The
Applicants may renew thelr request, if the need arises, as the realization process conducted by
the Manager comes closer to completion,

B8 Continunation of prior orders of this Court

[239] Finally, for the sake of clarity, the Orders of Newbould J, dated October 4, 2013, October
25, 2013, November 5, 2013, December 18, 2013 and March 21, 2014 shall continue in full force
and effect, except as otherwise modified by the specific orders made in these Reasons,

X1, Analysis: Relief involving Schedule C Companies and Properties
A, The relief sought

Applicants

[240] In theit Notice of Motion the Applicants sought the following relief in respect of
Sehedule C Propetties:

(6] An order that the Orders of this Court dated December 18, 2013 and March 21, 2014
' be amended to add all the properties listed in Schedule C of the Notice of Motlon;

(i)  An interim Certificate of Pending Litigation and a blanket charge respecting the
property municipally known as 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontario and the
Schedule C Properties in which the Respondents have an interest;

(i) A declaration that the property at 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontario and the
‘ Schedule C Properties in which the Respondents have an interest and/or the proceeds
fiom the sale of 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontario and/or the Schedule C
Properties in which the Respondents have an interest are subject to a constructive

and/or resulting trust from the date of purchase in favour of the Applicants;



(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viD)
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An order tracing the funds from the Applicants to and through the accounts of the '
Schedule B Companies, the accounts of Rose & Thistle, the personal accounts of
Norma and Ronauld Walton, the trust account of Walton Advocates, the trust account
of Deyry Smith Frank LLP, former real estate counsel for the Waltons, and otherwise
into 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontario and the Schedule C Properties;

An order declaring 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontario and the Schedule C
Properties in which the Respondents have an interest as the proceeds of the funds
from the Applicants;

An order that the Applicants may seize and sell 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontario
and the Schedule C Properties in which the Respondents have an interest, subject to
the enforceable rights of prior registered charges and liens on the properties;

An order that Schonfeld Inc. be appointed as Manager of the Schedule C Properties in
which the Respondents have an interest for the purposes of the relief sought; and,

An order that the Respondents are jointly and severally liable for restitution in the
amount of $1,518,750, plus Interest at the rate set out in the relevant mortgage
documents and costs on a full indemnity basis as set out in the relevant mortgage
documents, in respect of the mortgage discharge from title of the property at 232
Galloway Road and payment of that amount to the Applicants

[241] In the third iteration of the draft judgment and order submitted by the Applicants at the
July hearing, the Applicants requested the following additional relief:

(@

(iv)

The amendment of the Orders of this Court dated December 18, 2013 and March 21,
2014 nunc pro tunc to include 26 specified Schedule C Properties, save and exocept
those propetties that have been sold pursuant to an order of this Court;

a declaration that the Respondents had not transferred the following Schedule C
Properties to arm’s-length third parties, but had retained an interest in 346C and D
Jarvis Street, 14/17 Montcrest, 19 Tennis Crescent and 646 Broadview Avenue;

an order specifying that in respect of any Schedule C Property for which leave is
granted to issue a certificate of pending litigation, a charge would be registered on
title to those properties in favor of the Applicants, in subsequent priority to any
security interests, trusts, liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwlse in
favor of any person validly registered on title as of the date of the order;

an order that the certificates of pendlng litigation and charges sought did not apply to
ten Schedule C Properties in respect of which the Applicants had reached an
understanding with the mortgagees of those properties;
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(v)  the imposition of a constructive trust on the following Schedule C Properties in
favour of the applicants as at the date of purchase of the properties for the
proportionate share of the purchase price that the following amounts represented and
for any proportionate share of the increase in value to the date of realization:

a. 2454 Bayvlew Avenue: $1.6 million

b. 346E Jarvis Street: $937,000

¢, 14 College Street: $1,314,225

d. 26 Gerrard Street; $371,200

e, 2Kelvin Avenue: $221,000

f, 3270 American Drive: $1,032,000; and,
g. 44 Park Lane Clrcle: $2,337,850,

save and except those properties which had been sold pursuant to court order, and that
the constructive trust so ordered in favour of the Applicants was subordinate only to
bona fide secured creditors with valid registered security Interests on title of the

propetty;

(vi)  the Respondents and the Schedule C Companies/Properties in which the Respondents
had any interest as at July 16, 2014, the date of the hearing, were jointly and severally
liable for all losses suffered by the Applicants in respect of funds advanced by the
Applicants to the Schedule B Companies;

(vil)  the Respondents and the Schedule C Companies/Properties in which the Respondents
currently have an intetest are jointly and severally liable in the amount of
$23,680,852 for net proceeds diverted from the Schedule B Companies and recetved
by the Schedule C Companies/Properties and shall pay to the Applicants the balance
of those funds not otherwlse recovered by the Applicants from the sale of the

Schedule B Propetties.

[242] As mentioned, at the July hearing the Applicants advised they were amending the relief
sought in respect of certain Schedule C Properties based upon an understanding they had reached
with the mortgagees of those properties: 19 Tennis Crescent; 1 William Morgan Drive; 44 Park
Lane Circle; 346 Jarvis Street, Unit 2; 346E Jarvis Street; 777 St, Clarens Avenue; 260 Emerson
Avenue; 3270 American Drive; 2454 Bayview Avenue, and, 30 and 30A Hazelton Avenue,
Under the agreement, the Applicants would not pursue against those properties their requests for
- () certificates of pending litigation, (if) the power to selze and sell those propertles, and (iil) the



- Page 82 -

appointment of Schonfeld Inc, as Manager of those properties. In return, the draft provlsions
stipulated that the mortgagees would provide written notice to the Appllcants forthwith upon
receiving from the owner of the property a letter of intent, agreement of purchase and sale or a
request to deliver a discharge statement of any applicable mortgages, The proceeds of the sale of
any property sold by the owner and approved by the Court first would be paid to the mortgagee
in such amounts necessary to satisfy all claims that the mortgagee might have on the propetty
pursuant to the terms of the mortgage, wlth the balance to be paid to the Manager to be held in
trust pending further order of the Court, Where a mortgagee sold the property, the proceeds
would be paid out to satisfy any encumbrances, usual costs and expenses of the sale and all
claims of the mortgagee, with the balance of the net proceeds of sale to be paid to the Manager.

Respondents

[243] Norma Walton sought orders containing the following relief in respect of the Schedule C
Propertles:

6 The vacating of the second Order of March 21, 2014, in its entlrety, and the Order of
December 18, 2013, as they related to any restrictions being placed on the
Respondents’ ability to seil their Schedule C Propetties;

(1)  Inthe alternative, an order approving the sales of the following Schedule C Properties
' in accordance with the agreements of purchase and sale attached to Ms, Walton’s
motion record: 2 Kelvin Avenue; 24. Cecil Street; 66 Gerrard Street Bast, 2454
Bayview Avenue; 3270 American Drive; 30 Hazelton Avenue; and 30A Hazelton

Avenue;

(i)  payment of the net proceeds from sale of those Schedule C Properties to the

' shareholders of the Respondents and the creditors of the Respondents, as the
Respondents may direct, until those shareholders and creditors are paid in fuli;

. (iv)  if the Court considered it to be helpful, an order that Froese Forensic Partners Ltd, be
appointed as Monitor to review the Schedule C Properties and to provide oversight of
the sales process on behalf of the Court, with Its costs to be paid by the Respondents
from sale proceeds; and,

(v)  an order .amending Schedule “C” In thls proceeding nunc pro tunc to remove from
Schedule “C" the following propertles: 620 Richmond Street West; 875 Queen Street
Bast; 3775 St Clair Ave. B.; 14/17 Monterest; 185 Davenport Road; 1246 Yonge
Street; 17 Yorkville; 19 Tennis Crescent; 646 Broadview Avenue; 3 Post Road; and 2

Park Lane,
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B, Which properties fall into the category of “Schedule C Properties”?

[244] The Applicants sought relief against properties in which they alleged the Waltons had an
interest based on the Respondents’ representation that those properties were Rose & Thistle
projects oh the website of that company, Disputes arose as to whether the Waltons had interests
in certain properties, Before proceeding with the analysis of the requests for substantive rellef in
respect of Schedule C Properties, an identification of the properties against which relief should

be granted must first be made,
B.1 Properties in respect of which there is no dispute

[245] In their initial February Notice of Motion the Applicants sought relief against 25
Schedule C Properties, Three of those properties were sold pursuant to Court order: 65 Front
Street Bast; 26 Gerrard Street East; and 14 College Street, The Waltons were permitted by Court
order to refinance 66 Gerrard Streef East,

[246] There was no dispute that the Respondents possessed an interest in the following unsold
Schedule C Propettles: 3270 American Drive, Mississauga; 2 Kelvin Avenue; 346 Jarvis Street,
Suites A, B and B 1 William Morgan Drive; 324 Prince Edward Drive; 24 Cecil Street; 30 and
30A Hazelton Avenue; 777 St Clarens Avenue; 252 Carlton Street and 478 Parliament Street; 66
Getrard Street East; 2454 Bayview Avenue; 319-321 Carlaw; 0 Luttrell Ave.; 260 Emerson
Avenue; and, 44 Park Lane Circle.

B.2 Removal of 16 Montcrest Blvd, and 346D Jarvis Street from the Applicants’
request

[247] By letter dated July 25, 2014, counsel advised that the Applicants would not be pursuing

relief against 16 Monterest Blvd, and 346D Jarvis Street: the Applicants had agreed to discharge

the certificates of pending litigation registered against those properties pursuant to my Interim
Order.

B.3 No evidence of Walton interest in property

[248] At the heating the Applicants advised that fo date they had not discovered any Interest
held by the Waltons in the following properties which had been identified by them as Schedule C
Properties: 3775 St. Clair Avenue Bast; 185 Davenport Road; 1246 Yonge Street, 17 Yorkville;
3 Post Road; and 2 Park Lane Circle Road.

B4 Disputed properties

[249] The Applicants sought relief against the following three Schedule C Propetties in respect
of which disputes existed as to whether the Waltons continued to possess an interest in them: 346
Jarvis Street, Unit C; 646 Broadview Avenue; and 19 Tennis Crescent.
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19 Tennis Crescent

[250] The title register for 19 Tennis Crescent listed 1673883 Ontario Inc. as the owner, as a
result of & May 22, 2009 transfer of title from the Waltons and Carreiros, The corporate profile
for 1673883 Ontario Inc, showed Ron Walton as a director and officer, Although It appears that
he was the first director at the time of incorporation in September, 2005, Ron Walton has
continued as a director and officer notwithstanding the subsequent appointment of other directors
in2011.

[251] Ms, Walton deposed that in 2011 they sold the holding company which owned that
property and “if the purchasers have not changed the corporate records to remove my husband as
a Director, that is news to me, Neither of us has had any ownership or management of that
property since it was sold.” That assertion is very difficult to reconcile with the inclusion of the
19 Tennis Crescent property on the December, 2013 list of “Our Investment Portfolio” shown on

the Rose & Thistle website,

646 Broadview Inc,

[252] 646 Broadview Inc, is shown as the registered owner of 646 Broadview Avenue as a
result of an April 29, 2014 transfer from 1636483 Ontario Inc. T accept the evidence of Mr,
Reitan that the Waltons enjoyed functional control over 1636483 Ontarlo,** but I have no
evidence that they continued to possess an interest in the property following the April, 2014 sale.

346 Jarvis Street, Unit C

[253] The parcel register for 346 Jarvis Street, Unit C, lists Carlos and Colette Carreiro as
owners. Carlos Carreiro worked for Rose & Thistle for a period of time and was a co-director
with Ms, Walton in a few companies — Urtban Amish Intertors Inc,, Loft Raum Inc, and Carcol,
Mr, Carreiro filed an affidavit in support of the Respondents on these motion in which he-listed
his place of residence as 18 Sword Street, Toronto,

[254] In his affidavit Mr, Carrelto did not address the issue of the ownership of 346 Jarvis
Street, Unit C, The parcel registers showed that the Carreiros acquired the unit on November 5,
2010 from the Waltons’ company, 1780355 Ontario Inc,, for the consideration of $666,514. A
charge was then registered against title that same day in favor of the Equitable Trust Company in
the amount of $559,872, On her cross-examination Ms, Walton undertook to produce any
document showing the consideration paid for 346C J arvis,® She did not fulfill that undertaking,

2 Reitan June 26, 2014 affidavit, paras, 98 o 101,
B Walton CX, Q. 218,
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metely stating that “I have produced all documentation regarding that purchase evidencing the
monies pald.”

Order regarding disputed properties

[255] The evidence concerning these thiee properties disclosed that the Waltons at one point
owned or controlled the properties and it was unclear whether the properties subsequently were
transfetred to bona fide arm’s-length purchasers for value, I therefore intend to include the three
properties within the ambit of the orders I make below concerning “Schedule C Properties”, but.I
direct the Manager to give notice of this Order to the registered owners of those three properties
within 15 days of the date of this Order, If within 60 days of the date of this Ordet, the
registered owner of a property provides the Manager with evidence that it acquired the properties
from the Waltons for fair market value and that the Waltons no longer have any kind of interest
in the property, then the propeity shall be released from the operation of this Order,

B.S Conclusion

[256] For the balance of these Reasons, any reference to “Schedule C Properties” means those
propetties which are listed on Appendix “A” to these Reasons, As set out below, I will grant
relief agalnst those Schedule C Properties, As well, I vary the Orders of this Court made
December 18,2013 and March 21, 2014 to Include all such Schedule C Properties,

C, Specific constructive trust claims

Cl Governing legal principles

[257] Unjust enrichment claims have three elements: (i) an enrichment of the defendant; (ii) a
corresponding deprivation of the plaintiff, and, (ili) the absence of a juristic reason for the
enrichment, Enrichment involves the conferral of a tangible benefit — a payment or an avoidance
of an expense — on the defendant. In Garland v. Consumer Gas Co. the Supreme Court of
Canada set down a two-part approach to considering the element of want of juristic reason, First,
the plaintiff myst show that no juristic reason from an established category exists to deny
recovery, The established categories which can constltute juristic reasons include a contract, a
disposition of law, a donative intent, and other valid common law, equitable or statutory
obligations, If there is no juristic reason from an established category, then the plaintiff has
made out a prima facie case under the juristic reason component of the analysis, The prima facie
case is rebuttable, however, where the defendant can show that there is another reason to deny
recovery., Here, the court can look to all of the circumstances of the transaction in order to
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determine whether there is another reason to deny recovery., Courts generally have regard to two
factors: the reasonable expectations of the parties and public policy considerations,*

[258] Tho constructive trust is a remedial device available where an unjust entichment has
occurred and also as a remedy for oppressive conduct.*> The remedial constructive trust is a
broad and flexible equitable tool used to determine beneficial entitlement to property. In nature
it is a proprietary remedy; whete a claimant can demonstrate a link or causal connection between
his or her contributions and the acquisition, presetvation, maintenance or improvement of the
disputed propearty, a share of the property proportionate to the unjust enrichment can be
impressed with a constructive trust in his or her favour, The clalmant must demonstrate a
"sufficiently substantial and direct" link, a "causal connection" or a "nexus" between the
plaintiff’s contributions and the property which ls the subject matter of the trust. The primary
focus is on whether the contributions have a "clear proprietary relationship”. The plaintiff must
also establish that a monetaty -awatd would be insufficient in the circumstances, and In this
regard the court may take into account the probability of recovery, as well as whether thereis a
reason to grant the plaintiffthe additional rights that flow from the recognition of propetty rights,

The extent of the constructive trust interest should be proportlonate to the claimant's
46

confributions,
[259] Tracing is an identification process which can assist in ascettaining property over which a
constructive trust may be imposed or property which represents the proceeds of other property
subject to a constructive trust, Tracing is the process by which the plaintiff traces what has
happened to his property, identifies the persons who have handled or received it, and justifies his
claim that the money which they handled or received can properly be regarded as representing
his property,”” Accordingly, a claimant must demonstrate that the assets being sought in the
hands of the reciplent are either the very assets in which the claimant assetts a proptietary right
ot a substitute for them.”™ 1If there is confusion in the tracing, the onus is on the fiduciary to

identify his own funds.”

[260] Finally, a remedial constructive trust is a discretionary remedy, Two consequences flow
from that, First, a constructive trust will not be imposed where an alternative, simpler remedy is
available and effective, Second, a constructive trust will not be imposed without taking (nto
account the interests of others who may be affected by the granting of the remedy, On this point,

12004 SCC 235, paras, 44 to 46,

S O Covington Fund Ine, v White (2000), 10 B.L.R. (3d) 173 (Ont, S.C.), para, 48

46 Kerp v, Barranow, 2011 SCC 10, paras. 50 to 53,

4 Boscawen v. Bajwa, [1995) 4 ALB.R, 769 (C.A.), p. 776.

® .M. P, Global Distribution Inic. v. Bank of Nova Scotia, 2009 SCC 14, para, 75,

¥ See the tracing principles summarized in Re Kolar! (1982), 36 O.R. (2d) 473 (D.C.L.), para, 33,
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it is well-established that the beneficiary of a constructive trust cannot assert its proprietary
interest against a person who came into possession of the property bora fide and for value,*

C2 Application to the facts

[261] The Applicants rested their claim for the imposition of constructive trusts on fwo main
grounds, First, the Applicants submitted that the Respondents had received benefits from the
diversion of the Applicants’ equity contributions by acquiring value in 44 Park Lane Circle and
the Schedule C Properties without contributing their own funds, According to the Applicants,
the Respondents’ benefits corresponded directly with the Applicants’ deprivation and no juristic
reason existed for the Respondents’ retention of the benefits conferred by the Applicants.

[262] Second, the Applicants submitted that the Waltons were directors of each of the Schedule
B Companies, managed those companies’ day-to-day affairs and exercised complete control over
the funds invested by the Applicants in the Schedule B Companies, Under such circumstances,
according to the Applicants, the Waltons owed fiductary duties to the Schedule B Corporations
to use the funds invested by the Applicants in the best interests of the corporations. Since those
were closely-held, specific-purpose corporations, their best interests were shaped, in large part,
by the terms of the agreements between the Applicants and Respondents. According to the
Applicants, the diversion of funds out of the Schedule B Company by the Waltons for their own
purposes was a breach of their fiduclary duties and constituted conduct which was oppressive to
the Applicants’ interests as shareholders,

[263] Ms. Walton opposed this part of the Applicants’ claim on several grounds, First, Ms,
Walton submitted that before the Applicants could seek such relief against the Schedule C
Properties, including 44 Park Lane Circle, they should name as parties the companies which
owned those properties and serve the companies’ shareholders, mortgagees and lien holders, I
disagree, The Waltons own or control the companies which own the Schedule C Properties, save
perhaps for three properties for which I have made special provision in Section X1,B.4, So, the
companies are on notice, The Applicants do not seek to prime existing interests registered
against title to the Schedule C Properties, As to the preferred shareholders, many obviously have
had notice of these motions since they filed affidavits and statements in support of the Waltons
and the DeJongs made submissions opposing the relief sought by the Applicants, More
importantly, I regard the issue of the priority of claims against a specific Schedule C Property as
an issue for determination in the recetvership which I intend to order over those properties.

0 Traey (Representative ad litem off v, Instaloans Financial Solutions Centers (B.C ) Ltd., 2010 BCCA 357, para,
28, '
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[264] I accept the arguments made by the Applicants, The Waltons breached their contractual
obligations to Dr, Bernstein and their fiduciary duties to the Schedule B Companies by pooling
the funds advanced by the Applicants to the Schedule B Companies with Rose & Thistle and
Schedule C Company funds. Ihave accepted, in large part, the tracing analysis performed by the
Inspector and I have found that in the instances identified by the Inspector, in a brief period of
time the Waltons directed the transfer of funds advanced by the Applicants from a Schedule B
Company to a Walton-owned Schedule C Company, through Rose & Thistle, and the Scheduie C
Company used those funds in respect of a Schedule C Property. 1 specifically found that the
following amounts ofthe Applicants’ funds were used to purchase or discharge encumbrances on
Schedule C Properties:

(0 14 College Street: $1,314,225;

(i) 3270 American Drive:  $1,032 million;
(iif) 2454 Bayview: $1.6 million;
(v) 3468 Jarvis St $937,000;

(v) 44 Park Lane Circle: $2.5 million;

(vl)  2XKelvin Street $221,000;
(vii) 0 Trent: $152,900; and,
~(viit) 26 Gerrard Street; $371,200,

The use by the Waltons of those funds of the Applicants to acquire those Schedule C Properties
or to discharge registered encumbrances resulted In the unjust enrichment of the Waltons, There
wes absolutely no juristic reason for that use of the Applicants’ funds, On the contrary, such use
of the funds breached the Waltons' contractual obligations to the Applicants; in some cases I
have found it amounted to fraud.

[265] The Delongs argued that Dr, Bernsteln did not suffer any detriment in respect of his
funds used to acquire 3270 American Drive because in return for advancing those funds to a
Schedule B Company ~ West Mall Holdings — Dr. Bernstein got what he had bargained for —~
issued shares of West Mall Holdings with its property encumbered as represented in the capital
requirements terms of his agreement with the Waltons, I do not accept that submission, Dr,
Bernsteln did not get what he bargained for, which was the obligation of the Waltons only to use
those funds for the development of the West Mall Holdings property. Instead of so doing, the
Waltons stripped the funds out of West Mall HoldIngs to acquire 3270 American Drive, an
unauthorized use of the funds which benefitted them.,
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[266] The DeJongs also opposed the granting of a constructive trust over 3270 American Drive
on the basis that they were bona fide purchasers without notice of Dr, Bernstein’s claim, I do not
accept that submission, In Januvary, 2013, the DeJongs advanced funds to United Empire Lands
to purchase commons shares in the company, The Waltons transferred the Applicants® funds to
United Empire Lands after the DeJongs had acquired their shares in United Empire Lands and
just three days before that company acquired 3270 American Drive, with the result that the
Applicants’ constructive trust interest in the property arose after, not before, the DeJongs
puichased their shares in United Empire Lands,

[267] Consequently, I grant constructive trusts in favour of the Applicants in respect of each of
the Schedule C Properties listed above for the proportionate share of the purchase price that
those amounts represented as at the date of purchase of the properties and for any proportionate
share of the increase in value to the date of realization, except that no such trust shall attach to a
property already sold and where no proceeds of sale remain in the hands of the Manager, T do
not consider any other remedy to afford an effective alternative in the circumstances; the
evidence disclosed that the potentially exigible assets of the Waltons were limited to their
interests in the Schedule C Companies and related properties,

D. Claims for a receivership order and certificates of pending litigation

[268] The state of the evidence at this point of time does not permit the making of constructive
trost orders for fixed amounts in respect of other Schedule C Properties. The Ingpector’s tracing
analysls was limited to the properties above, However, two aspects of the evidence support
making a finding, which I do, that the Applicants have demonstrated a strong prima facie case of
unjust enrichment of up to a possible claim of $22.6 million against the Waltons in respect of the

other Schedule C Propetties,

[269] The first aspect of the evidence consists of the Inspector’s findings, which I accepted, that
during the period from October 2010 to October 2013 the Waltons directed the transfer of $23.6
million (net) from the Schedule B Company Accounts to a bank account belonging to Rose &
Thistle and transfers of $25.4 million (net) from the Rose & Thistle Account to companies that
they owned without the Applicants - the companies, which owned the Schedule C Properties.
The second aspect is the Inspector’s conclusion, which I accepted, that the Waltons used new
equity invested in, and mortgage amounts advanced to, the Schedule B Companies by the
Applicants to fund the ongoing operations of Rose & Thistle and the Schedule C Companies and
that the Applicants’ investment in the Schedule B Companies was a major source of funds for the
Walton Schedule C Propertles/Companies,

[270] That evidence Is sufficient to support an order, which I make, granting leave to the
Applicants to issue certificates of pending litigation against all Schedule C Properties, Under
section 103 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S,0. 1990, ¢, C.43, a certificate of pending litigation
muy be issued by the court where a proceeding Is commenced in which an interest in land is in

|
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question, A court must exercise its discretion by looking at all of the relevant matters between
the parties in determining whether ot not to issue the certificate, If reasonable claims are put
forward in an action for a constructlve trust in respect of a property, a certificate of pending
litigation may issue pending trial. The party seeking the certificate need not prove its case at this
point, The test is met where there is sufficient evidence to establish a reasonable claim to an
Interest in the land based upon the facts and on which the plaintiff could succeed at trial.>! The

Applicants have met that test,

[271]1 As well, that evidence is sufficient to support an order, which I make, appointing
Schonfeld Inc, as receiver — or “Manager”, as In the case of Schedule B Properties — over all
Schedule C Properties, While at this point of time the tracing analysis has not progressed to the
stage to enable the granting of specific, fixed amount constructive trusts over the other Schedule
C Properties, the evidence justifies the appointment of a receiver over all Schedule C Properties
in order to sell them and deal with the competing claims against the proceeds of sale, including
the Applicants’ strong claims of constructive trusts over the remaining Schedule C Properties.

[272] Ms. Walton opposed the appointment of a receiver over the Schedule C Companies in
part arguing that the money of innocent third parties, the preferred shareholders of the Schedule
C Companies, should be protected by other means, Ms, Walton submitted that it was clear from
the affidavits and statements filed by the preferred shareholders that “those 34 people are due
money from the Waltons and those 34 people are trusting the Court not to pertnit Bemnstein to
take their money”, Ms, Walton continued:

None of those 34 people nor the DeJongs are supportive of the receivership over the
Walton propetties, All of those 36 people are familiar with the Waltons’ real estate
expertise, being investors with the Waltons, All of them have indicated they want the
Waltons to be able to sell their properties themselves to garner from the properties
maximum value to increase the amount of money available to pay them back their
monies, The Waltons have already negotiated sales of a number of their properties,
pending coutt approval for those transactions,

Ms, Walton also opposed the appointment of receiver over, or the issuance of a certificate of
pending litigation against, any Schedule C Property because that could frigger a default in
mortgages registered against those properties,

[273] I do not accept those arguments, The Waltons caused the current problems by ignoring
their contractual obligations with, and fiduciary duties owed to, Investors by co-mingling
investment funds and appropriating some of the funds to their own benefit, The task now facing
the Coutt is, in part, to put in place a process which will minimize the damage caused by the

SV Transinarts Farms Lid, v, Steber, [1999] 0.1, No, 300, para. 62,
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Waltons unlawful conduct and which will deal fairly with all competing interests, Ms, Walton,
in her evidence, disclosed her intention to prefer improperly the interests of other creditors over
those of Dr, Bemstein, for it was her position that the claims of preferred shareholders and
debtors of Schedule C Companies should rank first in priority over any clalm which Dr.
Bernstein might have in the proceeds of sale from any Schedule C Property, As Ms, Walton put
it, Dr, Bernstein should not be “permitted to leapfiog over the claims of the innocent third party
investors”, In paragraph 86 of her Factum Ms. Walton also stated that she intended to apply all
proceeds of sale from the severed Park Lane Clrcle properties to pay her “investors and debtors”,
except for Dr, Bernsteln, Further, quite unnecessary problems arose when Ms, Walton arranged
the sale of the Gerrard Street and Front Street properties earlier this year; those problems resulted
in parties incurring unnecessary expenses, In light of those circumstances, I see no bagis upon
which to allow Ms, Walton to exercise any control over the future operation of the Schedule C
Properties, She and her husband must be removed from dealing with Schedule C Properties and
that task put in the hands of a court-appolinted receiver who will take into account the interests of

all claimants against the properties.

[274] T follows from that conclusion that I do not grant that part of Ms. Walton's motion
secking court approval of contracts for the sale of the following Schedule C Properties: 24 Cecll;
66 Gerrard; 2 Kelvin Avenue;, 2454 Bayview Avenue; and 30A Hazelton, The power to list and
sell those properties now is placed in the hands of the Manager, Schonfeld Inc,

[275] The Applicants aiso seek an order tracing their funds through the accounts of the
Schedule B Companies, the accounts of Rose & Thistle, the personal accounts of Norma and
Ronauld Walton, the trust account of Walton Advocates, the trust account ofDevry Smith Frank
LLP concerning transactions involving the Waltons, and otherwise into 44 Park Lane Circie and

the other Schedule C Properties.

[276] Ms. Walton opposed that request for several reasons. First, she submitted that Dr.
Bemstein lacked the standing to bring a tracing claim on behalf of the Schedule B Companies
because he was merely a shareholder in those companies, In her submission, only the Manager
had such authority on behalf ofthe jointly owned companies, Second, Ms, Walton submitted;

Dr, Bernstein’s companies provided money to buy into the jointly owned properties in
accordance with the pro forma and deal terms on offer. In exchange he received 50% of
the equity and a shareholders loan back, He got what he bargained for, His shareholdings
in the Schedule B Companies and properties have not yet been accounted for.

Bernstein’s tracing claim appears to assert that the jointly owned companies did not get
what they bargained for and that they are entitled to thelr money back from the Waltons,
That s not a claim he can bring on their behalf because he does not control those

companies; the Receiver does,
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I reject those submissions, Dr, Bernstein advanced the funds to the Schedule B Companies; he is
entitled to know what happened to his money which the evidence showed the Waltons had mis-

used and mis-appropriated.

[277] Ms. Walton advanced a third ground in opposition to the granting of a tracing otder,
drawing upon the analysis of Froese, Ms, Walton submitted that one should look at the totality
of the inter-company transfers, rather than one point in time, because often within a few weeks of
certatn transfers there were transfers back which eliminated any debt or tracing claim over all,
Ms, Walton submitted that the analysis performed by Froese disclosed that, at most, the
maximum amount of the tracing claim available to the Applicants was $1,968 million, She
ptoposed that that sum could be paid Into Coutt from the sale Schedule C Properties pending a
trial of the Issue, Ms, Walton continued:

Walton submits that the best way to address these tracing lssues is to prepare an
accounting once all Schedule B Properties are sold showing what if anything is due from
any of those companies to Rose and Thistle and vice versa, At that time monies due from
Schedule B Companies to Rose and Thistle can be used to satisfy monies due from Rose
and Thistle to other Schedule B Companies, Otherwise the risk of double counting and
double recovery is significant. If Bernsteln receives money from Walton’s properties and
then receives the same money back from the Schedule B Properties when the accounting
is completed, that provides him with a double recovery.

I reject that argument. I have accepted, in large patt, the fracing analysis performed by the
Inspector and I have not accepted the criticism made by Froese of the Inspector’s “snapshot”
tracing analysis. Further, it was always open to the Waltons to provide the accounting directed
by this Court last October, yet they failed to do so. Thelr failure to do so requires the granting of

further relief,

[278] I conclude that it Is necessary to grant the tracing order sought by the Applicants in order
to gain, if possible, a better undetstanding of how the Waltons used the Applicants’ funds, I
therefore grant the order sought. To which I add that the order appointing Schonfeld Inc, as
Manager of the Schedule C Properties shall also include a specific provision that the Schedule C
Companies which own those properties provide to the Manager, within 15 days of the date of
this Order, full access to all thelr books and records, That will ensure that all entities which were
part of the system created by the Waltons to circulate and mis-use the Applicants’ funds are
subject to an obligation to make full disclosure of all their books and records so that a full tracing

of the Applicants’ funds can occur,

[279] Finally, as noted above, the Applicants reached an understanding at the hearing with the
mortgagees of certain Schedule C Properties, identified in paragraph 3 of the draft order
submitted to the Court on July 18, 2014, Although I have appointed a receiver over all those
properties, I will give effect to patt of the understanding reached by ordering that the standard
sty of proceedings shall be lifted as against the mortgagees of those properties in respect of
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which the understanding was reached ~ and any other mortgagee in respect of which a similar
understanding may be reached hereafter - but only on the basis that the net proceeds of the sale
of any such Schedule C Property sold by a morigagee, or a private recelver appointed by a
mortgagee pursuant to the rights available to it under its respective mortgage, shall be paid out as
follows:

()  to discharge any valid encumbrance, including any liens or other mortgages,
registered In priority to any mortgage held by a mortgagee that is registered against
the property; :

(i)  to satisfy all vsual costs and expenses of the sale of the property, including but not
limited to real estate commissions and legal fees;

(i)  to any mortgagee on that propetty In such amounts as are necessary In order to satisfy
all claims that such mortgagee may have on that propetty pursuant to the terms of
their respective mortgages; and,

(iv)  the balance of the net proceeds of sale of any property shall be paid to the Manger, to
be held in {rust, pending further order of the Cout.

Lifting the stay of proceedings on those terms should enable those mortgagees which are
ptepated to co-operate with the Manager to exercise their rights under their mortgages, while
ensuring an orderly and fair realization of those properties,

E. The discharged Galloway mortgage

[280] There is no dispute that the Waltons discharged the Applicants’ mortgage on the
Galloway property without paying it off in full. Up until the eve of this litigation Ms, Walton
was assuring Dr, Bernstein that she would pay the balance of the mortgage. She never did,
Consequently, the Applicants are entitled to an order that the Respondents are jointly and
severally liable for restitution in the amount of $1,518,750, plus interest at the rate set out in the
relevant mortgage documents and costs on a full indemnity basis as set out in the relevant
mortgage documents, in respect of the mortgage discharged from the title of the property at 232
Gelloway Road, and the Respondents shall pay that amount to the Applicants.

F, The cross-motion by the DeJongs
"l Background and relief sought

[281] Christine DeJong Medical Professional Corporation (“CDJ”), C2M2S Holding Corp,
(“C2M28”) and DeJong Homes Inc, brought a cross-motion for an order that the issved and
outstanding shares of the Waltons in United Empire Lands (3270 American Drive, Mississauga),
In which CDJ was a co-owner, be canceled because the Waltons had not contributed shareholder
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equity o, alternatively, an order approving the transfer of the Waltons® intetest in United Empire
Lands to the DeJongs, free and clear of any claim by the Applicants, in accotdance with a June,
2014 seitlement agteement reached with the Waltons,

[282] Christine DeJong is an obstetrician and gynecologist whose practice is operated through
CDJ. She and her husband, Michael DeJong, through their respective corporations, have been
investing with the Waltons for the better part of a decade. Like Dr, Bernstein, CDJ had entered
into agreements with the Waltons which contemplated equal shareholdings in corporations
incorporated for the specific purpose of holding a particular piece of property. According to Ms.
DeJong, CDJ holds common shates in United Empire Lands Ltd,, Prince Edward Properties Ltd,
and St. Clarens Holdings Ltd./Emerson Developments Ltd,, as well as preferred shares in
Lesliebrook Holdings Ltd, and Academy Lands Ltd, Ms, DeJong deposed that the value of the
CDJ investments, based upon information provided by the Waltons, totaled $3,691 million, Ms,
DeJong attached the share certificates issued to CDJ; she did not attach copies of the cheques ot
wire transfers recording her investment in the companies (save for a deposit receipt for an
investment in Unlted Empire Lands). '

[283] Michael DeJong, through a February 25, 2013 cheque from C2M2S to Front Church
Properties Ltd., invested with the Waltons and teceived, in return, preference shates in Academy
Lands issued to C2M28S and DeJong Homes. According to information provided by the Waltons,
the “value” of the original $617,000 investment was now $786,776.47.

[284] According to Ms, DeJong, in January, 2013, CDJ made a capital contribution of $992,750
to United Emptire Lands to obtain 50% of the common shares in the corporation, the sole asset of
which was to be the property at 3270 Ametican Drive, Mississauga. CDJ infused $716,906 in
new capital and, according to Ms. DeJong, transferred $275,844 from an existing investment in a
Walton company which owned 2 Park Lane Circle and 3 Post Road, Evidence of the deposit of
the $716,906 CDJ cheque into United Empire Lands’ bank account was adduced, CDJ had
entered Into a February, 2013 agreement with the Waltons concerning that investment which was .
substantially similar in form and content to the agreements the Waltons used for Dr. Betnstein’s
investments, Christine and Michael DeJong became officers and ditectors of United Empire

Lands on December 20, 2013,

[285] Ms, DelJong deposed that in January, 2014, Norma Walton, without consulting the
DeJongs, exchanged the prefetred shares held by CDJ'in Lesliebrook Holdings (1131 and 1131A
Leslie Road) for preferred shates in Academy Lands (2454 Bayview Avenue) and exchanged
shares held by C2M2S and DeJong Homes in Front Church Properties (54 Front Street East) for

shates in Academy Lands,

[286] Ms, DeJong deposed that in May, 2014, Mario Bucci, the CFO of the Rose & Thistle
Group, ptovided her with bank statements for United Empire Lands which showed that no
sooner had her investment of $716,906 been deposited into the United Empire Lands bank




- Page 95 -

account, than it was transferred out to the Rose & Thistle Group over the course of three days,
Ms. DeJong complained that the Waltons had breached their agreement concerning the United
Emipire Lands because the Waltons had failed to make the capital contribution stipulated in that
agreement, For that reason, Ms, DeJong sought the cancellation of the Waltons’ shares in United

BEmpire Lands,

[287] In May, 2014, the DeJong’s counsel pressed Ms, Walton for an explanation about the use
of the funds invested in United Empire Lands. Ms, Walton commissioned Froese Forensic
Partners to prepare a May 23, 2014 report which reviewed the use of funds received from CDJ
for investment in United Empire Lands, In the summary portion of its report Froese stated:

DeJong proceeds of $716,906 were deposited to United Empire’s credit union account on
January 28, 2013 and $706,850 was transferred from that account to Rose & Thistle over
the four-day period from January 28 to 31, 2013.., The use of these funds by Rose &
Thistle is summarized in Schedule 1. In summary, these funds were co-mingled with
$230,850 from Schedule B Companies (companies owned jointly by Dr, Bernstein and
the Waltons) and $25,610 from other sources, Of these co-mingled funds, $746,775 was
transferred to Schedule B Companies,

Assuming that deposits from Schedule B Companies were used to fund disbursements to
Scheduie B Companies, which is consistent with the timing of deposits and
disbursements through the Rose & Thistle account, approximately $515,000 of the
DeJong funds were transferred to Schedule B Companies and the balance to Walton.

related companies, :

[288] The Waltons have offered to transfer their shares in the capital of United Empire Lands to
the DeJongs in exchange for a release of the DeJongs’ claims respecting the propetty at 3270
Araerican Drive, Mississauga, The DeJongs have sought court approval for that June 20, 2014
settlement agreement, The DeJongs are concerned that should the settlement not be approved,
the mortgagee of the property may exercise power of sale rights which would severely prejudice
the interest of the DeJongs and their corporations, The DeJongs have completed an application to
obtain takeout financing from Manulife,

F2 Analysis

[289] T am not prepared to grant the relief sought by the DeJongs, The proposed settlement
agreement would prefer the DeJongs’ interests as creditors of the Waltons over other creditors in
respect of 3270 American Drive and, in the circumstances, I conclude that such a preference
would be unfair to other creditors including, but not limited to, Dr, Bernstein, The legal

%1 would note that this report prepared by Froese was not properly adduced as an expert’s report In accordance with
the Rules of Civil Procedure,
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entitlement, if any, of the DeJongs, as preferred shareholders, to the proceeds from the sale of
3270 Ametican Drive should be dealt with in the claims process for that property.

[290] Although I dismiss the DeJongs’ motion, T will not ordet any costs against them, Like
othets, they stand at the receiving end of the Waltons’ misconduct,

XII. Other relief sought

[291] Finally, the Applicants sought an order that the application commenced in Court File No,
CV-14-501600 be transferted to the Commercial List and combined with the within application,
Details of the application were not provided, save that the Notice of Motion described it as a
“companion” application, Nevertheless, all proceedings as between Dr, Bernsteln and the
Waltons, and their respective companies, as well as any litigation involving Schedule B
Companies/Properties and Schedule C Companies/Properties, should be managed together by
one judge on the Commercial List, I therefore transfer Court File No. CV-14-501600 to the
Commercial List and direct that steps be taken to transfer any other such kind of proceeding to
the Commetcial List. The parties should contact Newbould J. for the appointment of a new case

management judge,

XI1I, Conclusion

[292] “For the reasons set out above, I have granted, in large part, the motions brought by the
Applicants, and [ have dismissed the motion brought by Ms, Walton, I have also dismissed the

DelJongs’ motion.

[293] Iwill not be returning to my office until September 3, 2014, However, T am prepared to
review and issue the order implementing these Reasons before that date, Counsel and the parties
shall consult on the form of order and send an electronic copy for my consideration through Mr,
DiPietro at the Commetcial List Office, If the parties are unable to settle the order, I am
ptepared to hold a Brief telephone conference call to deal with the mafter,

[294] Since the Applicants substantially succeeded on these motions, they may serve and file,
to my attention through Judges’ Administration, 361 University Avenue, written cost
submissions by Wednesday, Auvgust 20, 2014, Ms, Walton may serve and file responding
written cost submissions by Friday, August 29, 2014, The cost submlssions shall not exceed 10

pages in length, excluding Bills of Costs.
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[295] Finally, I wish to thank the parties for providing electronic copies of all materials filed on
these motions, 1 cannot overstate the assistance which electronic copies bring to the judgment

writing process, including the portability of the materials.

(otiginal signed by)
D, M, BrownJ,

Date; August 12, 2014
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Appendix “A”

List of Schedule C Properties against which relief is granted

3270 Ametican Drive, Mississauga
0 Luttrell Ave,

2 Kelvin Avenue

. 346 Jarvis Street, Suites A, B, Cand E

1 William Morgan Drlve

. 324 Prince Edward Drive

24 Cecil Street
30 and 30A Hazelton Avenue

777 St. Clarens Avenue

10. 252 Carlton Street and 478 Parliament Street

11, 66 Gerrard Street East

12, 2454 Bayview Avenue

13, 319-321 Carlaw

14, 260 Emerson Avenue

15. 44 Park Lane Circle

16. 19 Tennis Crescent

17. 646 Broadview Inc,
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Appendix “B”

Eyvidence or Statements from Preferred Shareholders in Schedule C Companies

Name of Shareholder Schedule C Company Amount
1. | Phil Aber ' Front Church Properties $100,000
“value"™
2. | John and Myrne Rawlings (parents of | Not identlfied $395,000 loans
Norma Walton)
3. | John and Myrne Rawlings Front Church Propetties $165,500 “value”
4, | Maria and Joseph Memme Academy Lands Ltd. $281,000 “valve”
5. | Maria and Joseph Memme Rose & Thistle $100,000 loan
6. | Saul Spears 1793530 Ontario Ing, $67,648 “value”
7. | Peggy Condos Cecil Lighthouse Ltd, $10,000 “value”
8, | Dennis Condos Front Church Properties and | $350,000 “value”
Cecil Lighthouse
9. | Ange Boudle Front Church Properties and | $400,960 “value”
Academy Lands
10, | Triane Boudle Front Church Properties $125,000 “value*
11. | Mark Goldberg Academy Lands $150,000 “value”
12, Tohn Gelkins Roso & Thistle Growp Lid, $50,000 “value”
13. | Vane Plesse Cecll Lighthouse $117,675 “value”
14, | Michelle Tessaro Front Chutch Properties $154,864 “valve”
15, | Carlos Carteiro Academy Lands $285,000 “value”
6. | Foward Bock 1793530 Ortarlo Inc, $101,472 “vale”

* Some shareholders deposed to the “value’ of their shares. They did not identify the amount which they had
Inftially invested or provide evidence of that Investment. They used the term “value” in a way which suggested that
they were including anticipated capital appreciation and dividends promised or acerued in the amount of the “value”.
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17. | Danny Setvos Front Church Properties $356,907 “value”

18. | Kenand Grace Bugg Front Church Properties and | $650,000 “value”
Academy Lands

19, | Gideon and Irene Levytam Front Church Properties and | $730,000 “value”
Cecil Lighthouse

20, | Michele Peng Cecll Lighthovse $62,800 “value”

21, | Sheila Korchynski Front Church Properties $52,525 “value”

22. | John and Sheila Korchynski Front Church Properties $105,000 *value”

23. | Cary Silber 1793530 Ontario Inc, $16,912 “value”

24, | Duncan Coopland Front Church Propertles and | $721,500 “value”
Cecil Lighthouse

25, | Barbara Naglie Front Church Propetties and | $117,778 “value”
1793530 Ontario

26, | Harvey Naglle Front Church Properties $225,788 “value”

27, | Carmen and Paul Duffy The Rose & Thistle Group Lid,, | $409,599 “value”
1793530 Ontario and Front
Church Properties

28, | Dian Cohen Academy Lands $100,000 *“value”

29, | Jill Petiny Front Church Properties $165,000 “value”

30. | Gerry Gotfiit™ Front  Church  Properties; | $172,639 “value”
1793530 Ontatio .

31, | Fareed Ansarl Atala Investments Inc., 30A | $2.040  million

Hazelton  Inc;®  Willlam

Morgan Lands

“value”

TOTAL “VALUE”

$8,780,817

4 Two affidavits were filed by Mr, Gotftlt, with some overlap In the numbers, Ihave only included the Information

In the affidavlt containing the highest “value”.

5 1 would observe that In paragraphs 20(1) and (m) of her December 17, 2013 affidavit, Norma Walton made no
mention of any other shareholders In thls company apart from her husband and herself,
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Court File No, CV-13-10280-00CL

~ ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
Commercial List

THE HONOURABLE ) TUESDAY, THE 12th
JUSTICE D.M. BROWN ; DAY OF AUGUST, 2014
‘BETWEEN:
DBDC SPADINA LTD,,

.- and THOSE CORPORATIONS LISTED ON SCHEDULE A HERETO
: : Applicants

{ .
oo and

S8

NORMA 'WALTON, RONAULD WALTON, THE ROSE & THISTLE GROUP

LTD. and EGLINTON CASTLE INC,
Respondents

and

THOSE CORPORATIONS LISTED ON SCHEDULE B HERETO, TO BE
BOUND BY THE RESULT

JUDGMENT AND ORDLER

THIS RETURN OF APPLICATION, MOTION AND CROSS-MOTION, brought by
the Applicants for various heads of relicf, was heard on July 16-18, 2014 at 330 University

Avenue, Toronto, Ontario,

ON READING the Notice of Return of Application, Motlon and Cross-Motion and the
proposed Fresh as Amended Notice of Application of'the Applicants, the Notice of Motion ofthe

Respondent Notma Walton, the Affidavit of James Reitan sworn June 26, 2014 and the Exhibits
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thereto, the Affidavit of Norma Walton sworn June 26, 2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the
Afﬁdavits of vatious sharcholders in companies controlling the Schedule C Propeities and the
Exhibits thereto, the Affidavit of James Reitan sworn July 3, 2014 and the Bxhibits thereto, the
Affidavit of Norma Walton sworn July 3, 2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the Affidavit of Carlos
Carreiro swom July 3, 2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the Affidavit of Yvonne Lui sworn July 3,
2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the Affidavit of Steven Williams sworn July 3, 2014 and the
Exhibits thereto, the Affidavit of Talea Coghlin sworn July 4, 2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the
Affidavit of George Crossman sworn July 4, 2014 and the Exhibits thereto, the Reports of the
Inspector Schonfeld Inc, and the Affidavit of Chuistine Dejong sworn July 8, 2014 and upon
heating from counsel for the Applicants, the Respondents, the Inspector, the Dejongs, cettain of
the Schedule C Mortgagees and from Norma Walton, counsel for the Respondents Ronauld -
Walton, thé Rose & Thistle Group Ltd, and Eglinton Castle Inc, appearing but making no

submissions, and for reasons for decislon released this day,

1, THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the notice of motion and motion
record is hereby abridged so that this motion was properly returnable on July 16-18, 2014, and

hereby dispenses with further service,

CONTINUATION OF ORDERS
2 THIS COURT ORDERS that the Orders of the Court dated October 4, 2013, October 25,

2013, November 5,2013, December 18, 2013 and March 21, 2014 continue infull force and effect,

except as modified by this Order,
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TFRESH AS AMENDED NOTICE OF APPLICATION ‘
3, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants are granted leave to issue and serve a Fresh as

Amended Notice of Application, in the form attached to the Applicants’ Consolidated Notice of

Motion dated June 13, 2014,

COMBINATION OF APPLICATIONS )
4, THIS COURT ORDERS that the application commenced in Court File No, CV-14-501600

be transferred to the Commercial List and combined with the within application, to be heard at a

time to be determined by this Court,

THE RESPONDENTS’ ACCOUNTING
S THIS COURT ORDERS that the Respondents shall disclose forthwith any agreement to

cross-collateralize any obligation of the Schedule B Companies or the Schedule C Propetties,

SHARTHOLDINGS IN THE SCAEDULE B COMPANIES
6. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Waltons’ shareholder interests in each of the Schedule B

Companies be calculated by reference to the equity contribution provisions contained in each
Schedule B Company agreement and that the shares issued to the Waltons be limited to those for

which they have actually paid and that any other shates be cancelled,

THE SCHEDULE, C PROPERTIES
7. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Orders of this Court dated December 18,2013 and Maich

21, 2014 be amended to apply to all the properties at the following municipal addresses

(collectively, the “Schedule C Properties”):

(a) 3270 American Drive, Mississauga, Ontatio;
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(6) 0 Luttrell Ave,, Toronto, Ontatio;
() 2Xelvin Avenue, Toronto, Ontatio;
(d 346J /arvis Street, Suites A, B, C, E and F, T'oronto, Ontatio;
(e) 1 William Morgan Dtlve, Toronto, Ontatio;
® 324 Prince Edwazrd Drive, Toronto; Ontario;
(8 24 Cecll Street, Toronto, Ontatio;
(h) 30 and 30A Hazelton Avenue, Toronto, Ontatio;
@) 777 St. Clarens Avenue, Toronto, Ontario;
4)) 252 Carlton Street and 478 Parliament Street, Toronto, Ontarlo;
(k) 66 Gerrard Street Bast, T'oronto, Ontario;
1)) 2454 Bayview Avenue, Toronto, Ontario}
(m)  319-321 Carlaw, Toronto, Ontatio,
(n) 260 Bmerson Ave,, Toronto, Ontario;
(o) 44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontatio;
(p) 19 Tennis Crescent, Toronto, Ontario; and

(@) 646 Broadview Avenue, Toronto, Ontatio,
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8, THIS COURT ORDERS that the following properties are removed from all restrictions

imposed on dealings with those properties pursuant to the Order of this Coutt dated July 18, 2014:
(a) 3775 St. Clair Avenue Ba;t, Toronto, Ontario;
(b) 185 Davenport Road, Toronto, Ontarlo;
(© 1246 Yonge Street, Toronto, Ontatlo;
(d) 17 Yorkville, Toronto, Ontario;
(e) 3 Post Road, Toronto, Ontario;
63) 2 Patk Lane Ci rc}e Road, Toronto, Ontario;
(g)  14/16/17 Monterest Boulevard, Toronto, Ontario; and

(hy 346 Jarvis Street, Suite D, Toronto, Ontario;

9, THIS COURT ORDERS that, for greater certainty, any restriction imposed on any person
from dealing with any of the propetties listed in paragraph 8 of this Order, putsuant to the Order of

this Court dated July 18, 2014, is vacated,

10,  THIS COURT ORDERS that Schonfeld Ine, shall; within 15 days of the date of this Order,
give notice of this Order to the registered owners of the following properties (the “Disputed

Properties”):
() 19 Tennis Crescent, Toronto, Ontario;

(b) 646 Broadview Avenue, Toronto, Ontario;
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(¢) 346 Jarvis Street, Suite C, Toronto, Ontarlo; and
(d) 252 Carlton Street and 478 Parliament Street, Toronto, Ontatio,

11, THIS COURT ORDERS that if, within 60 days ofthe date of this Order, a registered ownet
of a Disputed Propetty provides evidence to Schonfeld Inc., to the satisfaction of Schonfeld Inc.,
that it acquired that Disputed Property for falr market value and that the Waltons no longer hold
any interest of any kind in that Disputed Property, that Disputed Property shall be released from
tho other terms of this Order, and that paragraphs 8 and 9 ofthis Order shall apply to that Disputed
Property,

CONSTRUCTIVE TRUSTS AND TRACING
12, THIS COURT ORDERS constructive trusts in favour of the Applicants in respect of each

of the Schedule C Properties listed below for the proportionate share of the purchase price that
those amounts represented as at the date of purchase of the properties and for any proportionate

share of the increase in value to the date of realization:
(a) 14 College Street — $1,314,225,
(b) 3270 American Drive — $1,032,000;
(¢) 2454 Bayview Avenue — $1,600,000;
(d) 346 Jarvis Street, Suite B— $937,000;
(e) 44 Patk Lane Circle— $2,500,000;

® 2 Kelvin Street — $221,000;
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(® 0 Luttrell Avenue — $152,900; and
(h) 26 Gerrard Street — $371,200,

except that no such trust will attach to any such property already sold pursuant to an Order

of this Court and whete there are no procesds held in trust by Schonfeld Ing,

13, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants shall be permitted to trace funds provided by
the Applicants into and through the accounts of the Schedule B Companies, the accounts of the
Regpondent the Rose & Thistle Group Ltd,, the personal accounts of the Regpondents Norma
and/or Ronanld Walton, the trust account of Walton Advocates and/or the trust account of Devry
Smith Frank LLP, and otherwise into the companieés which own the Schedule C Properties.

APPOINTMENT OF SCHONFELD AS RECRIVER/MANAGER OF THE SCHEDULE C
PROPERTIES

14,  THIS COURT ORDERS that Schonfeld Ing. is appointed as receiver/manager (the
“Manager”), without gecurity, of the Schedule C Properties, all proceeds thereof and revenue
derived therefrom and the bank accounts of the companies which own or control the Schedule C
Properties (the “Schedule C Companjes’), save and except any Schedule C Property already sold

purguant to an Order of this Coutt and where there are no proceeds held or to be held by Schonfeld

Ing,

15, THIS COURT ORDERS that, except ag modified by this Order, the terms of the Order of
this Court dated November 5, 2013 shall apply mutatis mutandis to Schonfeld’s appointment as

Manager pursuant to paragraph 14 of this Otder,
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16,  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Managet's Borrowing Charge and the Manager’s Charge
in respect of the Schedule C Properties shall rank in subsequent ptiority to any all security
interests, trusts, liens, charges, mortgages and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of a
mortgagee ot any other Person validly registered on title of the Property. The Manager’s
Borrowing Charge and the Manager’s Cﬁarge shall not be registered on title to the Property and
shall not, if no stay is in place pursvant paragraph 18 hereof, otherwise impair a mortgagee’s

ability to sell or lease the Property,

17, THIS COURT ORDERS that, without limiting the generallty of the terms governing the
appointment of Schonfeld Inc. as Manager of the Schedule C Properties, the Waltons, and any
person acting at their instruction, shall, within 15 days of the date of this Otder, provide full access

to all of the books and records of Schedule C Companies to Schonfeld Ine,

18,  THIS COURT ORDERS that the stay of proceedings contained in paragraph 12 of the
November 5, 2013 Order of this Court does not apply to stay any proceedings that may be brought
by the following mortgagees on the following properties (the “Schedule C Carve-Out Propetties”)
to enforce the terms of their mortgages, including to exercise a power of sale or to appoint a

teceiver in respect of those properties as those mortgagees may be entitled to, subject to the terms

of this Order:

Mortgagee Property

The Bquitable Trust Company, now Equitable | 19 Tennis Crescent, Toronto, Onfario
Bank PIN: 21065-0069 (LT)

The Equitable Trust Company, now Equitable | 1 William Morgan Drive, Toronto, Ontario
Bank PIN: 10369-0019 (LT)

B & M Handelman Investments Ltd,

B, Manson Investments Limited




Mortgagee

Property

Bamburgh Holdings Ltd.

4055845 Canada Inc.

Paul Herbert Professional Corporation
558678 Ontario Ltd.

Gertner, Jeffrey

Handelman, Robert

Home Trust Company

B & M Handelman Investments Ltd,
Buarry Alan Spiegel Trust
Orenbach, Joanna
Orenbach, Jonathan
Bamburg Holdings Ltd,
Lizrose Holdings Ltd.
1391739 Ontarlo Itd,
Natme Holdings Inc,

E. Manson Investments Ltd.
558678 Ontario Ltd.

44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontatlo

The Equitable Trust Company, now Equitable
Bank

346 Jarvis Street, #2, Toronto, Ontario
PIN: 21105-0162 (I:T)

B. & M., Handelman Investments Limited
Bamburgh Holdings Ltd

Paul Herbert

Yerusha Investments Inc,

Eroll Gordon

Secotiatrust ITF SDRSP 491-02252-0
(Weingarten)

346 E Jarvis Street, Toronto, Ontatio

Martha Sorger
1363557 Ontario Limited

777 St. Clarens Avenue, Toronto, Ontario

Martha Sorger
1363557 Ontario Limited

260 Emerson Avenue, Toronto, Ontario
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Mortgagee Property

| Equitable Trust Company, now the Equitable | 3270 American Dr,, Mississauga Ontatio
Bank, ¢/o Harbour Mortgage Cotp.

Business Development Bank of Canada 2454 Bayview Avenue, Toronto, Ontatio

Firm Capital Credit Corporation 30 and 30A Hazelton Avenue, Toronto, Ontario

ot any other mostgagee or Sehedule C Property which the Applicants agree or the Court orders be

added to this list,

19.  In the event that any mortgagee on any Schedule C Carve-Out Property sells or otherwise
realizes value from a disposition of the Schedule C Carve-Out Property, the net proceeds of such a

sale or disposition shall be applied as follows:

(a)  to discharge any valid encumbrance, including any liens or other mortgages,
registered in priority to any mortgage held by a mortgagee that is registeted against

that property;

(b)  tosatisfy all vsual costs and expenses of the sale of the property, including but not

limited to real estate commissions and legal fees;

(¢)  to any mortgagee on that property in such amounts as ate necessary in ordet to
satisfy all claims that such mortgagee may have on that property pursuant to the

terms of thelr respective mortgages; and

(d)  the balance ofthe net proceeds of sale or disposition of any property shall be paid to

the Manager, to be held in trust, pending further order of the Count,
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COSTS OF THE INSPECTOR
20,  THIS COURT ORDERS restitution and repayment by the Respondents to the Applicants

and/ot the Schedule B Companies in respect of all funds and to be paid by the Applicants and/ot
the Schedule B Companies, as apptoptiate, in respect of the fees and disbursements of Schonfeld

Inc., in it capacity as Inspector in this proceeding, and of its counsel Goodmans LLP.,

232 GALLOWAY ROAD
21, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Respondents are jointly and severally liable to the

Applicants for restitution in the amount of $1,518,750 plus interest at the rate set out in the relevant
mortgage documents and costs on a full indemnify basis as set out in the televant mortgage
documents in tespect of the mortgage discharged from title of the property at 232 Galloway Road,

and shall pay that amount to the Applicants,

OTHER RELIEF SOUGHT BY THE APPLICANTS
22, THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants’ motion for an order that the Respondents ate

jointly and severally liable for testitution payable to the Applicants in the amount of $78,420,418
for all funds diverted from the Schedule B Companies and that they pay to the Applicants the
balance of those funds not othetwise tecovered by the Applicants from the sale of the Schedule B

Properties i3 adjoutned to a date to be scheduled,

23.  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants’ motion for an order that the Respondents
indemnify the Schedule B Companies and the Applicants for all amounts due and owing to
creditots and lien claimants of the Schedule B Properties and Companies, with that amount to be

fixed, is adjourned to a date to be scheduled by this Court,
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24,  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants’ motions for an Order that the Applicants’
claims to the Schedule B Companies have priority over any unauthorized interests in the Schedule
B Companies is dismissed, without prejudice to the Applicants’ right to seek such relief in relation

to any particular unauthorized interest,

25.  'THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants’ motion for an Order that the Applicants be
- permitted to eleot to treat funds advanced by the Applicants to the Schedule B Companies as
shareholder loans for the purposes of enforcement of thelr remedies is dismissed, with the issue of

the chatacterization of such funds to be left to the olaims process administered by the Manager.

26,  THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicants may deliver costs submissions of no more
than 10 pages (excluding Bill of Costs) by August 20, 2014 and the Respondents may deliver
responding costs submissions of no more than 10 pages (excluding Bill of Costs) by August 29,

2014,

MR 0 0 D A T OR
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SCHEDULE “A” COMPANIES

Dr, Bemstein Diet Clinics Ltd.
2272551 Ontario Limited

DBDC Investments Atlantic Ltd.
DBDC Investment Pape Ltd.

DBDC Investments Highway 7 Ltd.
DBDC Investments Trent Ltd,
DBDC Investments St, Clair Ltd,
DBDC Investments Tisdale Ltd,
DBDC Investments Leslie Ltd.
DBDC Investments Lesliebrook Ltd,
DBDC Fraser Properties Ltd.

DBDC Fraser Lands Ltd,

DBDC Queen’s Corner Inc.

DBDC Queen’s Plate Holdings Inc,
DBDC Dupont Developments Ltd.
DBDC Red Door Developments Inc,
DBDC Red Door Lands Inc.

DBDC Global Mills Ltd.

DBDC Donalda Developments Ltd,
DBDC Salmon River Properties Ltd,
DBDC Cityview Industrial Ltd.
DBDC Weston Lands Ltd,

DBDC Double Rose Developments Ltd,
DBDC Skyway Holdings Litd,
DBDC West Mall Holdings Ltd.
DBDC Royal Gate Holdings Ltd,
DBDC Dewhutst Developments Ltd,
DBDC Eddystone Place Ltd.

DBDC Richmond Row Holdings Ltd.



SCHEDULK “B* COMPANIES

Twin Dragons Corporation
Bannockburn Lands Inc, / Skyline — 1185 Eglinton Avenue Inc,
Wynford Professional Centre Ltd,
Liberty Village Properties Ltd,
Liberty Village Lands Ino,
Riverdale Mansion Ltd.

Royal Agincourt Corp,

Hidden Gem Development Ing,
Ascalon Lands Litd.

10, Tisdale Mews Ing.

11, Lesliebrook Holdings Ltd,

12. Lesliebrook Lands Ltd.

13, Fraser Propertios Corp,

14, Fraser Lands Ltd.

15, Queen’s Corner Cotp,

16. Northern Dancer Lands Ltd,

17, Dupont Developments Ltd,

18, Red Door Developments Inc. and Red Door Lands Litd.
19, Global Mills Ine.

20, Donalda Developments Lid,

21, Salmon River Properties Ltd,

22, Cityview Industrial Ltd.

23, Weston Lands Ltd,

24, Double Rose Developments Ltd,
25, Skyway Holdings Ltd.

26, West Mall Holdings Ltd.

27, Royal Gate Holdings Ltd.

28. Royal Gate Nominee Ino,

29, Royal Gate (L.and) Nomineo Inc,
30, Dewhurst Development Litd.

31, Bddystone Place Inc,

32, Richmond Row Holdings Ltd,

I R N I o N
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33, El-Ad (1500 Don Mills) Limited
34, 165 Bathurst Inc,

SCHEDULE “C” PROPERTIES

3270 Ametican Drive, Mississauga, Ontatio

0 Luttrell Ave., Toronto, Ontario

2 Kelyin Avenue, Toronto, Ontarjo

346 Jarvis Street, Suites A, B, C, E and F, Toronto, Ontario
1 William Morgan Drive, Toronto, Ontario

324 Prince Edward Drive, Toronto, Ontario

24 Cecil Street, Toronto, Ontario

30 and 30A Hazelton Avenue, Totonto, Ontario

777 8t. Clareng Avenue, Toronto, Ontario

252 Carlton Street and 478 Parllament Street, Toronto, Ontario
66 Gerrard Street East, Toronto, Ontario

2454 Bayview Avenue, Toronto, Ontario

319-321 Catlaw, Toronto, Ontario

260 Emetson Ave., Toronto, Ontatlo

44 Park Lane Circle, Toronto, Ontario

19 Tennis Crescent, Toronto, Ontario

646 Broadview Avenue, Toronto, Ontario
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DBDC SPADINA LTD., and those corporations listed on Schedule A hereto
Applicants

-and-

NORMA WALTON et al,
Respondents
Court File No. CV-~13-10280-00CL

ONTARIO
SUPERTOR COURT OF JUSTICE
COMMERCIAL LIST

PROCEEDING COMMENCED AT TORONTO

JUDGMENT AND ORDER

LENCZNER SLAGHT ROYCE
SMITH GRIFFIN LLP

Barristers

Suite 2600

130 Adelaide Street West
Toronto ON MS5H 3P5

Peter H. Griffin (19527Q)
Tel: (416) 865-2921

Fax: (416) 865-3558

Emall:  pgriffin@litigate.com
Shara N. Roy (49950H)
Tel: (416) 865-2942

Fax  (416) 8653973

Emall;  sroy@litigato.com

Lawyers for the Applicants
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Court File no, CV-14-497318

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:
781526 ONTARIO INC.
Plaintiff

-and -

NORMA WALTON RONAULD WALTON, THE ROSE AND THE THISTLE GROUP
LTD. and 1780355 ONTARIO INC.

Defendants

CERTIFICATE OF PENDING LITIGATION
I CERTIFY that in this proceeding an interest in the following lands is in question:

PIN: 21105-0160 (LT)

DESCRIPTION: PTLT 2 PL D17 TORONTO, DESIGNATED ASPTS | & 13 PL
66R24790 T/W EASEMENT OVER PT 15 PL 66R24790 AS IN
CA494127; S/T EASEMENT IN FAVOUR OF ROGERS CABLE
COMMUNICATIONS INC. AS IN AT2265539; S/T EASEMENT
IN FAVOUR OF ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. AS IN
AT2300088; S/T EASEMENT OVER PT 13 IN FAVOUR OF PTS
2,3,4,5, & 6 PL66R24790 AS IN AT2387831; T/W EASEMENT
OVER PTS 9, 10, 11 & 12 PL 66R24790 AS IN AT2387831 T/W
AN UNDIVIDED COMMON INTEREST IN TORONTO
COMMON ELEMENTS CONDOMINIUM CORPORATION NO.
2091; CITY OF TORONTO

LRO: #80

REGISTERED NORMA WALTON AND RONAULD WALTON
OWNERSHIP:

MUNICIPAL 346A JARVIS STREET, TORONTO

ADDRESS:



And
PIN:
DESCRIPTION:

LRO:

REGISTERED
OWNERSHIP:

MUNICIPAL
ADDRESS:

21105-0161 (LT)

PT LT 2 PL D17 TORONTO, DESIGNATED AS PTS 2 & 12 PL
66R24790, T/W EASEMENT OVER PT 15 PL 66R24790 AS IN
CA494127; S/T EASEMENT IN FAVOUR OF ROGERS CABLE
COMMUNICATIONS INC. AS IN AT2265539; S/T EASEMENT
IN FAVOUR OF ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. AS IN
AT2300088; S/T EASEMENT OVER PT 12 IN FAVOUR OF PTS
1,3,4,5 & 6 PL 66R24790 AS IN AT2387831; T/W EASEMENT
OVER PTS 9, 10, 11 & 13 PL 66R24790 AS IN AT2387831 T/W
AN UNDIVIDED COMMON INTEREST IN TORONTO
COMMON ELEMENTS CONDOMINIUM CORPORATION NO.

2091; CITY OF TORONTO

#80
NORMA WALTON AND RONAULD WALTON

346B JARVIS STREET, TORONTO

This certificate is issued under an order of the court made on February 6, 2014,

Date...%‘&@/v\f) 7l ZOIL( Issued bY...cveeveeesonen. //(/( ........................
ﬂl_

Local Registrar
Address of Court Office:

393 University Avenue
10" Floor

Toronto, Ontario

M5G 1E6
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. _ Court Fileno, CV - /4|

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE

BETWEEN:
781526 ONTARIO INC.
Plaintiff

- and -
NORMA WALTON, RONAULD WALTON THE ROSE AND THE THISTLE GROUP
LTD and 1780355 ONTARIO INC
Defendants

STATEMENT OF CLAIM

TO THE DEFENDANT(S)
: A LEGAL PROCEEDING HAS BEEN COMMENCED AGAINST YOU by the
plaintiff, The claim made against you is set out in the following pages.
IF YOU WISH 70 DEFEND THIS PROCEEDING, you or an Ontatio lawyer acting for
you must prepate a statement of defence in Form 18A prescribed by the Rules of Civil Procedure,

serve it on the plaintiffs lawyer or, where the plaintiff does not have a lawyer, serve it on the
plaintiff, and file it, with proof of service in this court office, WITHIN TWENTY DAYS after this

statement of claim is served on you, if you are served in Ontatio,
If you are served in another province or territory of Canada or in the United States of

America, the period for serving and filing your statement of defence is forty days. If you are served
utside Canada and.the United States of America, the period is sixty days.

Instead of serving and filing a statement of defence, you may serve and file a notice of intent
to defend in Form 18B prescribed by the Rules of Civil Prooedme This will entitle you to ten more

days within which to serve and file your statement of defence.

IF YOU FAIL TO DEFEND THIS PROCEEDING, JUDGMENT MAY BE GIVEN
T . IR

, {

AGAINST YOU IN YOUR ABSENCE AND WITHOUT FURTHER NOTICE TO YOU, IF
YOU WISH TO DEFEND THIS PROCEEDING BUT ARE UNABLE TO PAY LEGAL
FELS, LEGAL AID MAY BEAVAILABLE TO YOU BY CONTACTING A LOCALLEGAL

AID OFFICE,

- 4 §731%



| P
IF YOU PAY THE PLAINTIFF(S) CLAIM, and $1,000.00 for costs, within the time for

serving and ﬁhng your statement of defence you may move to have this proceeding dismissed by the
court, If you believe the amount claimed for costs is excessive, you may pay the p]amt]ff(s) claim

and $400.00 for costs and have the costs assessed by the court,

Christing rwin

Issued by......o Hrogsmar Sumorisy Do o Jhisdfge

Date.../.WdZ/Z J /¢ : SO r
. al Registrar

Address of Court Office;

393 University Avenue
10" Floor
Toronto, Ontario

M5G 1E6

TO: NORMA WALTON
30 Hazelton Aveme
Toronto, Ontario
MSR 2E2

AND T'O: RONAULD WALTON
30 Hazelton Avenue
Toronto, Ontario
MS5R 2E2,

AND TO: - 1780355 ONTARIO INC,
30 Hazelton Avenue
Toronto, Ontario
MS5R 2E2

THE ROSE AND THE THISTLE GROUP LTD,
30 Hazelton Avenue ,
Toronto, Ontario

MS5R.2E2

AND TO:
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CLAIM

The Plaintiff claims:

(8)

(b)
(o)
(@

(©)
®

(=9
6y

A Declaration that the Plaintiff owns a 50% beneficial interest in title to each of the
Subject Properties as more'palﬁcﬁlarly described below and in Schedules “A” and
“B” hereto, that title in the Subject Properties remains held subjectto the tiusts in the
Plaintiff’s favour described below, and an Order that such interests be registered and

that title be amended accordingly;

An Order setting aside the Transfer as more particularly described below;

In addition or in the alternative, an accounting in relation to the Subject Properties,

payment of all monies owing under the Joint Venture Agreement, and payment ofall
damages, losses and expenses resulting from the Transfer described below;

An Order for Leave ta register a Certificate of Pending Litigation against title to the
Subject Properties, as described in Schedule “A” and “B” hereto;

Punitive damages in the amount of $50,000.00;
Pre-Judgment and Post-Judgment interest in accordance with the Courts of Justice

Act
Costs on a substantial indemnity scale; and
Such further and other relief as this Honourable Court shall deemn just,

The Plaintiffis a corporation incorporated undey the laws of the Province of Ontario:-

The Defendants Ronauld Walton (*Ronauld”) and Norma Walton (“Norma”) are individuals

residing in the Province of Ontario, They ate lawyers licensed to practice in the Province of

Ontario, who practise law together, and who are spouses of each other,

Thé Defendant 1780355 Ontatio Inc, (“1780355”) 1s a corporation incorporated under the

laws of the Province of Ontario,

The Defendant The Rose and Thistle Group Ltd. (“Rose”) is a corporation incorporated

under the laws of the Provinee of Ontatio,
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Ronauld and Norma were af all material times the officers, directors, shareholders and

. controlling minds of 1780355 and of Rose.

10,

11,

On November 25, 2008, 1780355 acquired title to various parcels of land situated at.346

Jarvis Street in Toronto for the purpose of redeveloping those lands and constructing thereon

a project consisting of six townhouses (the “Proj‘ect”).

The Project included the foliowing two townhouse properties;

(a) . 346A Jarvis Street, Toronto, the legal description of which is set out in
Schedule “A” attached hereto; and

346B TJarvis Street, Toronio, the legal descriptiori of which 1s set out in

(b)
" Schedule “B” attached hereto (collectively, the “Subject Properties”),

The Plaintiff, as an Investor, enteredinto a Joint Venture Agreement dated October 22, 2008

with 1780355 as Owner and Rose as Manager (the “Joint Venture Agreement”).

The purpose of the Joint Venture Agreement was for Rose to develop and construct the
Project, for 17 80355 to hold title as bare trustee, and for the Investors listed therein to

provide the financing and share the profits,
The provisions of the Joint Venture Agreement irllcl‘uded the following:
“3.3 Title. The O\imer shall hold title to the Joint Venture Lands in trust for the benefit of

the Investors hereto in accordance with the Participating Interests.

4.2 The Investors will be repaid their contributions as set out in Schedule A before any Net
Profits are distributed, Net Profits will then be distributed in accordance with ownership

interests as set-out in Schedule A,”

12. Schedule A to the Joint Venture Agreement listed Norma and Ronauld as one group of

Tnvestors holding a 50% interest in the Project for the amount of 33413,6 13,00; and the
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Plaintiff as the other Investor, holding the other 50% interest for the amount of $413,613.00,

13, ‘The Plaintiff honoured and fully performed its obligations as an Investor under the terms of
the Joint Venture Agreement. ‘

14, The Project was completed and four of the townhouse properties, being those known

municipally as 346C, 346D, 346E and 346F Jarvis Street in Torouto, were sold by 1780355
to third parties with the knowledge and consent of the Plaintiff, and there.is no dispute

concerning those units,

15, Théreafter, it was the understanding of the Plaintiff at all matexial times that the Subject
Properties remained under the ownership of 1780355 as bare trustee, with 1780355
continuing to hold 50% of that interest in trust for the Plaintiff, in accordance with the Joint

Venture Agreement.

16, However, in or about November of 2013, it came to the attention of the Plaintiff that Norma,
Ronauld, and various cotporations related to them, had been sued by one Dr. Stanley
Bernstein, an investor in their various other real estate projects, and that, in those

prdoeedings, findings in Court had been made againstthe Waltons, including improper use of

investor funds, improper payments, oppression of investors and various other improprieties,

Those proceedings wore publicized in the press,

17. As aresult of those reports, the Plaintiff caused investigations to be madé as to the status of
the title to the Subject Properties, Upon doing so, the Plaintiff discovered for the first time

" that, on November 8, 2011, title to the Subject Properties had beon transferred ( the
“Transfer”) from 1780355 to Norma and Ronauld without the knowledge or consent of the
Plaintiff, without any notice to the Plaintiff, and in a manner whioh'was contrary to the texms

of the Joint Venture Agreement, including the trust obligation set out therein.

\

18. Afier leamning of the Transfer, the Plaintiff registered a Caution against title to the Subject
Properties as instrument number AT3481178 on December 17, 2013, :

19, The Plaintiff states that the Transfer constitutes a fraud made by the Defendants, with the
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knowledge and intent, and for the purpose, of wrongfully depriving the Plaintiff of the
benefit of its interest in the Subject Properties, and for the purpose of the Defendants taking

same for themselves, ' -

20, The Plaintiff states that the Transfer constitutes a breach oftrust by 1780355, and that Rose,
Norma and Ronauld knowingly and intentionally were parties to same, and ate accordingly

liable for same as Trustees de son tor,
21, 'The Plaintiff further states that the Transfer constitutes a breach of the Joint Venture

Agreement,

22, The Plaintiff claims that title to the Subject Properties remains held subject to a trust in the
Plaintiff*s favour to the extent of a 50% beneficial interest, and that it is entitled to have the

Transfor set aside, and 1o be registered on title as the owner of a 50% beneficial interest in
the Subject Properties,

23, Tn addition, or in the alternative, the Plaintiff claims an accounting in connection with
Subject Properties, and a declaration of entitlement to payment of, or payment of, any all
monies which it is entitled to receive under the Joint Venture Agreement, including the

repayment of its investment, its share of profits upon sale and its damages, losses and
_expense resulting from the Transfer. ‘

24, The Plaintiff states that the Defen dants have been unjustly enriched by virtue of the Transfer,

thatthe Plaintiff has suffered a corresponding deprivation, and that there is no juristic reason

for same,

25, The Plaintiff states that the conduct of the Defendants described above was arrogant, high-

handed, and demonstrated a shocking and contumelious disregard for the Plaintiff’s legal
rights.
26, The Plaintiff proposes that this action be tried at Toronto,

Date: Janvary 28, 2014 SHERMAN BROWN DRYER KAROL



GOLD LEBOW
Barristers & Solicitors
5075 Yonge Street
Suite 900

Toronto, Ontario
M2N 6C6

Alan B, Dryer
Tel:  (416) 222-0344

Fax: (416)222-3091

Lawyers for the Plaintiff

Law Society Registration # 26882N



PIN:
DESCRIPTION:

LRO:

. 8
SCHEDULE “A»

211050160 (LT)

PTLT2PLD17 TORONTO, DESIGNATED ASPTS 1 & 13 PL 66R24790
T/W BEASEMENT OVER PT 15 PL 66R24790 AS IN CA494127; S/T
EASEMENT IN FAVOUR OF ROGERS CABLE COMMUNICATIONS
INC, ASIN AT2265539; S/T BEASEMENT IN FAVOUR OF ENBRIDGE
GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. AS IN AT2300088; S/I' EASEMENT OVER
PT 13 IN FAVOUR OF PTS 2, 3, 4, 5, & 6 PL 66R24790 AS IN
AT2387831; T/W BASEMENT OVER PTS 9, 10, 11 & 12PL 66R24790 AS
IN AT2387831 T/W AN UNDIVIDED COMMON INTEREST IN
TORONTO COMMON ELEMENTS CONDOMINIUM CORPORATION

NO, 2091; CITY OF TORONTO

#80




PIN:

DESCRIPTION:

LRO:

9
SCHEDULE “B”

21105-0161 (LT)

PTLT2PL D17 TORONTO, DESIGNATED AS PTS 2 & 12 PL 66R24790,
T/W BEASEMENT OVER PT 15 PL 66R24790 AS IN CA494127; S/T
EASEMENT IN FAVOUR OF ROGERS CABLE COMMUNICATIONS
INC, AS IN AT2265539; S/T EASEMENT IN FAVOUR OF ENBRIDGE
GAS DISTRIBUTION INC, ASIN AT2300088; S/T EASEMENT OVER
PT12INFAVOUR OF PTS 1, 3,4, 5 & 6 PL 66R24790 AS IN AT2387831;
T/W EASEMENT OVER PTS9,-10, 11 & 13 PL 66R24790 AS IN
AT2387831 T/W AN UNDIVIDED COMMON INTEREST IN TORONTO

COMMON ELEMENTS CONDOMINIUM CORPORATION NO, 2091;

CITY OF TORONTO

#80
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781526 ONTARIO INC.

NORMA WALTON at el.
and
PLAINTIFF (s) DEFENDBNT (s)
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SHERMAN BROWN DRYER KAROL
GOLD LEBOW

Barrlisters & Solicitors
Suite 900

5075 Yonge Street
Toronto, Ontario

M2N 6C6

Alan B, Dryer

Tel: (416) 222-0344

Fax: (416) 222-3091

Law Soclety Reg. # 26882N

Lawyer for the Plaintiff
'




DBDC SPADINA LTD., et al NORMA WALTON, et al Court File No. CV-13-10280-00CL
Applicants Respondents

ONTARIO
SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE
Commercial List

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

MOTION RECORD OF THE MANAGER,
SCHONFELD INC.
(Motion for approval and vesting order with
respect to 346 Jarvis, Unit B)

GOODMANS LLP

Barristers & Solicitors

Bay Adelaide Centre

333 Bay Street, Suite 3400
Toronto, Canada M5H 2S7

Brian Empey LSUCH#: 30640G
Mark S. Dunn LSUC#: 55510L
Tel: (416) 979-2211
Fax: (416) 979-1234

Lawyers for The Manager

File No. 14-0074

6446925
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